
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of  

the Cabinet 

on Wednesday, 20 October 2021, at 10.00 a.m. 

in the Town Council Chamber, Kendal Town Hall 

 
 
 
 

Membership 
 

Councillors 
 

Robin Ashcroft Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder 

Jonathan Brook Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation 
Portfolio Holder 

Helen Chaffey Housing Portfolio Holder 

Philip Dixon Customer and Locality Services Portfolio Holder 

Andrew Jarvis Deputy Leader & Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder 

Dyan Jones Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio Holder 

Suzie Pye Health, Wellbeing and Poverty Alleviation Portfolio Holder 

 
 
Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”. 
 
 
Tuesday, 12 October 2021 
 
Linda Fisher, Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) 
 
 
 
 

For all enquiries, please contact Inge Booth, Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist. 

Telephone: 01539 793190 

 
Email: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  CABINET EXECUTIVE DECISIONS  5 - 20 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the Executive Decisions 
made by Cabinet on 1 September 2021. 

 

3  DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS  21 - 26 

 To receive the Delegated Executive Decisions made by Portfolio Holders or 
Officers on 26 August and 9 September 2021. 

 

4  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISPENSATIONS   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda and to consider any dispensations.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 
 
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

5  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public. 

 

6  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no 
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the 
meeting.  Information on how to make the application can be obtained by 
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the 
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333. 
 
(1) Questions and Representations 
 
 To receive any questions or representations which have been received 

from members of the public. 
 
(2) Deputations and Petitions 
 
 To receive any deputations or petitions which have been received from 

members of the public. 

 

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


7  FORWARD PLAN  27 - 36 

 To note the contents of the Forward Plan published on 12 October 2021.  

8  CABINET APPOINTMENTS/REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES 
2021/22  

 

 Further to CEX/13 (2021/22), to consider appointments of representatives to the 
following outside bodies for the remainder of the year:- 
 

 Community Rail Partnership (one Member); and 

 Kendal Museum Working Group (one Member and one Officer). 

 

9  LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION   

 To receive a verbal update, if any.  

10  COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 2 
2021/22  

37 - 80 

 To monitor progress against the measures of success as detailed within the 
Council Plan. 

 

11  UPDATE TO THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION - CONTRACT PROCEDURE 
RULES AND PROCUREMENT SCHEDULE  

81 - 114 

 To consider amendments to the Constitution to provide further delegation and 
clarity relating to procurement and contracting processes (Appendix 3 to follow). 

 

12  CUSTOMER CONNECT FIVE YEARS ON, THE OUTCOMES, BENEFITS AND 
FUTURE  

115 - 184 

 To consider the outcomes and benefits of the Customer Connect Programme 
since inception in 2016 and the work still to be completed over the next 18 
months. 

 

13  A FAIRER SOUTH LAKELAND  185 - 202 

 To consider the Council’s work to reduce inequalities and help deliver a fairer 
South Lakeland, focusing particularly on the development of a Poverty Truth 
Commission. 

 

14  KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE SUB LEASE TO THE NHS  203 - 224 

 To consider the grant to University Hospitals Morecambe Bay Trust (UHMBT) of 
a sub-lease of part of the Kendal Leisure Centre in the event that the Partnering 
Agreement with Greenwich Leisure Limited is not extended in 2024 so as to 
allow UHMBT to deliver physiotherapy services away from a hospital 
environment. 

 

15  MICROSOFT ENTERPRISE LICENSE AGREEMENT  225 - 230 

 To consider the award of the contract for a Microsoft Enterprise License 
Agreement. 
 
Please note that in accordance with Section 100B(2) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, copies of Appendix 1 (Tender Evaluation) to this 
report are excluded from inspection by members of the public as it contain 
information as described in Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the 
Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, as 
follows:- 
 
- Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). (Paragraph 3) 

 



PART II   

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number) 

There are no decisions to be taken in Part II of the Agenda, however, please note that 
Agenda Item No.15 has an Part II Appendix as described above. 

 



23 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

EXECUTIVE DECISION NOTICE 
 
CABINET 
 
A record of the decisions made at the meeting of the Cabinet held on 
Wednesday, 1 September 2021, at 10.00 a.m. 
 

Present 

Councillors 

Jonathan Brook (Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder) 
(Chairman) 

Helen Chaffey Housing Portfolio Holder 

Philip Dixon Customer and Locality Services Portfolio Holder 

Andrew Jarvis Deputy Leader & Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder 

Dyan Jones Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio Holder 

Suzie Pye Health, Wellbeing and Poverty Alleviation Portfolio Holder 

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillors Robin Ashcroft (Economy, Culture 
and Leisure Portfolio Holder). 

Also in attendance at the meeting were Shadow Executive Members Pat Bell (Shadow 
Cabinet (Housing Portfolio)), Roger Bingham (Shadow Cabinet (Economy, Culture and 
Leisure Portfolio)), John Holmes (Shadow Cabinet Deputy Leader (Finance and Assets 
Portfolio)), Kevin Holmes (Shadow Cabinet (Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio)) and 
Janette Jenkinson (Shadow Cabinet (Customer and Locality Services Portfolio)), and 
David Webster (Leader of the Labour Group). 

Apologies for absence were received from Shadow Executive Members Tom Harvey 
(Shadow Cabinet Leader (Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio)) and 
Helen Irving (Shadow Cabinet (Health, Wellbeing and Poverty Alleviation Portfolio)). 

 
Officers 

Inge Booth Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist 

Lawrence Conway Chief Executive 

Dan Hudson Strategy Lead Specialist 

Julia Krier Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist 

Josh McLeod Specialist - Bereavement Services 

Fraser Robertson Communications Specialist 

Simon Rowley Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Helen Smith Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

David Sykes Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

 

CEX/31 CABINET EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder referred to the minute 
relating to Delegated Executive Decision CEX/23 (Council Plan Performance 
Monitoring Report Quarter 1 2021/22).  He drew attention to the fact that this item had 
been considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 27 August 
2021 and that the Committee had raised a number of queries around what was 
happening with regard to the Coronation Hall, how the Ulverston markets were going to 

Page 5

Item No.2



24 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

develop over the next two years and when the plans for the leisure centres were likely 
to come into action.  He undertook to ensure that the relevant Portfolio Holder provided 
a written response to Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the 
Executive Decisions made by Cabinet on 21 July 2021. 
 

CEX/32 DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 
RESOLVED – That the Delegated Executive Decisions made by Portfolio Holders 
or Officers on 29 July 2021 be received. 
 

CEX/33 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
The Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist reminded Members that a 
dispensation had been granted to all Members with regard to allowances in respect of 
matters relating to Local Government Reform and Devolution for a period of four years.  
For Agenda Item No.8 (Local Government Reorganisation), councillors who were dual-
hatted, i.e. District Councillors and County Councillors, would have an Other 
Registrable Interest under the Code of Conduct.  The Other Registrable Interest would 
be recorded and, unless any Member considered themselves to be biased or 
predetermined, they could speak on the item. 
 
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:- 
 
(1) that, in respect of Agenda Item No.8 (Local Government Reorganisation) 
and Minute CEX/37 below, Councillor Roger Bingham is a dual-hatted Member 
with an Other Registrable Interest; and 
 
(2) that in respect of Agenda Item No.12 – South Lakes Housing, Minute 
CEX/41 below:- 
 

(a) Councillor John Holmes, for the purpose of transparency, indicated 
that he was a former Director of South Lakes Housing; and 

 
(b) Councillor Suzie Pye explained that she was a tenant of South 
Lakes Housing, however that she was not biased or predetermined. 

 

CEX/34 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS 
 
RESOLVED – That, where discussion is necessary, the items in Part II of the 
Agenda be dealt with following the exclusion of the press and public. 
 

CEX/35 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no questions, representations, deputations or 
petitions have been received in respect of this meeting. 
 

CEX/36 FORWARD PLAN 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the latest Forward Plan published on 3 August 
2021 be noted. 
 

Page 6



25 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

CEX/37 LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION 
 
Note – Councillor Roger Bingham, a dual-hatted Member with an Other 
Registrable Interest, remained in the room during discussion and voting on the 
item, although with no voting rights as a Shadow Executive Member. 
 
Summary 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder highlighted 
some of the key points in respect of the Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) 
process. 
 
The decision of the Secretary of State (SOS) had been received on 21 July 2021. 
 
The SOS now intended to seek Parliamentary approval for the necessary secondary 
legislation to implement the two unitary, East-West proposal.  To achieve this, a draft 
Structural Changes Order (SCO) would be laid in Parliament around the turn of the 
year and that would include provision for appropriate transitional arrangements, 
including for elections in May 2022 for the future unitary councils and for those councils 
to assume the full range of local authority responsibilities on 1 April 2023, when 
predecessor councils, including South Lakeland District Council, would be abolished. 
 
In the intervening period, Cumbria County Council (CCC) had issued a pre-action 
protocol letter in respect of a proposed claim by CCC for a Judicial Review of the 
decision of the SOS, to create two new unitary authorities for the county of Cumbria. 
 
A response from Government to this letter was awaited and then for CCC’s subsequent 
decisions in this respect.  However, because the timetable was so tight, work towards 
delivering a successful outcome for the LGR process could not be stopped. 
 
A Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for the LGR programme had been agreed to be 
the new County Council Chief Executive Officer, namely Gillian Steward.  The 
programme covered all seven councils in Cumbria. 
 
The SRO had gone on to establish lead Chief Executive Responsibilities and Task and 
Finish groups within the programme.  Weekly Leaders, Chief Executive and Joint 
Leaders and Chief Executive Meetings had also now been established and the work 
programme was beginning to take shape. 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder turned to 
the SCO.  This was the statutory instrument through which the SOS’s decision became 
legislation.  The SCO had to be approved by both Houses of Parliament, after which 
time it could be made and brought into effect as law.  This part of the process normally 
took around seven to eight weeks. 
 
There were some provisions which needed to be included in the SCO such as:- 
 

 the setting up of the new authorities, and shadow authorities for the period prior to 
the implementation date; and 

 

 the dissolution of the existing authorities and the role of both the shadow authorities 
and the existing authorities in preparing for implementation. 

 

Page 7



26 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

There were other provisions which would be included, but where further discussion 
would be required, such as the names of the new authorities and the election 
arrangements, such as the number of councillors, geography and names of wards and 
number of councillors for each ward.  Also, the term of councillors and future election 
dates.  In this respect the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) had indicated the intention that the first term would be five years (one year 
shadow and four years normal term), with the following elections to be held in 2027.  A 
host of other electoral matters, including by-elections and Parish Council elections, 
would also be covered by the SCO. 
 
It had been made clear that the wards for the 2022 elections would need to be based 
on existing wards or divisions and that any boundary review would happen after 2022 
and before the 2027 elections. 
 
Finally, the make-up of any joint committees and the implementation of the executive 
will also be included in the SCO. 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder turned next 
to the Shadow Authorities. These would not be established until after the May 2022 
elections.  During the period between the SCO coming into law and the establishment 
of the Shadow Authorities, the SCO would provide for joint committees to be set up.  
These joint committees would be responsible for implementation during this short 
period and for agreeing the key governance framework for the Shadow Authorities, 
including the code of conduct, remuneration for members, and the constitution which 
would be agreed by the relevant Shadow Authority at is first meeting. 
 
It had been indicated by MHCLG that the new Authorities would adopt a Leader and 
Executive model of governance. 
 
The timeline that MCHLG had provided for the process indicated that the draft SCO 
was to be prepared in August/September by MHCLG with input from the councils, with 
the draft SCO being shared for comments in October before being finalised in late 
October/November. 
 
It was clear from this that there would be two opportunities to feed into the SCO, at the 
drafting stage and in October at the stage when the draft SCO was shared. 
 
Each authority would need to consider the internal procedures which would be needed 
for agreeing the input into the SCO at the drafting stage and agreeing the comments on 
the draft SCO in October. 
 
The suggested window for commenting on the draft SCO was no more than a month, 
so there was likely to be a relatively tight time frame for providing these comments and 
planning for decisions would be essential. 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder was 
proposing to allocate the executive decision-making function to himself as set out 
under S9E of the Local Government Act 2000.  He was also requesting Cabinet’s 
endorsement of this proposed approach. 
 
He, therefore, made a number of recommendations which were subsequently 
seconded and voted on, resulting in the decision below. 
 

Page 8



27 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

Prior to the vote, discussion took place, during which the Leader and Promoting South 
Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder responded to a number of queries and 
comments.  With regard to a query as to what would happen to the valuable regalia of 
individual authorities, he presumed that, with Barrow likely to become parished and that 
the parishes may hold onto these items as part of the arrangements.  With regard to 
ward boundaries, he explained that the SOS had said that the existing boundaries for 
wards/divisions would be maintained, so these would be the current CCC divisions.  
This meant 38 councillors for the east.  Authorities iin the East felt that this was not 
enough, and were suggesting two Members per division – a total of 76 Members. 
Paul Rowsell had, however, indicated that there would be no more than 40 Members.  
As regards the future of the individual councils’ assets, the Leader and Promoting 
South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder explained that various workstreams 
and task groups would address this and many other issues.  This would be a massive 
project and he explained that all tasks would have to be prioritised and pointed out that 
not everything would be in place by the start of the new Authority.  He confirmed that 
CCC’s letter regarding Judicial Review had been sent to the SOS who had 14 days in 
which to respond, following which CCC would need to consider themselves what 
further action to take. 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder was 
thanked for his informative update and the Chief Executive for his weekly reports. 
 
Decision 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the following be endorsed:- 
 

(a) the Leader’s proposal to allocate any executive decision-making 
required relating to work taking place with the Cumbria authorities in 
readiness for the implementation of Local Government Reorganisation to 
the Leader in consultation with the Chief Executive; 

 
(b) the Leader’s proposed allocation and it be agreed that, in the event 
that the Leader is not available, this responsibility held by the Leader will 
be delegated to the Deputy Leader or such other Portfolio Holder whom 
the Leader has authorised in writing; and 

 
(c) the Leader’s proposed allocation and it be agreed that, in the event 
that the Chief Executive is not available, this responsibility held by the 
Chief Executive will be delegated to such persons as the Chief Executive 
has authorised in writing; and 

 
(2) the following be noted:- 
 

(a) the contents of the verbal update; and 
 

(b) that further reports will be brought to Cabinet and/or Council, and 
all Members, as appropriate, once there is further detail on the Structural 
Change Order and how reorganisation is to be implemented (the timetable 
of implementation may require meetings of Cabinet and Council to be held 
outside of the approved schedule of meetings). 

 

Page 9



28 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

Reasons for Decision 
 
As explained above, the time frames are tight and planning for decision-making is 
essential. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
No alternative options were considered and rejected in the course of the verbal update.  
The decision includes provision for further Cabinet and Council reports once there is 
further detail. 
 

CEX/38 CORPORATE FINANCIAL UPDATE QUARTER 1, 2021/22 
 
Summary 
 
The Deputy Leader and Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder presented the Corporate 
Financial Monitoring report highlighting the Council’s projected year end position based 
on performance to the end of Quarter 1 of 2021/22 and officers’ planned actions to 
ensure a balanced budget by the end of the financial year.  He pointed out that the 
report confirmed that the Council continued to be in a good financial position despite 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
The report had also been considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its 
meeting on 27 August 2021. 
 
Decision 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the contents of the report and Appendices 1-3 be noted; and 
 
(2) Council be recommended to approve the following:- 
 

(a) the revenue virements listed in 3.1.2 and to delegate authority to 
the Lead Specialist Legal Governance and Democratic Services in 
conjunction with the relevant Operational Lead to enter into the relevant 
grant agreements accordingly; 

 
(b) the use of the reserves as per paragraph 3.1.3 in the report; and 

 
(c) the increase in the Interest Rate Exposure Limit for Variable Rate 
Investments to £30m from £20m as set out in paragraph 3.3.4 of the 
report. 

 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Regular budget monitoring forms part of the corporate governance arrangements that 
support all Council priorities. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
There are no alternative options. 
 

Page 10



29 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

CEX/39 ANNUAL PROCUREMENT UPDATE 2021/22 
 
Summary 
 
The Deputy Leader and Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder presented the Annual 
Procurement Update 2021/22, pointing out that this had been a challenging year due to 
the Covid-19 Pandemic, with a number of projects having had to be delayed.  The 
report provided details around exemptions and wavers, training, spend analysis and 
future challenges. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee had considered the report at its meeting on 
27 August 2021 and Council would be asked to approve the updated schedule on 
5 October 2021. 
 
In response to a query regarding successful procurements and that relating to Kendal 
Markets, the Deputy Leader and Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder confirmed that 
these continued to be run by South Lakeland District Council, with the soft facilities, 
such as building energy and cleaning, being carried out by a contractor.  The Council’s 
plans to increase its fleet of electric vehicles having been commended, a suggestion 
was raised for the potential use of green hydrogen or dihydrogen Heavy Goods 
Vehicles.  The Deputy Leader and Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder was confident 
that staff were looking at a range of alternatives, however, explained that each had its 
own issues.  He pointed out though that technology was fast moving and he looked 
forward to a more environmentally-friendly vehicle fleet.  The Climate Action and 
Biodiversity Portfolio Holder hoped that one outcome of Local Government 
Reorganisation would be the potential of addressing the whole picture moving forward. 
 
Decision 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the progress across the procurement function over the past 12 months be 
noted; 
 
(2) the future focus be noted; 
 
(3) the items listed as Cabinet decisions be approved and the updated 
Procurement Schedule at Appendix 1 be recommended to Council for approval; 
and 
 
(4) the spend 2020/21 for the top 25 suppliers by value in Appendix 2 to the 
report and the exemptions and waivers for 2020/21 in Appendix 3 to the report be 
noted. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The report provides an update on progress across the procurement function and a 
review of activity in financial year 2020-2021.  This is a historic review for noting by 
Members. 
 
The report also reviews the 2021-2022 procurement schedule and updates the 
schedule in line with the Contract Procedure Rules within the Council’s Constitution.  
This enables officers to ensure contracts are awarded promptly but transparently. 
 

Page 11



30 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
An annual update to Cabinet does not take place.  However, falling under the portfolio 
for Finance, it is vital that the procurement function continues to be driven and 
supported by members and senior managers.  This will result in a more accountable 
and focussed procurement function delivering positive outcomes financially and in the 
quality of council services. 
 
The Procurement Schedule is not updated.  This reduces the efficiency of the Council 
by requiring individual reports and decisions for tender exercises.  This also increases 
the time taken to let contracts.  Also the Council fails in its statutory duty to report to the 
public procurement activity. 

CEX/40 GOOSEHOLME BRIDGE - COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 

Summary 

The Housing Portfolio Holder presented the report, thanking the Strategy Lead 
Specialist for his work.  Cabinet, on 3 February 2021, had recommended that the 
County Council be invited to submit a bid for a contribution of £75,000 from the South 
Lakeland Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) towards the project to replace the 
Gooseholme Bridge which had been destroyed during Storm Desmond in December 
2015.  The bid had now been received and the report provided detailed information on 
the purpose of the bridge, the proposed bridge and its benefits, funding and 
implementation and the CIL governance process.  The bid had been reviewed by the 
CIL Technical Officer Group in consultation with relevant Members and, having scored 
very highly, had been recommended to Cabinet for approval. 

The Housing Portfolio Holder further referred to the future CIL governance process and 
the need for alignment with the Council’s Commissioning Strategy which sought to 
ensure that commissioning decisions were taken at the appropriate level. 

Members expressed support for the proposal, however, concern was raised regarding 
the fact that the bridge would not be lit and about how interaction between cyclists and 
pedestrians would be managed.  In response to a query, the Strategy Lead Specialist 
explained that the bridge would not initially be available for cyclists but had been 
designed so that cycling could be accommodated, if and when issues relating to cycling 
on adjoining land were resolved  Detailed design issues related to cycling would be 
addressed at that point.  It was stressed, however, that the bridge was Disability 
Discrimination Act-compliant and was suitable for wheelchair use, which was a great 
improvement. 

Decision 

RESOLVED - That 

(1) the payment of £75,000 from South Lakeland’s Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) to Cumbria County Council towards the construction of a DDA 
compliant and cycle ready bridge over the River Kent at Gooseholme, Kendal, be 
approved; 

(2) the CIL Governance Framework attached at Appendix 2 to the report be 
amended by rewording paragraph 2.2 to provide that that future Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments of less than £100,000 be delegated to the 
Director of Strategy and Innovation in consultation with relevant Portfolio 
Holders; and 

(3) the Council’s Monitoring Officer be authorised to make the necessary 
amendments to the Constitution. 
 

Page 12



31 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

Reasons for Decision 
 
The funding will enable the construction of a new improved bridge link which is fully 
DDA compliant between the north-south routes on either side of the River Kent for use 
by pedestrians, the disabled and potential future use by cyclists. 
 
The decision links to Council Plan Priorities as follows – 
 
Working across boundaries – the funding will enable the construction of a bridge which 
will enable sustainable transport choices in Kendal, contribute to the efficient 
functioning of the transport network in Kendal, enhance Kendal Town Centre as a 
place to live, work and visit and contribute to the delivery of the Kendal Town Centre 
Strategy and Kendal vision and contribute to strategic economic growth and Covid 
Recovery. 
 
Delivering a balanced community – in contributing to modal shift in and around Kendal, 
the proposal will enable the delivery of new homes and jobs through the current and 
emerging Local Plan and complement the objective of growing the working age 
population. 
 
A fairer South Lakeland – the proposed bridge will be accessible and offer a traffic free 
route option for everyone including wheelchair users (the previous bridge was 
stepped).  In linking two public spaces, the proposed bridge will also have health 
benefits in encouraging outdoor recreation and active travel. 
 
Addressing the climate emergency – the proposed bridge will enable and enhance 
sustainable transport choices in and around Kendal Town Centre and offer an 
attractive option for short trips to and across Kendal Town Centre. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
South Lakeland District Council has invited the submission of the bid and the 
recommendation of the Working Group is that the bid meets the funding criteria.  Whilst 
Cabinet could decide not to approve the funding, this would leave a significant funding 
gap which could affect delivery of the bridge. 
 

CEX/41 SOUTH LAKES HOUSING 
 
Note - Councillor John Holmes, for the purpose of transparency, indicated that 
he was a former Director of South Lakes Housing and Councillor Suzie Pye 
explained that she was a tenant of South Lakes Housing, however that she was 
not biased or predetermined. 
 
Summary 
 
The Housing Portfolio Holder presented a report advising of a proposal from South 
Lakes Housing which aimed to strengthen its Board.  South Lakes Housing sought to 
remove the Council’s nomination to two Director positions, enabling the organisation to 
adopt a skills based approach to the whole of its Board appointments.  South Lakes 
Housing proposed further relationship measures which would continue to build a 
strategic relationship between the Council and South Lakes Housing in the pursuit of 
the provision and management of affordable housing in the District. 
 

Page 13



32 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

Councillor John Holmes, a former appointee of the Council to the Board of South Lakes 
Housing, commended the proposal.  He drew attention to the future move to a Unitary 
Authority and to the different mix of social housing provision of Barrow, Eden and 
South Lakeland.  He expressed appreciation for the agreement between South 
Lakeland and South Lakes Housing for returns from Right to Buy being ring-fenced to 
remain available for affordable housing, however, expressed concern about how this 
fund would fare following the amalgamation of the three councils.  The Leader and 
Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder hoped that Local 
Government Reorganisation would provide a great opportunity for the delivery of social 
housing.  He reassured Members that the Council would discuss with South Lakes 
Housing how best to position the organisation for the future and in terms of Right to 
Buy receipts. 
 
Decision 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) approval be given for the Council to relinquish its nomination rights to the 
Board of Directors of South Lakes Housing; 
 
(2) the removal of the Council’s shareholder voting rights as a consequence 
of regulatory requirements be noted; 
 
(3) approval be given for the Council to inform South Lakes Housing of its 
position so that South Lakes Housing may put the proposed changes before its 
Annual General Meeting planned for September 2021; and 
 
(4) the approaches described in the report (paragraph 3.10) to ensure a 
continued strategic relationship between South Lakes Housing and the Council 
be endorsed. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
South Lakes Housing is seeking the Council’s approval of a change to the 
organisation’s constitution which will result in strengthening of its Board, with all 
appointments becoming skills and experience based.  South Lakes Housing is seeking 
the change in order to build further strength and resilience within the organisation, 
improving its provision and management of affordable housing in the District. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
Cabinet could refuse to relinquish the Council’s nominations of Directors to SLH Board.  
This would be contrary to the intention of the housing Regulator to ensure Regulated 
Providers (SLH) act with full independence.  It would also constrain SLH in their 
recruitment of a 100% skills based Board which may impact on their ability to manage 
and sustain an organisation capable of meeting its challenges and delivering its 
strategic ambition.  This option is not recommended. 
 
There are no alternative options to the change to shareholder voting rights. 
 
The Cabinet could decide not to further develop the strategic relationship with SLH.  
This would forego benefits to the Council achieving its priorities as set out in the 
Council Plan.  This option is not recommended. 
 

Page 14



33 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

CEX/42 MANAGEMENT AND SAFETY OF MEMORIALS POLICY 
 
Summary 
 
The Customer and Locality Services Portfolio Holder presented a report seeking 
Cabinet’s approval for a policy to ensure that South Lakeland’s cemeteries were safe 
places for visitors, officers and all others who may carry out their work within them, and 
to provide clarity for stakeholders of the responsibilities and approach of the Council in 
relation to memorial safety, assessment, monitoring and remedial actions that were 
required to be undertaken. 
 
The report had been considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its 
meeting on 27 August 2021 where the importance of publicity of the policy had been 
raised.  It was also pointed out that the Committee had suggested a need to attach to 
memorials in poor condition information on who to contact regarding repair. 
 
In addition to the safety of memorials, the importance of memorials as a secondary 
source of social history was raised.  Attention was also drawn to the fact that it was the 
descendants of the deceased who were responsible for the maintenance of memorials. 
 
The Specialist – Bereavement Services responded to a number of queries.  He 
explained that headstones could be listed and that, whilst there were currently none in 
District Council cemeteries, there were some in closed churchyards for which the 
Council had a shared maintenance responsibility.  He provided details with regard to 
the five year rolling programme for the survey of every headstone/memorial within 
cemeteries and closed churchyard, which was a legislative requirement.  He advised 
Members that vandalism within cemeteries was a rare occurrence in South Lakeland 
and pointed out that owners were able to take out insurance in this regard.  He also 
drew attention to the fact that the Council’s grounds maintenance contractors all had 
training on memorial safety and that, although not their responsibility, they routinely 
checked and reported back as necessary. 
 
Members thanked officers for the report, as well as those Council colleagues who 
monitored the memorials. 
 
Decision 
 
RESOLVED – That the Management and Safety of Memorials Policy attached as 
Appendix 1 to the report be approved. 
 
Reasons for Decision 

The decision is relevant to the Council’s risk management process.  Risk management 
is both the awareness of risks and the management processes that are directed 
towards effective reduction or mitigation of risks to enable the Council to identify key 
actions it must take to deliver its objectives. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 

The Council could decide not to adopt the policy.  This would not be recommended as 
it would result in increased risk of accident and serious injury if the council fails to 
recognise its responsibility.  As a burial authority, if the policy was not adopted, the 
Council would not be meeting its legal obligations contained within the Health and 
Safety at Work Act 1974, Occupiers Liability Act 1957, The Local Authorities 
Cemeteries Order 1977, and South Lakeland District Council’s own cemetery 
regulations. 

Page 15



34 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

 

CEX/43 CONTRACT AWARD FOR THE SCALING ON STREET CHARGING 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Summary 
 
The Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio Holder presented the report.  South 
Lakeland District Council had, in October 2019, agreed to be part of the Innovate UK 
fully-funded project that would see EV charging points installed across the Council’s 
car parks, namely:- 
 

 Kendal, South Lakeland House 

 Kendal, Peppercorn Lane 

 Kendal Stricklandgate House 

 Grange over Sands, Kents Bank Road 

 Ulverston, Buxton Place  

 Ulverston, Daltongate  

 Bowness, Rayrigg Road  

 Windermere, Broad Street  

 Ambleside, King Street  

 Grasmere, Red Bank Road 
 
This would provide a number of benefits to the Council: the District would benefit from 
the installation of EV charging points at a number of locations; the research obtained 
through this project could be used in considering future support for EV Charging 
infrastructure with the District; and this provided opportunity to work collaboratively with 
public bodies, charities, private businesses and residents to research the use of electric 
vehicles.   
 
As set out within the report, approval was now being sought to award the contract for 
groundworks installation following competitive tender and for the order to be placed 
with Electricity Northwest Ltd (ENWL) who were the statutory undertakers for this area 
to install the necessary supply to the proposed charging points. 
 
The Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio Holder thanked officers for pursuing the 
project during difficult times. 
 
Note – A tender analysis report regarding the contract award for the scaling on street 
charging infrastructure was included as Appendix 1 to the report in Part ll of the 
Agenda and, in addition, details relating to Electricity Northwest Ltd Quotations were 
included as Appendix 2 to the report in Part II of the Agenda, which were excluded from 
inspection by members of the public in accordance with Section 100 (B) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, and, in all the circumstances of the case, it was considered that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it.  Copies of the documents were excluded, as they contained information 
as described in Schedule 12A of the Act as follows:- 
 
- Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).  (Paragraph 3) 
 
Attention was drawn to the potential impact on parking fees and electricity in future 
years as more electric vehicles came into use.  The Climate Emergency and Localism 
Portfolio Holder agreed with a suggestion for the need for future-proofing of the 

Page 16



35 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

groundworks to enable more points to be added in the future as more people became 
able to afford electric vehicles.  The Director of Customer and Commercial Services 
explained that part of the process was for ENWL to carry out appropriate installation of 
an electric supply to the charging points and he hoped that this installation would be 
future-proofed. 
 
Decision 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) approval be given for the project to proceed to contract award for the 
groundworks contract following competitive tender as noted in the Part II 
Appendix 1 to the report and for the order to be placed with Electricity Northwest 
Ltd for the value of the installation of the power to proposed units as per the cost 
as shown in the Part II Appendix 2 to the report; 
 
(2) the Director of Customer and Commercial Services be delegated 
authority, in conjunction with the Lead Specialist for Legal, Governance and 
Democracy, to enter into lease agreements and such other agreements as may 
be required for the installation and maintenance of the equipment installed; and 
 
(3) the Director of Customer and Commercial Services be delegated 
authority, in conjunction with the Lead Specialist for Legal, Governance and 
Democracy and Lead Specialist for Finance, to enter into any necessary funding 
agreements for the grant funding. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
To assist in the delivery of the Council Plan priority of Climate Emergency:- 
 

- develop plans and support projects with our partners and local communities to 
progressively address the causes and the impacts of climate change, according 
to our local priorities, securing maximum benefit for our communities 
 
- encourage all sectors in our local community to take the opportunity to adapt 
to the impacts of climate change, to reduce their own greenhouse gas 
emissions and to make public their commitment to action 
 
- tackling Climate change by exploring options associated with EV charging 
points for households with no facility to charge their vehicles and by 
encouraging behaviour change to promote the uptake of electric vehicles 
 
- promoting the uptake of Electric vehicles to reduce pollution emissions from 
combustion engines. 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
South Lakeland District Council to not participate further in this project.  This may result 
in a missed opportunity to both research the demand and installation of charge points 
locally, and also to actually install some EV charge points at a small number of 
locations within the District.  The Council has also declared a Climate Emergency and 
this scheme will contribute towards the targets set out by the Council. 
 

Page 17



36 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

CEX/44 PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED – That, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 
of Schedule 12 A of the Act as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006 by virtue of the Paragraph indicated. 
 

CEX/45 IT SHARED SERVICE 
 
- Paragraph 4 - Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 

contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 
matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under the authority.  

 
Summary 
 
In light of Local Government Reorganisation and the creation of the new Unitary 
Authority from 1 April 2023, the Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation 
Portfolio Holder presented a report with regard to the South Lakeland District Council’s 
formal agreement with Eden District Council through which South Lakeland District 
Council provided IT services to Eden District Council. 
 
Decision 

RESOLVED – That 

(1) the following be approved:- 

(a) in light of Local Government Reorganisation, South Lakeland 
District Council informs Eden District Council that the IT Shared Service 
Agreement will not be renewed following the expiry of the current 
agreement on 31 March 2023; and 

(b) in the event that the Structural Changes Order is not made for any 
reason or is delayed so as to set the vesting day for the new authorities 
later than 1 April 2023, that South Lakeland District Council discuss with 
Eden District Council an extension of the shared service arrangement to 
ensure service continuity and enable both Councils to review options for 
the future delivery of IT services; and 

(2) all matters relating to the expiry of the Shared Service Agreement 
including but not limited to the planning and agreement of an Exit Strategy 
including data systems and Human Resources staffing matters, in line current 
legislation, within six months of the decision (or other timetable as required by 
LGR), be delegated to the Director of Strategy Innovation and Resources in 
consultation with the Lead Specialist for Legal, Governance and Democracy and 
Lead Specialist for Human Resources. 

Reasons for Decision 

The development, management and support of Information Technology enables the 
Council to fulfil the priorities of its Council Plan. 

Local Government Reorganisation will result in the activities of both Eden District 
Council and South Lakeland becoming the responsibilities of the new unitary council 
from 1 April 2023.  This will remove the need for the Shared Service arrangement. 

Page 18



37 
01.09.2021 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
Local Government Reorganisation will see the abolition of the existing councils and 
shared arrangements superseded by the creation of the new Council.  There is an 
alternative option that the councils could agree now to renew the agreement with the 
caveat that it would terminate as Local Government Reorganisation is completed.  This 
option is not recommended as, in the event of Local Government reorganisation not 
proceeding, it would not allow for joint appraisal of the future business case and 
options for the councils. 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 11.35 a.m. 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



3 
26.08.2021 Delegated Executive Decisions 
 

 

EXECUTIVE DECISION NOTICE 
 
DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 
A record of delegated decisions made by individual Portfolio holders or officers on 
Thursday, 26 August 2021. 
 
The reports (unless exempt under Section 100(B)(2) of the Local Government Act 
1972, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12 A of the Act as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated 
and, in all the circumstances of the case, it is considered that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing it) are available 
for inspection from the Solicitor to the Council, South Lakeland House, Kendal.   
 

DEX/2 URGENT ITEM - PROCUREMENT EXEMPTION REQUESTS AND CONTRACT 
AWARD  KENDAL COLLEGE AND GINGER DOG OD LTD 

Note – 
 
In accordance with paragraph 16 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 
4 of the Constitution, the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee had 
agreed that the taking of the decision was urgent and could not reasonably be deferred 
because of the timescales required to protect the public interest and due to the reasons 
provided. 
 
In accordance with paragraph 16(j) of the Constitution, the Chairman of the Council 
had exercised powers that the call-in procedure should not apply this being an urgent 
decision and any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would, for seriously 
prejudice the Council’s and/ or the public’s interests. 
 
The reasons for urgency were the commencement of the term and the need to deliver 
the management training. 
 
Summary 
 
Consideration was given to requests for exemptions from Contract Procedure Rules. 
 
The first was with regard to the award of a contract to Kendal College to provide 
apprenticeship standard training using existing funding from the Apprenticeship Levy, 
pending Kendal College’s inclusion as a YPO training provider. 
 
The second was for team leader development through Ginger Dog who already had a 
unique insight into the ambition of the Leadership Team, which would ensure a 
consistent leadership and management approach across the organisation. 

Decision 

The exemptions for Kendal College and Ginger Dog Ltd and contract awards be 
approved and the terms and signing of the contracts delegated to the Lead 
Specialist, Legal, Governance and Democracy. 

Reasons for Decision 

It is expedient to award contracts directly rather than awaiting the outcome of 
procurement exercises but where the value and nature of the awards are such that a 
transparent decision-making process is desirable. 

Page 21

Item No.3



4 
26.08.2021 Delegated Executive Decisions 
 

 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
Apprenticeships: other options include sourcing a different training provider who can 
make a direct award to, but this would involve the apprentices not having a local tutor 
on hand and the requirement to travel longer distances to other colleges. 
 
Leadership development: use of the apprenticeship levy was explored, where a 
relationship would be established between Ginger Dog and Kendal College, but this 
was rejected due to the costs involved.  This was agreed by the two Directors. 
 

DEX/3 EXTENSION OF BRING SITE CONTRACT 
 
- Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information)  
 
Summary 
 
Consideration was given to the continuation of the current contract for Bring Sites at 
strategic locations across the District. The current contract had begun in 2018 for a 
period of three years, with an option to extend for a further two years. When the 
contract had been drafted, it had been anticipated that the outcomes of a national 
waste consultation would have been published during the first three years, which would 
have informed decision-making on the long-term delivery of services.  However, the 
consultation process had been delayed by Covid-19 and the consultation and resulting 
guidance was now expected to be published in early 2022.  It was, therefore, being 
proposed that a two-year extension of the contract be approved in order to facilitate the 
ongoing delivery of the service pending the outcome of the national guidance and 
decisions around LGR. 
 
Decision  
 
(1) Approval be given for the extension of the current Bring Site contract with the 

existing provider for a period of 2 years. 
 

(2) Authority be delegated to the Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead 
Specialist (Monitoring Officer) and the Operational Lead for Delivery and 
Commercial Services to agree the necessary contract terms. 

 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The decision will assist the Council in addressing the climate emergency, promoting 
the waste reduction hierarchy and helping to work towards South Lakeland being 
Carbon Neutral by 2037. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
The alternative options could include ceasing the service provision; providing the 
service using internal resources or re-tendering the contract. These options are not 
recommended due to the need to maintain services during the on-going pandemic and 
the uncertainty regarding long-term service arrangements in the recycling service whilst 
awaiting the published national guidance and there being no internal resources 
available to undertake this service. 
 

Page 22



5 
09.09.2021 Delegated Executive Decisions 
 

 

EXECUTIVE DECISION NOTICE 
 
DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 
A record of delegated decisions made by individual Portfolio holders or officers on 
Thursday, 9 September 2021. 
 
The reports (unless exempt under Section 100(B)(2) of the Local Government Act 
1972, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12 A of the Act as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated 
and, in all the circumstances of the case, it is considered that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing it) are available 
for inspection from the Solicitor to the Council, South Lakeland House, Kendal.   
 

DEX/4 CHANGING FUTURES FOR COMPLEX INDIVIDUALS 

Summary 

Consideration was given to the receipt of grant funding in order to assist in the 
implementation of the Changing Futures Programme and commit to the principles of 
the programme, as set out at Appendix 1 to the report. The Ministry for Housing 
Communities and Local Government programme, Changing Futures: changing 
systems to support adults experiencing multiple disadvantages, had seen a Cumbria 
wide bid, with Cumbria County Council acting as the lead partner. It was hoped that the 
programme would align a number of other developments that had been pursued by 
external partners to the Changing Futures model. 
 
The grant award to the Council was £50,000 and would be used to help secure 
sustainable accommodation options for individuals with complex needs for the 
remainder of 202122. 

Decision 

(1) Approval be given to commit to the purpose and principles of the Changing 
Futures Programme, as set out in the attached Terms of Reference of the 
Changing Futures Programme Board (Appendix 1); 
 

(2) That the Director of Customer and Commercial Services agrees that the 
Changing Futures work will require organisations to work outside statutory 
thresholds to effect change for individuals in this cohort; 

 
(3) Recognition be given that the realignment of existing and emerging 

organisational resources is crucial to the Changing Futures Programme and 
the resource implications set out in Section 6; 
 

(4) To note the receipt by the Council of grant funding of £50,000 to be used as 
part of the Changing Futures Programme to secure sustainable 
accommodation options for individuals with complex needs; and 

 
(5) That the Director of Customer and Commercial Services in conjunction with 

the Lead Specialist Legal, Governance and Democracy enter into the 
appropriate agreements on behalf of the Council, to receive and administer 
the grant funding and that the income and expenditure budgets for 
homelessness prevention are increased for the value of this grant. 

Page 23



6 
09.09.2021 Delegated Executive Decisions 
 

 

Reasons for Decision 

Within the Homeless and Rough Sleeping Strategy for South Lakeland District Council, 
there are 4 key priorities which are: 

 Homeless prevention 

 Increase the supply of settled accommodation 

 Ensuring the right support is available to those that need it 

 Tackling complex needs 

The proposal for year 2 will help in the delivery of these priorities. The proposal will 
also help in the delivery of the Council Plan’s aim to provide ‘homes to meet need’. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
The Council could decide not to take part in this Programme or to accept the monies 
available for this work. This is not recommended as it would not support the work 
undertaken to expand the offer to complex individuals which could potential increase 
the number of rough sleepers as well as the additional costs to the council to source 
high cost accommodation through the private sector. 

DEX/5 PRINT FLEET AND PRINT ROOM EQUIPMENT - CONTRACT AWARD 

Summary 

Consideration was given to a new contract which provided the print room and 
multifunctional printing devices located within South Lakeland House and outlying 
locations. 

The existing equipment within the council had been in operation for a number of years 
was now outdated, inefficient, and costly and subject to frequent maintenance and 
repair due to general wear and tear and usage. In addition, the existing contract was 
due to expire, with no further options to extend available. 
 
It was considered that three years would be the preferred contract term. Although this 
would have resulted in expiry of the contract in August 2024, it was felt that it would be 
inappropriate to commence a procurement exercise during 2023 due to the 
implications of Local Government Reorganisation. As a result, the proposed contract 
term, would allow for a further procurement to be based on the formation of the new 
authority, as well as a reduction or increase of devices during the contract term. 
 

Decision 

1) The contract for the print fleet and print room equipment and associated 
software, be awarded to the preferred bidder identified in the Part II appendix 
to this report for a contract term of three years with an optional two year 
extension. 

 
Reasons for Decision 
The proposal ensures that delivery of Council functions covered by the print fleet and 
print room equipment will continue to be delivered, and improved technology and 
continual improvement to operational processes. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
The option being recommended is as a result of a compliant procurement process 
using a recognised procurement framework which is managed by Crown Commercial 
Services. This is in line with procurement best practice and preferred over other 
options. 
 

Page 24



7 
09.09.2021 Delegated Executive Decisions 
 

 

An alternative option would be to use an alternative framework or to select a different 
preferred supplier, however this is not recommended because the procurement 
exercise and analysis has identified the preferred supplier on the chosen framework for 
the reasons set out in the Part II appendix. 
 
A further alternative option would be to start a new procurement from scratch. 
 
However, it is unlikely that savings would be achieved over the national framework, and 
there would have been significant resource implications to do so, resulting in little or no 
financial gain. 
 
The only alternate option would be to do nothing. This isn’t a viable option as we will be 
unable to deliver printing services and functionality which are crucial to business as 
usual activity. 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



 

1 

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
NOTICE OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS, PRIVATE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS AND 

BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK DECISIONS 
AS PUBLISHED ON 12 OCTOBER 2021 

 
The Council is required to give at least 28 days’ notice of when Key Decisions are to be 
made, and when an executive meeting is to be held in private. The Notice has been drafted 
to comply with that requirement. It is available for inspection on the Council’s website as well 
as at South Lakeland House, Kendal and sets out the following:- 
 
(1) the matters which the Executive (also known as the Cabinet) believes fall within the 

definition of a Key Decision (see definition below) to be taken by the Executive or a 
Senior Officer of the Council; 

 
(2) details of any private meeting (see definition below) of the Executive; and 
 
(3) proposals for the recommendation to Council of any plan, strategy or budget that 

forms part of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, and its timetable and 
arrangements for consultation, in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Part 4, 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, paragraph 2. The policies which 
make up the Budget and Policy Framework can be found in Article 4, Part 2 of the 
Council’s Constitution, viewable on the Council’s website www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

 
Please note that the decision dates shown are indicative only and subject to change.  Please 
contact the Lead Officer shown if you wish to seek confirmation of the decision date for a 
particular item. 
 
Documentation 
 
Reports, as well as any background information, will be available for public inspection five 
working days before the date of the meeting at which the decision is going to made. 
However, some of the reports may contain confidential information and, in that case, will not 
be available to the public. 
 
When the Executive is going to consider a confidential report, at least 28 days’ notice will be 
given of the intention to hold the meeting in private. A Notice to this effect will be published 
on the Council’s website.  
 
Background Information 
 
If you wish to inspect background information, which will inform the decision-making process, 
contact the Lead Officer identified in the Notice as dealing with that matter. When the agenda 
for the meeting is published on the Council’s website, normally at least 5 working days before 
the meeting, these documents will also be made available via the website.  However, you will 
not be allowed to access any papers which contain exempt or confidential information. 
 
Representations (views you wish to make) 
 
If you wish to make a representation, either about one of the Key Decisions listed (where the 
meeting is to be held in private), or that an Executive meeting should be open to the public, 
you must write to the Lead Officer identified as dealing with that decision with your reasons 
why the meeting should not be held in private. This must be received at least five clear 
working days before the date of the meeting. 
 

Page 27

Item No.7

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


 

2 

Decision Notice 
 
A Decision Notice for each Key Decision, or other Executive decision, will be produced as 
soon as practicable after the decision has been taken.  These Decision Notices will be 
available for inspection at South Lakeland House, Kendal and on the Council’s website. 
 
Urgent Decisions 
 
The Law and the Council’s Constitution provide for urgent decisions to be made provided 
certain criteria are met and relevant Notices published accordingly.  None of the decisions 
detailed in this Notice are deemed to be Urgent Decisions - unless expressly stated. 
 
Key Decision 
 
This definition was adopted by Council on Thursday, 17 December 2015 and is as follows :- 
 
“An executive decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on 
communities in two or more Wards of the Council and/or is likely to result in the Authority 
incurring expenditure or making savings above £100,000.” 
 
Private Meetings 
 
In regard to this Notice, private meetings are meetings of the Executive, or part of a meeting, 
during which the public are excluded as a result of confidential or exempt information being 
discussed. A reason will be given why it is felt that there is a need for the public to be 
excluded. If you wish to make a representation regarding the intention to hold the meeting in 
private, you must follow the procedure shown above under “Representations”. 
 
The District Council’s Executive Members are:- 
 
Cllr Jonathan Brook – Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder 
 
Cllr Andrew Jarvis – Deputy Leader and Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder 
 
Cllr Robin Ashcroft – Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Helen Chaffey – Housing Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Philip Dixon – Customer and Locality Services Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Dyan Jones – Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Suzie Pye – Health, Wellbeing and Poverty Alleviation Portfolio Holder 
 
The District Council’s Chief and Statutory Officers:- 
 
Lawrence Conway – Chief Executive 
Simon Rowley – Director Customer and Commercial Services 
David Sykes – Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 
Linda Fisher – Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) 
Helen Smith – Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

Page 28



 

3 

 
 

 Key Decision - Local Government Reorganisation 

  

To consider matters regarding the progress of Local Government Reorganisation, to include 
one or more reports which will consider:- 

 The draft Structural Changes Order 

 Options and approach to the establishment of a joint committee 

 The approach to meeting the financial cost of reorganisation 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (Not before 01 Sep 2021) & Council 
(Not before 01 Sep 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Engagement will take place with Cabinet, Council and 
Members as appropriate as proposals develop. 

Date notice first published: 3 August 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 31 August 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:  - 

Lead Officer: Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Portfolio Holder: Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan 
Brook) 

 
 

 Key Decision - A590 Cross-a-Moor Junction Improvement 

  To consider funding and delivery arrangements for the proposed junction improvement. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (Not before 05 Oct 2021) & Council  
(Not before 19 Oct 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: - 

Date notice first published: 11 August 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 8 September 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Fully exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  
Paragraph 5 - Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings.  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: -  

Lead Officer: David Sykes, Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 
d.sykes@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Portfolio Holder: Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder (Cllr Robin Ashcroft) 

 
 

Page 29



 

4 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Corporate Finance Update Q1 
2021/22 

  
To approve virement of budgets, adjustments to capital programme, use of reserves and 
update of Treasury Management Strategy. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (Not before 12 Oct 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 27 August 2021 
Cabinet 1 September 2021 

Date notice first published: 21 September 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 October 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 2021/22 Budget Book including MTFP projections:   https://tinyurl.com/vtst3ez4   
 
Budget Setting Report https://tinyurl.com/uyyt8wte 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21-2025/26 https://tinyurl.com/nh8sw98a 

Lead Officer: Claire Read, Finance Specialist claire.read@southlakeland.gov.uk, Helen Smith, 
Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Procurement Update 2021/22 

  
To review the 2021-2022 procurement schedule and update the schedule in line with the 
Contract Procedure Rules within the Council’s Constitution:  
this enables officers to ensure contracts are awarded promptly but transparently. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (Not before 12 Oct 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 27 August 2021 
Cabinet 1 September 2021 

Date notice first published: 21 September 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 October 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:  None 

Lead Officer: Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder 

 
 

Page 30



 

5 

 Key Decision - Contract Award for WSC Multi Storey Car Park - Structural Repairs 

  Contract award for tender to undertake structural repairs to WSC multi story car park. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (Not before 12 Oct 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: - 

Date notice first published: 21 September 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 October 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Fully exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: - 

Lead Officer: Sion Thomas, Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services 
sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

 Key Decision - Disposal of Council owned land in High Sparrowmire, Kendal 

  Disposal of Council owned land to South Lakes Housing. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (Not before 12 Oct 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: - 

Date notice first published: 25 May 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 22 June 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Part exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:  - 

Lead Officer: Sion Thomas, Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services 
sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Housing Portfolio Holder (Cllr Helen Chaffey), Finance and Assets Portfolio 
Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

Page 31



 

6 

 Key Decision - Ellerthwaite Depot - Asset Transfer 

  Asset Transfer of Ellerthwaite Depot to Windermere Town Council 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (Not before 12 Oct 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: - 

Date notice first published: 25 May 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 22 June 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: - 

Lead Officer: Sion Thomas, Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services 
sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

 Key Decision - Consultation Response to Allithwaite and Cartmel Pre-Submission Draft 
Neighbourhood Plan 

  
Seeking approval to submit response to the Allithwaite and Cartmel Pre-Submission Draft 
Neighbourhood Plan, which is being consulted on September - October 2021. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (Not before 12 Oct 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: - 

Date notice first published: 21 September 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 October 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Appendices  
 
Pre-Submission draft Neighbourhood Plan and Appendices 
 
Draft Council response to the Pre-submission draft Neighbourhood Plan consultation 

Lead Officer: Damian Law, Strategy Specialist d.law@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Portfolio Holder: Housing Portfolio Holder (Cllr Helen Chaffey) 

 
 

Page 32



 

7 

 Key Decision - Microsoft Enterprise License Agreement 

  Three year renewal for all Microsoft software used corporately. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (20 Oct 2021) 

Date notice first published: 21 September 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 October 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Part exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
Microsoft Enterprise License Agreement  

Lead Officer: Charles Jeffries, Shared IT Infrastructure Lead c.jeffries@southlakeland.gov.uk, 
Ben Wright, Shared ICT Manager b.wright@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Portfolio Holder: Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan 
Brook) 

 
 

 Key Decision - Contract award for water supply and wastewater (sewerage) services. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Delegated Executive Decisions (21 Oct 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: - 

Date notice first published: 21 September 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 October 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Fully exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: - 

Lead Officer: Sion Thomas, Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services 
sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder 

 
 

Page 33



 

8 

 Key Decision - Affordable Housing Delivery Options *NEW* 

  
To consider options for use of the Right to Buy Replacement Fund monies for affordable 
housing delivery. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (Not before 10 Nov 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Council 14 Dec 2021 

Date notice first published: 12 October 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 9 November 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 South Lakeland District Council Housing Strategy 2016 to 2026 

Lead Officer: Julie Jackson, Principal Specialist People j.jackson@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Housing Portfolio Holder (Cllr Helen Chaffey) 

 
 

 Key Decision - Community Grants and Support for Voluntary Organisations 

  
SLDC will continue its community grants funding support for specific strategically important 
3rd sector organisations which support Council priorities and provide essential services for 
those most vulnerable residents. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (07 Dec 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Corporate Management Team - 9 September 

Date notice first published: 21 September 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 October 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 2016 Cabinet report - Financial Support to External Parties 

Lead Officer: Simon Blyth, Strategy Specialist s.blyth@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Portfolio Holder: Health, Wellbeing and Poverty Alleviation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Suzie Pye) 

 
 

Page 34



 

9 

 Key Decision - Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS) Grant agreement 

  
Funding arrangements for CAfS to support the Council Plan priority "Addressing the climate 
emergency". 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (07 Dec 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Corporate Management Team 

Date notice first published: 21 September 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 October 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Monitoring report on CAfS contracted work 2020- 2022. 

Lead Officer: Simon Blyth, Strategy Specialist s.blyth@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Portfolio Holder: Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio Holder (Cllr Dyan Jones) 

 
 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Corporate Financial Update Quarter 2 
2021/22 

  

To approve changes to revenue budgets and budget virements, adjustments to the capital 
programme, use of reserves, the Procurement Schedule and the Treasury Management 
Strategy, where required. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (14 Dec 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee - method of 
consultation to be determined (circulation of report or briefing) 
Cabinet 10 November 2021 

Date notice first published: 21 September 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 October 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 2021/22 Budget Book including MTFP projections and Treasury Management Strategy
 https://tinyurl.com/vtst3ez4  
 
Budget Setting Report https://tinyurl.com/uyyt8wte  
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21-2025/26 https://tinyurl.com/nh8sw98a  
 

Lead Officer: Claire Read, Finance Specialist claire.read@southlakeland.gov.uk, Helen Smith, 
Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

Page 35



 

10 

Non-Key  Decision - Affordable Housing Delivery Options update to Capital Programme 
*NEW* 

  
Update to the capital programme to reflect changes to the timing and use of the Right to Buy 
receipts. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (14 Dec 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Cabinet 10.11.21 

Date notice first published: 12 October 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 9 November 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 South Lakeland District Council Housing Strategy 2016 to 2026 

Lead Officer: Julie Jackson, Principal Specialist People j.jackson@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Housing Portfolio Holder (Cllr Helen Chaffey) 

 
 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Corporate Financial Update Quarter 
3, 2021/22 

  
To approve changes to revenue budgets and budget virements, adjustments to the capital 
programme, use of reserves, the Procurement Schedule and the Treasury Management 
Strategy, where required. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (22 Feb 2022) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 4 February 2022 
Cabinet 9 February 2022 

Date notice first published: 21 September 2021 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 October 2021) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 2021/22 Budget Book including MTFP projections https://tinyurl.com/vtst3ez4  
 
Budget Setting Report https://tinyurl.com/uyyt8wte  
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21-2025/26 https://tinyurl.com/nh8sw98a  
 

Lead Officer: Claire Read, Finance Specialist claire.read@southlakeland.gov.uk, Helen Smith, 
Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder 

 
 

Page 36



South Lakeland District Council 

Cabinet 

20 October 2021 

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 2  
2021/22 

 

Portfolio:   Councillor Jonathan Brook - Leader of the Council 

Report from: Dan Hudson – Strategy Lead Specialist  

Report Author: John Davies – Case Management Support Services  

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

Links to Council Plan Priorities:  

Performance Monitoring underpins service delivery and provides good value for money. 
Performance Monitoring supports the delivery of all four Council Plan Priorities. 

 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

1.1 Monitoring the success of the Council Plan 2021-2026 through scorecards informs 
improvements and ensures Council services address the needs of residents in an 
open and transparent way. Influenced by the key values in the Council Plan, this 
report sets out the Council Plan Priorities and Targets. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet notes:- 

 (1) the Summary of Performance as detailed in the report; and, 

 (2) the detailed risks information contained within Appendix 1; and,  

 (3) the detailed performance statistics in Appendix 2.  

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Council is committed to delivering high quality, cost effective services that meet 
the needs of residents and improve quality of life.  To help achieve these goals 
performance is measured frequently in line with the priorities in the Council Plan. An 
updated Council Plan 2021-2026 was adopted by Council on 23rd February 2021. 
The plan retains the vision of “South Lakeland as the best place to live, work and 
explore”. Whilst South Lakeland is already a very good place to live, work and 
explore in many ways for many people, there are areas where we need to do more 
and the plan identifies four priority areas where activity needs to be focussed to 
achieve the vision. Targets listed in this report are grouped under these four 
priorities. The Four priorities are:  

 Working Across Boundaries – Delivering Sustainable Regional Growth 

 Delivering A Balanced Community – A South Lakeland For All Ages 

Page 37

Item No.10



 Delivering A Fairer South Lakeland – A South Lakeland For Everyone 

 Addressing The Climate Emergency – A Carbon Neutral South Lakeland 

 

3.2 Summary of Performance  

The targets listed within this report are showing very good performance - and 
demonstrate that South Lakeland is a very desirable place to live, work and explore. 
However in line with the national trend and the influence of Covid-19 the number of 
homeless households living in temporary accommodation has increased.  

Economic benchmarks are not directly reflective of Council performance - as there 
are many external factors at play. The Council monitors the state of South Lakeland’s 
economy, trends, strengths and weaknesses to help prioritise activities and 
interventions - and adapt and implement policies to positively affect the economy. 

Following a review of the Strategic Risks for Quarter 4 2019/20 it was found that 65% 
of risks were above appetite. This significant change was due to the pressures 
brought about by Covid-19. The review this Quarter 2 2021/22 shows that 
improvement continues - now with a significantly reduced 19% of risks positioned 
above appetite. 

Updates for each of the targets are listed in section 3.3 to 3.63 below. At Quarter 1 
2021/22 reporting Cabinet requested that data be presented in graphical format to 
facilitate interpretation. This has been implemented and all graphs can be seen 
together within Appendix 2. This covering report provides links to the graphs in 
Appendix 2 by listing reference numbers at the relevant points. 

 
3.3 Council Plan Priority: ‘Working Across Boundaries – Delivering Sustainable 

Regional Growth’ 

The plan seeks to secure the investment, growth and transport infrastructure that will 

deliver a thriving and diverse sub-regional economy with a skilled workforce, a 

balanced housing market to meet needs, great leisure services to encourage healthy 

lifestyles and a strong cultural offer. It sees opportunities to extend co-operation to 

health, carbon reduction and tackling deprivation and inequality.  

 

3.31  Housing and communities targets 

Target: Deliver 320 homes every year across the district:  

Commentary: Housebuilding activity in 2020/21 was significantly impacted by the 
covid-19 pandemic as building sites closed down during national lockdown. There 
continues to be a strong pipeline of homes with planning permission and allocated 
Local Plan sites and it is expected that housebuilding rates will recover. Appendix 2 
reference: Graphic 1. 

The number of long term empty homes has increased to 1039 homes for 2020/21. 
The total number of long term empty homes fluctuate as homes are brought back into 
use - and as properties become empty. Homes become empty for a number of 
reasons - all of which are relevant to South Lakeland, for example: people needing 
care, properties becoming inhabitable due to widespread flooding and properties 
being inherited. Second homes also increase results until they are identified. 
Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 2. 

Page 38



The number of empty homes brought back into use since 2015 totals 502 as at 
quarter 2 2021/22. Covid-19 has influenced results - empty homes interventions are 
influenced by reduced selling and repairing activity during lockdowns. Appendix 2 
reference: Graphics 3-5. 

 
Target: Produce draft Local Plan by mid-2022: 

Commentary: On track – completing a draft Local Plan by mid-2022. A review of the 
Local Plan Review timetable following recent advice from the Planning Advisory 
Service will enable a more complete assessment in the next quarter. 

Target: Support delivery of new Swarthmoor roundabout in 2021: 

Commentary: Construction of the new roundabout by National Highways started in 
September 2021 and is expected to be completed later in 2022. 

3.32  Economic development and culture targets 

 In light of the current situation regarding Covid-19 dedicated statistical information is 
available in Appendix 2. This includes specific Covid-19 statistics as well as standard 
business and economic statistics. The appendix is a collaboration between SLDC 
Specialist Services, SLDC Case Management Support Services and Cumbria 
Observatory. Appendix 2 reference: Graphics 22 - 60. 

Target: Submit Morecambe Bay Growth bid: 

Commentary: Collaborative working across Morecambe Bay continues. Any further 
growth bid development being considered as part of ongoing work around local 
government reorganisation and response to the Government’s levelling up agenda. 

Target: Complete Master Plan for GSK site in Ulverston by July 2021: 

Commentary: Masterplan process has commenced and expected to be completed by 
the end of 2021.   

Target: Economic Development strategy setting out delivery framework and 
targets to be completed by December 2021: 

Commentary: Economic strategy being reviewed in line with ongoing impact of Covid-
19 and local government reorganisation. 

3.33 Health and Environment targets 

Target: Develop Morecambe Bay Population Health Strategy: 

Commentary: Approach to Population Health being led by Morecambe Bay CCG – 
SLDC input through Morecambe Bay Population Health Strategic Group. Draft plans 
and series of workshops proposed summer 2020. 

Page 39



Target: Support Morecambe Bay CCG in managing Covid Pandemic: 

Commentary: Contract tracing/infection control – dedicated Environmental Health 
Specialists team within SLDC working in conjunction with other District Councils, 
Cumbria County Council, and PHE to trace and isolate known local positive cases. 
Covid regulations enforcement – Environmental Health Specialists and Locality 
Officers providing both high visibility patrols to identify any areas of non-compliance, 
and follow up with businesses where issues are more complex. This has been 
completed working in partnership with others Cumbrian LA’s, the police, national 
park. 

3.4 Council Plan Priority: ‘Delivering A Balanced Community – A South Lakeland 

For All Ages’ 

This means addressing the challenges posed by our shrinking workforce and ageing 

population. It means retaining young people, attracting economically active people 

and young families and ensuring that housing, services and infrastructure meet the 

needs of older people. It also means promoting localism and helping communities to 

help themselves.  

3.41 Housing and communities targets 

In 2019/20 SLDC granted planning permission for 447 new homes in the South 
Lakeland planning area (excluding the national parks), bringing the total number of 
homes with planning permission in this area at 31 March 2020 to 1,849 homes. There 
is therefore a strong pipeline of housing sites that should be delivered in the coming 
years and enable the target to be met. In addition to the homes that already have 
planning permission, there is also land for a further 2,500 homes allocated in the 
South Lakeland Local Plan. 

Target: Deliver 477 affordable homes for rent between 2020 and 2025; and 
Deliver 588 affordable homes to buy between 2020 and 2025: 

Commentary: The Council is currently on target to deliver 477 affordable homes for 
rent between 2020 and 2025 having reached the milestone of 500th affordable 
rented home in 2020. COVID has impacted on delivery of affordable homes with the 
cessation of construction work over a period of time and the supply of some materials 
which has also impacted. However, there are currently 15 large housing schemes 
under construction in the District which will deliver around 400 affordable homes for 
rent and sale. Further planning applications are to be considered that could deliver 
more affordable homes subject to planning permission being granted. During the 
period 2014 to 2020/21 there were 177 affordable homes to buy completed. 
Appendix 2 reference: Graphics 6-7. 

Target: Deliver 300 extra care units between 2020 and 2025; and Deliver 337 
self and custom build dwellings between 2020 and 2025: 

Commentary: Construction is underway for a 104 unit extra care scheme at 
Oxenholme that is on target for completion in 2022. Outline planning consent is in 
place for a potential extra care scheme in Grange over Sands at Allithwaite Road. 
However, further details are as yet unknown. Appendix 2 reference: Graphics 8-9. 

3.42  Economic development and culture targets 

Page 40



Target: Implementation of Kendal Town Centre Strategy including provision of 
new employment floorspace: 

Commentary: Town Team formed for Kendal to work towards delivery and 
development of agreed priority areas. Partnership approach with Kendal Futures, 
including Council financial contribution towards a new Vision Manager for the town.   

Target: Commencement of development on 5 allocated employment sites by 
2025: 

Commentary: Continued engagement and expressions of interest on allocated 
employment sites. Council continues to provide planning and economic advice to 
landowners/agents and developers. Review of the Council’s Local Plan also 
underway. 

Target: Delivery of Great Places programme: 

Commentary: Majority of programme now successfully delivered. Approach to legacy 
activity now the subject of discussion by partners. 
 

3.43 Health and environment targets 

Target: Completion of Customer Connect Transition programme: 

Commentary: A Customer Connect report is being prepared and will provide an 
update on progress with the Programme.  

Targets: Ensure that community interests championed in National Park plans 
and strategies; and, Ensure that population health strategies make relevant 
provision for the elderly: 

Commentary: SLDC is represented on both National Park partnerships. SLDC 
comments on community interest fed into plan process. Lake District National Park 
partnership plan currently out for consultation.  

Target: Ensure that social programmes address loneliness: 

Commentary: Approach under development through fairness and public health work. 

3.5 Council Plan Priority: ‘Delivering A Fairer South Lakeland – A South Lakeland 

For Everyone’ 

This means taking action to address housing, health and income inequalities and 

increasing financial resilience. This means working in partnership with the third sector 

to rebuild financial resilience following the impact of the Covid pandemic, preventing 

homelessness and supporting vulnerable people, addressing inequalities in access to 

housing, addressing issues such as accessibility to people with disabilities and 

working through the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy and through Population 

Health strategies in Morecambe Bay to improve health outcomes and reduce health 

inequalities. 

3.51 Housing and communities targets 

Page 41



Target: Halve the proportion of households in poverty and eliminate child 
poverty: 

Commentary: SLDC are developing a programme of work to deliver the Council 
priority of “Delivering a Fairer South Lakeland”. We have a project team meeting two 
weekly where we are coordinating Council PI’s and work streams. We are running 
the Building Financial Resilience (BFR) meetings with partners from across South 
Lakeland. This partnership has agreed the following 5 sub-groups: Poverty Truth 
Commission for South Lakeland, Rural poverty, Food, Skills and Employment and a 
Lobbying group. Appendix 2 reference: Graphics 12-15. 

Target: Implement Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategies: 

Commentary: The Council has a Homelessness Strategy and Action Plan for South 
Lakeland. The work of the Housing Options team aligns with this and is summarised 
below: 

•             The Housing Options team work with partners to identify cases who may 
need housing advice - such as young people and victims of domestic abuse. They 
also work closely with registered providers to identify social housing tenants who may 
be facing losing their homes.  The team are proactive in seeking out bespoke 
solutions to individuals circumstances and have a ‘prevention toolbox’ to assist. Often 
this work involves negotiating and mediating, providing legal advice on tenancy 
matters, income maximisation and safeguarding of vulnerable adults and families. 
The team also work with other council departments to prevent homelessness such as 
Housing benefits and housing standards services. 

•             SLDC are also running several initiatives funded by MHCLG to target 
individuals who are roofless and at risk of or rough sleeping. The Rough Sleeping 
initiative has provided a rough sleeper coordinator, two support staff and a private 
rented access officer. This small team work with individuals to find sustainable 
solutions in the private rented sector and focus on getting work ready to reduce 
dependencies on the benefit system. 

•             SLDC were also the only district to receive funding through the first round of 
Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme which is over a 3 year period and totals 
£388,987 and will provide 12 units of supported accommodation. This service is 
provided in conjunction with Home group and operates a non-eviction policy 
alongside proving Assured tenancy to individuals rather than the traditional licence 
agreements. MHCLG has recognised this approach as good practise and uses it as 
an example to other local authorities seeking to provide a similar response to 
supporting those most vulnerable. 

For the last two years the maximum number of households in temporary 
accommodation at any one time is not within target. For 2020/21 there were a 
maximum of 39 households - and during Quarter 1 20221/22 there were 23 
households. This rise is due to the increase in cases presenting during the Covid-19 
pandemic. The main reasons for homelessness are: Loss of private rented 
accommodation with an increasing number due to landlords wanting to either sell the 
property or seek alternative business opportunities with the property, relationship 
breakdown with family and friends which is often due to increased stress within 
families due to the lack of affordable accommodation and financial difficulties. 
Preventing homelessness still remains the number one priority for the service 
however with a reducing private rented sector, high demand on social housing and 
the impact of benefit caps this is becoming more difficult. This year to date the 
service has already seen a 36% increase in households approaching the service for 

Page 42



advice compared to the previous full financial year and almost the same increase in 
numbers of formal applications taken which reflects the increasing complexity of 
cases. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 16. 

Target: Reduce the percentage of private sector homes with category 1 
hazards to less than 15% by 2025:  

Commentary: The Council has a robust approach to the reduction of hazards. This 
includes information on Private Sector Stock Condition and carrying out both Housing 
Standards and Houses in Multiple Occupancy inspections for conditions.  

3.52 Economic development and culture targets 

Target: Distribute grants to aid businesses through the Covid crisis: 

Commentary: Covid-19 business grants totalling £149m now distributed to those 
affected, with 37,000 unique grant payments. Appendix 2 reference: Graphics 22-26. 

Target: Widen and improve the quality of broadband coverage: 

Commentary: Continued dialogue and partnership working with Connecting Cumbria 
and others to improve broadband provision in South Lakeland. Promoting the 
government broadband voucher scheme to eligible residents and businesses. 

Target: Advise businesses: 

Commentary: Continued advice provided to businesses and new business start-ups 
across sectors through the Economy & Culture team and Invest in South Lakeland 
programme. Subsidised business support provided through partners including 
Cumbria Chamber of Commerce.  

Target: Deliver new business space in Kendal Town Hall: 

Commentary: Refurbishment of South Lakeland House and Kendal Town Hall to 
create additional town centre employment space, meeting rooms and conference 
facilities on track, with full extent of business space expected to be available by the 
end of 2021. 

3.53 Health and environment targets 

Target: Complete Kendal Air Quality Management Plan implementation: 

Commentary: Air quality emission data has varied over the past 12 month period due 
to long periods of lockdown and reduced vehicle movement through Kendal Town 
Centre. This has resulted in lower than anticipated pollution levels which are not 
thought to reflect the current situation. Monitoring will continue in this area, and 
across district to establish a clear picture as lockdown measures continue to ease. 

Target: Review the third sector commissioning and the delivery of financial 
advice and support to vulnerable people: 

Page 43



Commentary: Discussions are underway with all current community grants funding 
recipients. A Cabinet report will be prepared for Autumn on recommendations for 
future SLDC 3rd sector funding arrangements to deliver Council plan priorities and 
support vital community services. 

Targets: Work with partners to safeguard people against exploitation – and 
Work with partners to protect people against domestic abuse: 

Commentary: A key deliverable in the 2021/22 Community Safety Partnership (CSP) 
Plan. The CSP is working through the Local Focus Hubs to proactively offer support 
and intervention for potential victims of domestic abuse (DA) and exploitation/ people 
trafficking. The CSP helped roll out the “Its not OK” campaign with CCC and Police to 
encourage reporting. During Covid-19 the CSP worked with organisations like 
Women’s Community Matters to proactively support victims of DA through contact 
and financial support. SLDC, in collaboration with partners, have run awareness 
briefings on safeguarding including domestic abuse and modern slavery. Appendix 2 
reference: Graphic 18. 

3.6 Council Plan Priority: ‘Addressing The Climate Emergency – A Carbon Neutral 

South Lakeland’ 

This means enshrining the Council’s carbon reduction targets (for SLDC to be carbon 

neutral by 2030 and for the District to be carbon neutral by 2037) A comprehensive 

action plan for carbon reduction is being implemented. The Council Plan sets the 

strategic direction for this work and is the means by which carbon reduction is 

mainstreamed within the Council. 

3.61 Housing and Communities targets 

Target: Reduce the percentage of homes in the lowest energy performance 
certificate (EPC) bands (F and G) from 16.4% to less than 10% by 2025: 

Commentary: The Council has published a Statement of Intent on the website - and 
has arrangements with several companies providing energy efficiency improvements. 
We will continue to support CAfS on their Cold to Cosy scheme and also work with 
Cumbria authorities to prepare a bid for the Local Authority Delivery Scheme for the 
Green Homes Grant. The Council will consider any other future grant schemes that 
are proposed. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 17. 

Target: Updated environmental standards for new development to be included 
in Local Plan: 

Commentary: The Issues and Options consultation is running from 30 June to 29 
October 2021. It presents a range of possible policy options for comment, including 
whether to increase local standards above the levels being set by the Government 
through the forthcoming Future Homes Standard. A draft Local Plan will be consulted 
on in mid-2022.  

3.62 Economic development and culture targets 

Target: Enabling agile and home working: 

Page 44



Commentary: Work ongoing with partners to help provide the right conditions for 
flexible working through better provision of broadband, increasing digital skills and 
engagement and more co-working space. 

Target: Completion of Kendal Flood defences: 

Commentary: Environment Agency are leading of the design, implementation and 
delivery of this scheme, with work having now commenced on the first of the three 
phases. 
 
3.63 Health and environment targets 

Target: SLDC to be carbon neutral in its own operations by 2030: 

Commentary: The Council’s declaration of a Climate Emergency has delivered both a 
Council Plan with carbon neutrality targets - and a Climate Change Action Plan with 
2030 and 2037 focused actions. There has been excellent progress - for example 
with the introduction of energy management software; an analysis of council buildings 
for low energy tech; analysis for transport emissions reduction; the production of a 
Green Travel Protocol, research into procurement criteria, analysis for offsetting 
potential and Climate training for many staff and Councillors. Appendix 2 reference: 
Graphic 19. 

Target: South Lakeland to be carbon neutral by 2037:  

Commentary: The Council’s Climate Change Action Plan contains 2037 focused 
actions. The Council has made very good progress – for example partnering with 
Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS) to further low carbon communities; 
supported the Kendal Citizen’s Jury’s “What Should Kendal Do About Climate 
Change?”; provided advice to parish councils on local action campaigns; launched 
the Community Fund which supported 10 projects from cycling ability to tree planting; 
embedding Climate Change as a key theme in the Local Plan; advice to businesses 
on sustainability with schemes such as Future Fixers and Green Small Business 
Audits. Also recently a competition for schools placing children’s climate action 
artwork on the sides of our high profile bin wagons. 

The percent of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting: for 
2020/21 the provisional result of 43.5% reflects the suspension of green waste during 
the Covid-19 pandemic. For 2019/20 44.0% of waste was recycled which is similar to 
44.3% for 2018/19. Green waste influences recycling results significantly. This is 
because green waste is produced in large quantities and contributes to significant 
tonnages compared to lighter plastic and cardboard. If feasible to collect food waste 
this would help recycling rates - however food processing plants are currently too 
distant from South Lakeland to make this viable. Plastic and cardboard kerbside 
collection covers 100% of households. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 20. 

The amount of residual household waste not sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting: South Lakeland’s residual household waste is sent for reuse rather than 
to landfill. The residual waste is processed to provide refuse derived fuel for large 
industrial processes. In line with other councils, residual waste includes grey bin 
waste, waste from litter bins, street sweepings and other sources. The tonnage of 
street sweepings varies significantly each year and therefore impacts on residual 
waste totals. The level of residual waste is measured in kilos of waste per household 
per year. Grey bin waste on its own has fluctuated from 479kg in 2009/10 down to 

Page 45



391kg for 2019/20. A provisional 426kg for 2020/21 reflects people being at home 
during Covid-19 Pandemic. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 21. 

Target: Supporting preparation and implementation of Kendal cycling and 
walking strategy: 

Commentary: The Council is supporting Cumbria County Council with the Kendal 
Local Cycling and Walking Plan. Cumbria County Council is planning to consult on a 
Draft Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan later this October. This is to 
improve the cycling and walking network in Kendal and the surrounding area, in order 
to promote more active travel and to make everyone feel confident they can walk or 
cycle. The consultation can be accessed on Cumbria County Council website. 

3.7 Strategic Risk Register – Appendix 1 

The Strategic Risks have been reviewed in line with risk management arrangements.  
The Strategic Risks are being managed continuously and effectively - and a summary 
is shown below. Further detail for all Strategic Risks are visible within appendix 1.  

Risks Summary - Quarter 1 2021/22  

Total number of 
risks: 

16 risks 

New risks: 0 risks 

Archived Risks: 0 risks 

Risks above 
appetite:  

3 risks (previously 6 risks) 

19% of risks are currently above appetite. 

Following a review of the Strategic Risks for Quarter 4 
2019/20 it was found that 65% of risks were above appetite. 
This significant change was due to the pressures brought 
about by Covid-19. The review this Quarter 2 2021/22 shows 
that improvement continues - now with a significantly reduced 
19% of risks positioned above appetite.  

Risks above appetite are reviewed at least on a quarterly 
basis. 

Risks below 
appetite:   

13 risks 

81% of risks are currently below appetite.  

Risks below appetite are reviewed annually during Quarter 4. 

 

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Strategic Risk Register 

2 Performance Statistics 

Page 46



 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 This report details measures of success against each of the priorities within the 
Council Plan.  These have been consulted on extensively prior to the Plan being 
adopted by Full Council. 

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 No alternative options – the purpose of the report is to receive a performance update. 
The Council must note successes, monitor progress and take action where 
appropriate. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. However, strategic 
risks can relate to financial issues and are considered as part of the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan, budget preparation and monitoring process. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no human resources implications associated with this report. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment  

7.4 There are no Health and sustainability implications associated with this report. 
Performance monitoring supports the delivery of all Council Plan Priorities and has a 
positive impact on organisational objectives. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.5 There are no Equality and Diversity implications associated with this report. 
Performance monitoring supports Equality and Diversity needs. 

Risk 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

Risk that performance measures 
are not monitored and corrective 
action is not identified. 

Ambitions as set out in the 
Council Plan are not 
achieved. 

Robust performance 
management 
arrangements are 
implemented. 
Recommendations for 
corrective action are 
implemented. 

Risk that good performance is 
not acknowledged. 

Missed opportunity to 
maintain high morale and 
performance culture. 

Successes are recognised 
and celebrated regularly. 

Page 47



Contact Officers 

John Davies, Case Management Officer, 01539 793263, rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk   

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Council Plan – South Lakeland South Lakeland Website 

Performance Management 
Framework – South Lakeland 

South Lakeland Website 

Risk Management Arrangements 
– South Lakeland 

South Lakeland Website 

Description of Nearest 
Neighbours Model - CIPFA  

CIPFA Website 

Benchmarking data - Local 
Government Association 

Local Government Association Website 

Economy data - Office for 
National Statistics Official Labour 
Market Statistics 

Office for National Statistics Website 

Health data - Public Health 
England Public Health Outcomes 
Framework 

Public Health England Website  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Section 151 Officer 28/09/21 04/10/21 

Monitoring Officer 28/09/21 07/10/21 

CMT 07/10/21 07/10/21 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist 28/09/21 

Human Resources Lead 
Specialist 

28/09/21 

Communications Team 28/09/21 

Leader   

Committee Chairman  

Portfolio Holder  

Ward Councillor(s) NA 

Committee  

Executive (Cabinet) 20/10/21 

Council N/A 

 

Page 48

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/performance/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/performance/
http://www.cipfastats.net/default_view.asp?content_ref=8193
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=185&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157080/report.aspx?#idbr
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/0/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/101/are/E07000031/iid/92311/age/1/sex/4


1 

 

Appendix 1 
Strategic Risks Register – Quarter 2 2021/22 

 
 

 
Introduction 
 
Risk Management is an essential element of corporate governance arrangements. The process of risk management allows the Council to identify, prioritise and mitigate risks which may have a negative effect on services. 
This is an important and underpinning process which ensures good value for money and also continuity of services.  
 
Risks are recognised as essential management information and so contribute towards decision making. This document lists all those risks which are considered as strategic in nature – in other words those risks that could 
have a wide impact or require senior management control. 
 
This Strategic Risks Register is reviewed and updated every quarter by Corporate Management Team. Risks above the line of ‘risk appetite’ are a priority and so are reviewed every quarter – whilst those below risk appetite 
are reviewed once a year. 
 
Strategic risks are by their very nature problematic and so can remain on the register for significant periods of time. 
 
Page 2 explains the Risk Matrix with Likelihood, Impact and green/blue zones. 

 
Page 3 contains the ‘Heat Map’ which shows the distribution of risk on the matrix – providing an ‘at a glance’ view of all risks. 
 
Page 4 contains the Strategic Risk Register 

 
 

 
 

P
age 49



2 

 

How to understand the Risk Matrix: 
 
This register contains the full and complete list of the Council’s Strategic Risks. Each risk is plotted on a risk matrix to show the degree of likelihood and impact. The greater the likelihood and impact the higher the priority 
for management. Those risks which lay above the line of ‘risk appetite’ can be seen in the blue zone of the matrix. These risks are a priority for management and are reviewed every quarter. Risks below the risk appetite, in 
the green zone, are a lower priority and so are reviewed on an annual basis. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

High 

    

Medium 

  

x 
 

Low 

 

x 
  

Very Low 

    

 

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical 

 
Impact 

Risks positioned in the blue zone of the risk matrix are above ‘risk 
appetite’ (high priority) and require quarterly mitigation and 
management. Mitigation updates are listed for these risks.  
 
Risks positioned in the green zone of the risk matrix are below 
‘risk appetite’ (lower priority) and require an annual review in 
Quarter Four. 
 

P
age 50



3 

 

Risk ‘Heat Map’ - showing the current position of all risks in this report 

 
This matrix provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks which are positioned in the blue zone and so are above the line of risk appetite.  
 
Commentary: Following a review of the Strategic Risks for Quarter 4 2019/20 it was found that 65% of risks were above appetite. This significant change was due to the pressures brought about by Covid-19. The review this 
Quarter 2 2021/22 shows that improvement continues - now with a significantly reduced 19% of risks positioned above appetite.  These above appetite risks are reviewed at least on a quarterly basis. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

High (4)         

Medium (3) 22   5, 6, 21   

Low (2)   7 
4, 9, 13, 
14, 15, 

19, 20, 23 
  

Very Low (1)     8 16, 17 

  

Negligible (1) Marginal (2) Serious (3) Critical (4) 

  

Impact 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 51



4 

 

Strategic Risk Register 
 

The ‘Heat Map’ on the previous page shows the position of each risk on the matrix in terms of likelihood and impact  

 

Risk 
No. Name Description 

Risk 
Appetite 

Review 
frequency Mitigations History of improvement 

Officer 
Owner 

Portfolio 
Owner 

1 Income targets are not 
met due to ineffective 
debt collection  

Archived Archived Archived   Archived during Q1 2016/17 Finance Lead 
Specialist 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

2 Contracts do not 
deliver the standards 
of performance 
required within the 
contract fee agreed 

Archived. (New risk around contracts 
identified Q4 2019/20 - see Risk no. 23.) 

Archived Archived   Archived during Q4 2018/19 Finance Lead 
Specialist 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

3 Business Continuity  Archived Archived Archived   Archived during Q1 2018/19 Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

4 Affordable housing 
targets are not met. 

The Council will need to enable new 
housing particularly through private sector 
development. This is influenced by New 
Homes Bonus and Local Government 
Financing. During Covid-19 pandemic a 
temporary redcuction in completions is 
expected - it is likely that the 2025 target 
will be met. 

Below Annually   Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED.  
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  retained on the 
register to allow regular monitoring.  
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  review indicates that 
housing performance is on track. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  review indicates 
housing is likely to achieve the 2025 target. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED 

Director of 
Customer 
and 
Commercial 
Services 

Housing 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 52



5 

 

5 Impact of the Welfare 
Reform on 
communities, Council 
operations and 
resources 

The Council mitigates as far as possible 
against both the impacts of welfare 
reform on communities and also on 
Council operations and resources. Welfare 
reform results in significant changes to 
taxes and benefits - impacting on low-
income tenants and social landlords. With 
transfer to Universal Credit widely 
reported impacts on claimants across 
England. Central Government monitor 
impacts and make adjustments. The 
current risk position is proportionate for 
South Lakeland. The Council has in place 
many mitigations to reduce poverty and to 
alleviate against universal credit impacts. 
This risk has increased due to the Covid-19 
Pandemic and mitigations have been 
expanded to cover Covid-19 impacts. 
Addressing impact within the district 
requires a multi-agency approach. 

Above Quarterly The Council communicates regularly with 
DWP and CAB.  
Discretionary Housing Payment.  
Council Tax Reduction Scheme.  
Temporary Council Tax COVID -19 Hardship 
Fund. 
Council Tax Discretionary Relief Scheme. 
Building Financial Resilience Group - 
partnership working to reduce poverty.  
Further funding to be provided to CA To 
increase access to services for those 
residents who are experiencing financial and 
employment difficulties because of Covid-19 
and the Government restrictions imposed as 
a reaction to it. To ensure those people can 
access the service funding provided to a 
project to pilot a dedicated webchat advice 
service. 
Employed additional resource to administer 
the increase in HB/CTRS claims as a result of 
COVID-19. 
Addressing need within communities via a 
range of mitigations, for example Covid 
response grants, support to the Voluntary 
sector, work of the multi-agency  Community 
Resilience Group. 

Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - risk retained whilst 
potential for impacts. 
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - measures to reduce 
poverty and alleviate against impacts now listed. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED -  risk increased due to 
Covid-19 pandemic impacts and greater dependency on Universal 
Credit. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED further 
mitigations added. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk 
- community impacts are being monitored. Q2 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED whilsts claimant numbers increased. Q3 
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED from Q2. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED: 
Likelihood improved due to Covid response.  
05/08/21 Interim review at request of Audit Committee: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED – ‘Risk Name’ and ‘Risk Description’ 
clarified to better reflect impact on both council operations and 
resources as well as community. Further examples of existing 
mitigations now added with note on multi-agency approach 
across the district. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED Risk 
review indicates no change. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Health, 
Wellbeing 
and 
Poverty 
Alleviation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

6 Medium Term 
Financial Planning – 
delivery of a balanced 
budget 

Current and future years proposed budget 
reductions (expenditure and income) are 
not achieved. Future year’s budget 
reductions (expenditure or income) are 
not identified. Significant existing income 
sources are not protected or effectively 
managed. Income from Central 
Government is reduced above the current 
assumptions. NDR income assumptions 
are not achieved. Other key factors are 
Spending Review, Business Rates 
Retention, Fair Funding Review and Local 
Government Finance Settlement. The 
Coronavirus pandemic presents significant 
income and expenditure challenges. 
08/09/21: there are a number of changes 
to the level of MTFP risk. 
1. The projected deficits (and therefore 
savings targets) has reduced due to 
assumptions around the delay in the local 
government finance reform. 
2. There is increased uncertainty around 
existing costs and income due to the 
continuing impact of Covid-19 and the 
potential future impacts of local 

Above Quarterly MTFP assumptions reviewed, updated and 
reported on quarterly basis. Options to 
resolve issues are provided to Cabinet each 
quarter. MTFP review during July 2020 - 
completed. 08/09/21: A working group of all 
council Chief Finance Officers from Cumbria 
now discuss weekly the potential impact of 
LGR and review risks. 

Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk description 
updated. 
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk description 
further updated. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED  -  risk increased due to 
challenges of Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED - mitigations reviewed. 06/08/20: Review indictates 
no change to risk at this time - the MTFP review is completed. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED since recent review. Q3 
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED 
in terms of both likelihood and impact due to financial support 
from government and therefore reduced budget pressure for 
future years. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - 
additional mitigations around LGR included and risk description 
updated. 

Finance Lead 
Specialist 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 53



6 

 

government reform 
3. There is a need to review projects and 
therefore budgets and capital programme 
for deliverability of schemes before LGR 
4. There is likely to be a significant request 
for resources to fund the transition costs 
of LGR 

7 Information 
Management is not 
effective 

The Council is required to have effective 
information governance procedures. It will 
be necessary to manage corporate 
information by implementing processes, 
roles and controls - including GDPR and 
the Data Protection and Information 
Security Policies. 

Below Annually Managers are appropriately trained. 
Requirements in Job Descriptions and 
appraisals. Internal Audit findings acted on in 
a timely manner. Internal communication 
regarding policies and protocols. Review and 
monitoring of arrangements. Information 
Governance (IG) Framework in place. 
Continuous focus on new starters and 
improvement to existing procedures. 

Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation due dates 
updated re Information Governance Board Highlights Report 
14/12/17. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION IMPROVED  - risk reduced via 
internal communications, improved access to information, 
processes and data protocols. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED additional mitigations added. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

8 The infrastructure 
required to deliver the 
Council Plan priorities 
is not provided. 

Infrastructure is required to support 
businesses and housing objectives. The 
Council implements the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to fund 
infrastructure. Protocols for CIL 
Governance and Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan. The impacts of Storm Desmond may 
have implications for future flood 
resilience measures and infrastructure.  

Below Annually Annual update of Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
- completed. 
Development of protocols for CIL Governance 
- completed. 
CIL Review proposed as part of Development 
Management Policies process - viability study 
completed. 

Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION IMPROVED -  risk reduced due to 
greater certainty meeting infrastructure requirements. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED 

Strategy 
Lead 
Specialist 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

9 Essential strategic 
partnerships required 
to deliver the Council 
Plan do not operate 
effectively.  

Robust agreements are needed to 
continue to work with our identifide 
partners following the decision to 
reorganise local government in Cumbria.      
This will require new strategic 
partnerships to be formed with groups to 
ensure South Lakeland communities 
continue to gain maximum benefit in the 
new unitary councils. This risk continues 
to apply to all strategic partnerships - eg 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), LDNPA 
and existing sovereign councils up until 
April 2023 and beyond. The risk is not 
specific to any one initiative or approach 
from partners, rather their strategic 
direction and policies and correlation with 
South Lakeland's  Council Plan and the 
policies of  Central Government. 

Below Quarterly Monitor resource and cost in line with SLDC's 
Portfolio planning as agreed at Cabinet Away 
Day 06/09/21. This will enable the Council's 
existing and future priorities to be embedded 
in the new unitary council. 

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - SLDC continues to 
improve collaborative working including Morecambe Bay Health 
partners. The Morecambe Bay Three Authority partnerships 
continues to develop within the North West and Government. 
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - due to improved 
relationships across Morecambe Bay including local authority, 
health partners, Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), County 
Council, National Parks, Town and Parish Councils and CALC. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED -  due to recent 
devolution discussions and potential for local government 
reorganisation. Increased tensions felt between two tiers of 
government in Cumbria - all other partnerships remain positive. 
Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - Morecambe Bay 
partnership in specific areas is strong. Covid-19 response is good 
example of partneship working. 'Recovery/devolution' 
information from central Government may lead to increased 
tensions for all tiers of local government in Cumbria. Q2 2020/21: 
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - Q1 commentary remains relevant. 
Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED from Quarter 1 
position.  Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q1 2021/22: 
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - intelligence suggests decision is 
imminent on LGR. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - risk 
review shows improvement to likelihood score 2 with current 
mitigations - risk below appetite.  

Chief 
Executive 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 54



7 

 

10 Procurement 
compliance with new 
legislation  

Archived Archived Archived   Archived during Q1 2016/17 Strategy 
Lead 
Specialist 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

11 Planning for the future 
of the major contracts 
and workload 
implications for 
support services 

Archived Archived Archived   Archived during Q1 2016/17 Strategy 
Lead 
Specialist 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

12 Health and Safety 
management of 
contracts 

Archived Archived Archived   Archived during Q4 2018/19 Chief 
Executive 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

13 Impact of new projects 
and initiatives on 
existing Council Plan 
priorities 

There is a risk that new projects and 
initiatives take the resources required by 
other projects and initiatives currently in 
the programme.  

Below Quarterly Potential new projects and initiatives are 
subject to a pre-assessment to measure 
priority. The Commissioning Strategy will 
provide a robust basis for the evaluation of 
business cases for new projects. Council Plan 
priorities have been reviewed in latest 
version of Council Plan Feb 2021. 
Commissioning Strategy being worked into 
full practice. Response to Covid pandemic 
still necessitates redirection of resources.  

Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - likelihood reduced via 
controls and prioritisation against Strategic Projects Log. 
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED -  increase in likelihood 
and impact due to recovery needs for Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 
2020/21: RISK POSITION INCREASED -  increase in likelihood with 
further awareness response/recovery needs. 06/08/20: Review 
indictates no change to risk. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED due to response and 
recovery needs. Mitigation added re Council Plan priorities. Q3 
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED and additional mitigations added. Q1 
2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED: Likelihood improved -  taken 
steps through strategic project log meeting to pause and or 
reshedule projects and have greater awareness of how new 
initiatives will impact the existing programme.  05/08/21 Interim 
review at request of Audit Committee: RISK POSITION IMPROVED 
- improved one place for likelihood due to continued adherence 
to mitigating measures. Risk now below appetite. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 55



8 

 

14 Unintended impacts of 
efficiencies and 
service changes 

New efficiencies and changes brought 
about by one service or organisation can 
have unintended negative impacts on 
another service – especially if proposals 
are not consulted on until to late in the 
process. Impacts can increase cost of 
running services. This risk is  influenced by 
Risk 15 Customer Connect Programme. 

Below Quarterly Managed via operational and budgeting 
processes.  
Promote early discussions on potential 
change with external parties. 
Customer Connect Programme. 

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk remains 
unchanged during organisational change. 
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - description updated. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - unchanged due to 
Covid-19 emergency response and recovery. Q1 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED due to Covid-19. 06/08/20: Review 
indictates no change to risk due to Covid and budget challenges. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED during period of 
organisational change and adaptation to Covid-19. Q3 2020/21: 
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
IMPROVED likelihood reduced to a score of 2, risk now below 
appetite. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

15 Customer Connect 
Programme 

Customer Connect requires a significant 
change to ways of working. Challenges for 
the programme include scope and 
ambition, staff resources and capacity, 
skills and workforce planning, buy in from 
customers and training and development 
for staff and Councillors. Programme 
Board manages risks via the Customer 
Connect Risk Log. The Covid-19 pandemic 
increases risk to the next phase of the 
programme. 

Below Quarterly Managed via the Programme Board - 
resources identified year 1 and 2. Programme 
Risk Log shared with Audit Committee each 
qurater.  New mitigations as a result of 
Covid-19 have been identified and are to be 
included for Q1. Final reporting on 
Programme for January / February 2021.  

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation progress 
updated. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - reduced in likelihood, 
Programme financial benefits realised and advancements to new 
ways of working. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk. 
Programme Management arrangements are resumed. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation added re 
final reporting on Programme. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED - however risk improvement expected by March 
2021. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - risk review 
indicates impact has reduced to score 3 due to programme 
moving to completion and reporting - risk now below appetite 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

16 Waste Collection – 
Reversing Manoeuvres 

Management of waste collection vehicle 
manoeuvres on recycling and waste 
collection rounds. Practical and 
technological safety precautions in place: 
waste collection round risk assessments 
and safe systems of work. All drivers and 
crews trained. All rounds monitored to 
ensure safe systems are adhered to. 
Vehicles have advanced technologies e.g. 
reversing CCTV and sophisticated radar for 
safe manoeuvres. 

Below Annually Safe System of Work, inspections and risk 
reducing technologies. 
Reviewed vehicle movements including 
reversing - findings implemented. 
Lane End Policy mitigates against hazardous 
vehicle manouvers. New reversing aid 
installed to assist safer vehicle manoeuvers.  

Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - target position met due 
to completed mitigations.  
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - new mitigation ‘Lane 
End Policy’ added. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED 

Director of 
Customer 
and 
Commercial 
Services 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

17 Cyber Security 
incident 

High profile cyber security breaches across 
the World and the UK. The Council has 
effective security in place - however 
threats are becoming ever more 
sophisticated. Cyber-attacks can cross 
international boundaries and be initiated 
by organised criminals, individuals or 
states. Terrorists are conducting low-level 
attacks and aspire to more significant acts. 

Below Annually Cyber security mitigations within the ICT Risk 
Register. 
Review of Insurance. 
Security updates, virus software updates and 
industry best practice.Business Continuity 
arrangements strengthened. Further training 
for all staff has been made available and 
accessible to all - during September 2020 re 
cyber security awareness. 

Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - insurance mitigation 
added. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation added 
around further training for staff. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 56



9 

 

18 Potential reduction in 
income from the 
disposal of recyclable 
materials as a 
consequence of 
market changes 

China is now receiving only very low 
contaminated recycled waste. As a 
consequence there will be very large 
quantities of UK and international waste 
that cannot be sent to China. Without an 
alternative outlet the value of this waste 
will fall significantly. The Council's waste 
collection approach avoids contamination 
and so may be less affected. This 
advantage is confrimed in a recent APSE 
report. However income provided from 
waste recycling is significant and the 
market is currently volatile. 

Archived Annually Legally compliant, waste recycling processes 
minimising contamination. 
Maintain high profile message to residents to 
avoid contamination of recyclables. 
Budgeting mitigations in place. 

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED - escalation from operational level to 
Strategic Risks Register. 
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to the lowered 
market value of waste. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk remains the 
same as market remains volatile. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
ARCHIVED - risk now fully managed via mitigations. 

Director of 
Customer 
and 
Commercial 
Services 

Climate 
Action and 
Biodiversity 
Portfolio 
Holder 

19 Business Continuity: 
Flu Pandemic - Loss of 
people, skills and 
supply chain 
disruption 

Flu Pandemic is listed alongside the top 
risks in the Cumbria Community Risk 
Register. Covid-19 global pandemic: the 
Council is following Government 
guidelines and working with Cumbria Local 
Resilience Forum to safeguard the public. 
The Council has implemented 
unprecedented Business Continuity 
arrangements to maintain all essential 
services - and also to undertake activities 
outside its normal remit. Business 
Continuity is key for meeting statutory 
obligations and mitigations are in place 
within strategic and operational plans. 
This risk has increased due to the Covid-19 
Pandemic. 

Below Quarterly Refer to and implement National/PHE advice 
and guidance.  
Coordinate with and support comprehensive 
CLRF response and business continuity 
arrangemnents.  
Have regard to mitigations identified within 
the Cumbria Flu Pandemic Plan. 
Organisational and CLRF debriefs. New 
mitigations as a result of Covid-19 have been 
identified and are to be included for Q1. 
Focus on maintaining services during second 
and third wave. 

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED - escalation to the Strategic Risk 
Register. 
27/09/18: Mitigations updated, BCM audit result ‘Substantial 
Assurance’. 
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED - due to unprecedented 
global Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
IMPROVED - likelihood of impacts are reduced with resilient 
arrangements in place. Note possibility of second pandemic 
wave. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to emerging 
second wave and ongoing pressures. Mitigations added re 
maintaining services. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
during second wave and restrictions. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED during national restrictions. Q1 2021/22: RISK 
POSITION IMPROVED - Likelihood improved due to the current 
decrease in Covid infections, risk position below appetite. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

20 Capacity for Business 
as Usual during the 
transition to the new 
organisational model. 

Risk that vacancies are not filled for roles 
which are essential for running the 
organisation and meeting the health and 
welfare needs of the public.  Potential 
impact on business whilst moving through 
transition to learn new processes, 
behaviours etc. 

Below Quarterly Transition Planning to maintain BAU. 
Culture Change, Learning & Skill development 
planning to maintain skills and knowledge. 
Use of temporay resources to maintain 
critical posts. 
During transition extra temporary resources 
have been put in place. Review required 
approaching end of temporary resources. 

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - time of organisational 
change. 
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to response and 
recovery activity for Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED due to Covid-19. 06/08/20: Review 
indictates no change to risk. Use of temporary resources to 
mitigate. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED since recent review. 
Mitigation added re additional temporary resources during 
transition. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED, additional mitigation 
added. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - further work 
has progressed to programme outstanding Transition work and 
associated resources. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - 
risk review indicates likelihood has improved to score 2 due to 
moving to Customer Connect programme completion and 
reporting - risk now below appetite. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 57



10 

 

21 Accountable Body for 
large value schemes 

The Council acting as ‘Accountable Body’ 
for large value grant aided schemes. The 
Council acts as “the bank” for grant 
monies - making payments to scheme 
deliverers. Robust governance, project 
appraisal, decision making - and clarity 
over responsibilities and accountabilities 
will manage and mitigate risks. Lack of 
adequate governance arrangements could 
lead to a reduction, suspension, 
withholding or repayment of grant. The 
current capital programme contains 
£5.3M of ERDF flood scheme with a 
further £2.3M of Coastal Communities 
Fund, the Cross-a-Moor junction 
improvement scheme and Cumbria Choice 
Based Lettings. 

Above Quarterly Robust governance, decisions and clarity on 
responsibilities and accountabilities. 
Partnership Agreement between partners 
and Council as Accountable Body. Indemnify 
re legal claims. 
Monitoring process re potential weaknesses / 
risks towards corrective action. Each material 
scheme to be in Operational Risk Registers 
and monitored. 
Audit to ensure evidence in line with 
document retention. Local grant recipients 
retain original evidence. 
Regular reporting for accountable body 
projects to Corporate Management Team. 

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - reporting mitigation 
added. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to Covid-19 
response and recovery activities. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED due to Covid-19 - delivery timescales may be 
affected. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk.  Q2 
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to uncertainty about 
timetable. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to 
uncertainties around timetable. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED whilst some projects completeing funding 
agreements. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED previous 
commentary is still valid. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED - review indicates that risk remains the same. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

22 Strategic documents 
may no longer meet 
post pandemic needs. 

Strategic documents include for example 
the Local Plan and Council Plan. Change in 
circumstance increases uncertainty in 
what the Local Plan needs to address. 
New statistics show population increase 
with implications for affordable housing 
delivery and the Housing Strategy.  This 
risk is due to the Covid-19 Pandemic. 

Below Quarterly Continue to monitor socio economic and 
demographic indicators. 
Make greater use of electronic 
communications. 
Continue to engage closely with stakeholders 
and relevant delivery partners. Reviewed 
Council Plan priorities were adopted 
February 2021. Local Plan is in review and 
will take account of post Covid situation. 

Q4 2019/20: RISK IDENTIFIED - due to Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 
2020/21:  RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk remains unchanged 
during Covid-19. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - however the Council 
Plan review is underway and this will reflect Covid-19 needs. Q3 
2020/21: RISK POSITION IMPROVED due to greater awareness 
and understanding of impacts and how strategies may need to 
adapt. Revised Council Plan to be considered by Council in Feb 
2021. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION IMPROVED likelihood reduced 
to a score of 1. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader 
and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

23 Significant Contracts There is a potential risk for service 
provision due to the economic impacts of 
Covid-19. There is also the potential for 
budget implications. 

Below Quarterly Communication with Governemt regarding 
support for providers. Maintaining close 
contact with providers. Services opened in 
July with expansion of activities for 
September. Mitigations in place. 

Q4 2019/20: RISK IDENTIFIED - due to Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 
2020/21:  RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk remains unchanged 
during Covid-19.      05/08/20: Although services have opened 
this review indicates no change to risk due to uncertainty over 
future pandemic waves and restrictions. Q2 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED - due to increasing restrictions and 
increased Covid-19 cases. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED due to second pandemic wave and tiered 
restrictions. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION IMPROVED likelihood 
reduced with roadmap to recovery. 

Director of 
Customer 
and 
Commercial 
Services 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

 

P
age 58



1

Appendix 2

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report - Supporting Data

Data sets are listed by the relevent section in the covering report
Business, Economy and Covid-19 information are listed together under the heading 'Business and Economy - supporting data' (graphics 22-60)

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.31 - Housing and communities targets

Graphic 1

Note: For 2019/20 includes 223 homes in the SLDC Planning Authority area, 37 homes in the LDNPA area and 18 homes in the YDNPA area
For 2020/21 includes 163 homes in the SLDC Planning Authority area, 26 homes in the LDNPA area and 8 homes in the YDNPA area

Graphic 2

Note: Source: MHCLG Live tables on dwelling stock including vacants: table 615. 2021 data not yet available.

Graphic 3

Note: Covid-19 has influenced empty homes interventions which are influenced by reduced selling and repairing activity during lockdowns.

Page 59



2

Graphic 4

Note: The culmulative total brought back into use since 2015.

Graphic 5

Note: This graph provides a detailed breakdown for empty homes each quarter - it can be seen that there were many new empty homes during Q4 2020/21.

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.41 - Housing and communities targets

Graphic 6

Note: There are currently 15 large housing schemes under construction in the District which will deliver around 400 affordable homes for rent and sale.

Page 60



3

Graphic 7

Note: There are currently 15 large housing schemes under construction in the District which will deliver around 400 affordable homes for rent and sale.

Graphic 8

Note: A total of 104 extra care units are expected within 2022

Graphic 9

Note: National Park data is annual and is displayed at the Q4 position in the graph. YDNP data is estimated.

Page 61



4

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.43 - Health and environment targets

Graphic 10

Note: Source: Public Health England. A higher score is good. 2017/18 data not yet available.

Graphic 11

Note: Source: Public Health England. 2018/19 data not yet available.

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.51 - Housing and communities targets

Graphic 12

Note: This means children in families with income less than 60% of median income 'Before Housing Costs'

Page 62



5

Graphic 13

Note: This means living in a property of energy efficiency band D or below and with heating costs reducing income below the poverty line

Graphic 14

Note: The rate shows an increasing trend in all areas

Graphic 15

Note: Decile 1 equals the most deprived 10% of LSOAs in England while decile 10 is the least deprived 10% of LSOAs (LSOA's are small area/neighbourhoods)

Page 63



6

Graphic 16

Note: This year to date the Housing Options service has already seen a 36% increase in households approaching the service for advice

Graphic 17

Note: Interventions include the Handy Person and Draft Busters schemes, home energy improvements and enforcement.

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.53 - Health and environment targets

Graphic 18

Note: Source: Cumbria Constabulary

Page 64



7

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.63 - Health and environment targets

Graphic 19

Note: CO2e is a carbon equivalent which accounts for all greenhouse gasses

Graphic 20

Note: For 2020/21 results remain provisional - confirmed figures will be avialble during quarter 4 2021/22. Rates are influenced by levels of Green Waste.

Graphic 21

Note: For 2020/21 results remain provisional - confirmed figures will be avialble during quarter 4 2021/22
South Lakeland’s residual household waste is sent for reuse rather than to landfill - to provide fuel for industrial processes
In line with other councils, residual waste includes grey bin waste, waste from litter bins, street sweepings and other sources.

Page 65



8

Business and Economy - supporting data

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Sections 3.32. 3.42, 3.52 and 3.62  - Economic development and culture targets

COVID-19 Business Grants – Source: District Councils

Graphic 22

Note: This shows business grants administered and paid by SLDC as part of the emergency Covid-19 recovery response.

This represents the largest amount in terms of both number and value in Cumbria.

Graphic 23

Note: Covid - Discretionary Grant Fund

Graphic 24

Note: Significant support was required in South Lakeland.

Page 66



9

Graphic 25

Note: Covid - grants summary. Significant support was required in South Lakeland.

Graphic 26

Note: Covid - restrictions and restarts. Significant dependency on tourism in South Lakeland - highest for all areas.

Self Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS)

Graphic 27

Note: South Lakeland had the greatest numbers of eligible people

Page 67



10

Graphic 28

Note: During all rounds the highest number of claims had been made to this scheme by South Lakeland residents

Graphic 29

Note: The total value of claims was highest in South Lakeland

Graphic 30

Note: The average claim in South Lakeland was higher or equal to all other areas.

Page 68



11

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) - Furlough

Graphic 31

Note: In South Lakeland the number of employments furloughed is significantly higher than any other local authority in Cumbria.

Graphic 32

Note: Furlough take up rate is highest in South Lakeland

Graphic 33

Note: The total number of unique furloughs is highest in South Lakeland

Page 69



12

Claimant Count (Standard)

Graphic 34

Note: The claimant count shows those currently out of work who are actively seeking work. For South Lakeland the claimant count is below county and national averages.

Graphic 35

Note: The percentage of working age claimants is relatively low in South Lakeland

Page 70



13

Graphic 36

Note: The numbers of 18-24 years claimants compares well for South Lakeland

Graphic 37

Note: The percentage of 18-24 years claimants is lowest when compared with Districts

Page 71



14

Universal Credit - Persons by Conditionality Category

Graphic 38

Note: This shows all claimants of Universal Credit in South Lakeland - the rate is low when compared with County and national averages

Graphic 39

Note: The percentage of people in work claiming Universal Credit is about average for South Lakeland

Graphic 40

Note: The percentage of working age people seeking work is lowest for South Lakeland

Page 72



15

Graphic 41

Note: The percentage of working age people with no work requiremnts is low for South Lakeland

Employment - by Sector and Total Jobs

Graphic 42

Note: In South Lakeland 'Wholesale & Retail' and 'Accommodation and Food' and 'health work' provide the three largest proportions of employment

Page 73



16

Active Businesses

Graphic 43

Note: The latest data shows that the number of active businesses trading in South Lakeland is slightly up from re-Covid levels

Business Start-Ups

Graphic 44

Note: There remains a high level of new business start-ups within South Lakeland

Page 74



17

GVA (total)

Graphic 45

Note: For South Lakeland the Real Estate and Manufacturing sectors represent the largest contributions in terms of GVA

Page 75



18

Earnings - Median Full Time

Graphic 46

Note: People that live within South Lakeland earn less each week when compared with most Districts

Graphic 47

Note: People that live within South Lakeland earn less each year when compared with most Districts and the UK

Graphic 48

Note: People that work within South Lakeland earn significantly less each week when compared with Districts

Page 76



19

Graphic 49

Note: People that work within South Lakeland earn significantly less each year when compared with Districts

Qualifications of population aged 16-64

Graphic 50

Note: South Lakeland’s population is highly qualified in both a county and national context

Graphic 51

Note: South Lakeland’s population is highly qualified in both a county and national context

Page 77



20

Graphic 52

Note: South Lakeland’s population is highly qualified in both a county and national context

Graphic 53

Note: The latest data for 2020 shows that in South lakeland 3.3% of population have no qualifications.

Population Estimates – working age

Graphic 54

Note: In South Lakeland the total population inceases gradually - whilst the working age population decreases (see graph below)

Page 78



21

Graphic 55

Note: For South Lakeland figures show a gradual decline in the number of working age people over the past 10 years

Tourism visitor numbers and revenue

Graphic 56

Note: South Lakeland had 19.01m visitors in 2019, up from 18.54m the year before. This was worth £1.37bn to the local economy, supporting 16,409 FTE jobs

This represents a significant proportion of the tourism visitor share in Cumbria. Data on visitor numbers for 2020 is not yet available.

Graphic 57

Note: The highest numbers of tourist days are in South Lakeland

Page 79



22

Graphic 58

Note: The highest numbers of tourists are in South Lakeland

Graphic 59

Note: The highest dependancy on tourism is within South Lakeland

Town centre vacancy rates (%)

Graphic 60

Note: This shows the proportion of shops vacant for several town centres in South Lakeland.

The vacancy rate varies by town and indicates an increase since Covid-19

Page 80



11102021 

South Lakeland District Council 

Cabinet 20th October 2021 

Update to the Councils Constitution – Contract Procedure 
Rules and Procurement Schedule 

 

Portfolio:   Cllr Philip Dixon – Customer and Locality Services Portfolio Holder 

Report from: Linda Fisher – Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist 
(Monitoring Officer) 

Report Author: Linda Fisher – Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist 
(Monitoring Officer) 

Wards:  All 

Forward Plan: Not Applicable 

Links to Council Plan Priorities: 

The Constitution underpins the Council’s decision making processes in achieving the aims 
and objectives of the Councils priorities. Ensuring the Constitution is updated regularly will 
assist in achieving the following priorities:- 

 Working across boundaries; 

 Delivering a balanced community; 

 A fairer South Lakeland; and 

 Addressing the climate emergency. 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

1.1 That the amendments to the Constitution are agreed to provide further delegation and 
clarity relating to procurement and contracting processes. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(1) Agree to the delegation of Executive decisions relating to Contracts to 
the Officers, Portfolio holders and Directors as outlined in Appendix 1 
and 2. 

(2) Agrees to recommend to Council the proposed amendments to the 
Constitution outlined in the attached Contract Procedure Rules and 
highlighted in red; and 

(3) Notes that the Monitoring Officer will make any additional consequential 
changes to the constitution to take account of these proposals if agreed 
by Council. 

(4) Approves the latest Procurement Schedule at Appendix 3. 

It is recommended that Council: 

(1)  Agrees the changes and authorises the Monitoring Officer to make the 
necessary amendments to the Councils Constitution.  

Page 81

Item No.11



11102021 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 One of the duties of the Monitoring officer is to monitor and review, on an annual 
basis, the operation of the Constitution to ensure that its aims and principles are 
given full effect. Rather than carrying out an annual review it is considered more 
appropriate to treat the Constitution as a living document and we encourage in year 
amendments to the Constitution to ensure that it is kept up to date and meets the 
business needs of the Council. 

3.2 The Councils current Monitoring Officer commenced work at the Council in August 
2019 and has consulted Council officers, members, parish councils and the public on 
the current constitution. In 2020 proposals for changes to the Officer Scheme of 
Delegation and streamlining decision making relating to Procurement decision 
making were brought to the July 2020 Council meeting.  

3.3 The Monitoring Officer has further consulted with the Leadership Team and Officers 
on the Procurement Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules. This report is 
the outcome of that consultation.  

 In summary this report proposes the following changes to introduce clarity of thresholds for 
the levels of delegated decision making : 

 Under £25,000 Administrative decision by Lead Specialist. Changed from £10.000. 

 Above £25,000 up £60,000 then the relevant Director by Administrative Decision  

 Above £60,000 to £100,000 then delegated executive decision of the relevant Director  
(NB requirement to place item on the Forward Plan if over the Key decision threshold) 

 Above £100,000 to £250,000 then delegated executive decision of the relevant 
Portfolio Holder (NB requirement to place item on the Forward Plan if over the Key 
Decision threshold) NEW.  

 Above £250,000, Cabinet once approved by Cabinet the decision to be implemented 
by Administrative decision. (NB requirement to place item on the Forward Plan if over 
the Key decision threshold)  

 Changing the threshold for Lead Officers to £25,000 from £10,000, introducing a new 
threshold of Portfolio Holder and Director decision making.  

 

 DFG  
 
To clarify the process to be followed for the disabled facilities grants in light of 
recommendations from Internal Audit. 
 

  Forward Plan and the Procurement Schedule  
 
To clarify the process for the use of the Forward Plan and the Procurement 
Schedule. This is essential to ensure to ensure effective decision making. 

 Procurement Schedule  
 
Attached at Appendix 3 is the updated Procurement Schedule, this has been updated 
to provide clarity of the decision making route for all matters on the Schedule.  

Page 82



11102021 

4.0  Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

  

1 Contract Procedure Rules 

2 Schedule 2 Decision Making Thresholds 

3 Updated Procurement Schedule  

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 Regarding the proposed changes consultation has taken place with Leadership Team 
and Officers engaged in the procurement process. With the Constitutional Working 
Group and Cabinet members.  

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 Members could chose not to approve the changes as proposed, or to make 
amendments to the proposals. However it is considered the proposed amendments 
are required as part of the good governance of the Council and to ensure that 
appropriate controls are in place. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

Legal 

7.3 The changes proposed have been identified by officers and are required to ensure that 
we have a clear and up to date Constitution. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

7.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No 

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: Not 
applicable 

7.6 Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts 

 Positive Neutral Negative Unknown 

Environment 
and Health 

Greenhouse gases 
emissions 

 X   

 Air Quality  X   

 Biodiversity  X   

 Impacts of Climate 
Change 

 X   

 Reduced or zero 
requirement for energy, 
building space, materials 
or travel 

 X   

 Active Travel  X   

Page 83



11102021 

Economy and 
Culture 

Inclusive and sustainable 
development 

 X   

 Jobs and levels of pay  X   

 Healthier high streets  X   

 Culture, creativity and 
heritage 

 X   

Housing and 
Communities 

Standard of housing  X   

 Access to housing  X   

 Crime  X   

 Social connectedness  X   

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No 

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: Not 
Applicable 

7.9 Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts 

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X” 

Age P  0 X N  

Disability P  0 X N  

Gender reassignment (transgender) P  0 X N  

Marriage & civil partnership P  0 X N  

Pregnancy & maternity P  0 X N  

Race/ethnicity P  0 X N  

Religion or belief P  0 X N  

Sex/gender P  0 X N  

Sexual orientation P  0 X N  

Armed forces families P  0 X N  

Rurality P  0 X N  

Socio-economic disadvantage P  0 X N  

 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

The risk is ambiguity within the 

constitution and incorrect 

decision making. 

Challenge to the Councils 

decision making decisions. 

The amendments are 
proposed to manage this 
risk. 

Contact Officers 

Linda Fisher – Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer)  

Linda.Fisher@southlakeland.gov.uk  

Page 84

mailto:Linda.Fisher@southlakeland.gov.uk


11102021 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Councils Constitution SLDC - Constitution  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Section 151 Officer 21/09/2021 05/10/2021 

Monitoring Officer Report Author Report Author 

CMT 23/09/2021 23/09/2021  

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist N/A 

Human Resources Lead Specialist N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader 21/09/2021 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder 21/09/2021 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Constitutional Working Group 21/09/2021 

Council November 2021 

 

Page 85

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/councillors-and-decisions/council-constitution/


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86



1 11/10/2021 

CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

Appendix 1

Page 87



2 
11/10/2021 

Contents 

CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES ................................................................................................. 1 

BRIEF GUIDE TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES ........................................................... 4 

SECTION 1: SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES ................................................ 6 

1. BASIC PRINCIPLES ........................................................................................................... 6 

2 DIRECTORS’ AND OPERATIONAL AND LEAD SPECIALISTS’ 

RESPONSIBILITIES ................................................................................................................... 6 

SECTION 2: COMMON REQUIREMENTS ................................................................................. 7 

3 STEPS PRIOR TO PROCUREMENT ............................................................................... 7 

Items not on the Procurement Schedule and Exemptions or Waivers. ....................... 7 

4 TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKINGS PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES ....................... 8 

5 NON-COMMERCIAL CONSIDERATIONS, EQUALITIES & COMMUNITY 

BENEFIT ....................................................................................................................................... 8 

6 RECORDS ............................................................................................................................. 9 

7 TENDER PROCEDURE ...................................................................................................... 9 

TENDERS (BELOW PROCUREMENT THRESHOLD VALUES) ..................................... 10 

Framework agreement .................................................................................................................... 10 

Pre-Qualification (Selection Questionaire) ........................................................................ 10 

Tenders above Procurement threshold values ................................................................ 10 

SECTION 3: CONDUCTING PROCUREMENT AND DISPOSAL ........................................ 11 

8 FINANCIAL LIMITS AND THRESHOLDS ..................................................................... 11 

9 AWARD CRITERIA ........................................................................................................... 11 

10 QUOTATIONS ................................................................................................................ 12 

11 INVITATION TO TENDER ............................................................................................ 12 

12 SUBMISSION AND RECEIPT OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS ............................... 13 

13 OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS .................................................................. 13 

14 CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES .............................................................................. 14 

15 EVALUATION ................................................................................................................. 14 

16 AWARD ........................................................................................................................... 15 

17 EXEMPTIONS ................................................................................................................ 16 

19 FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS................................................................................... 17 

20 CONSORTIA ................................................................................................................... 17 

21 COLLABORATIVE CONTRACTS (EXCLUDING FRAMEWORK 

AGREEMENTS) ......................................................................................................................... 17 

22 PARTNERSHIPS ........................................................................................................... 18 

23 DISABLED FACILITIES’ GRANTS (“DFGS”) ......................................................... 18 

24 ACCOUNTABLE BODY ............................................................................................... 18 

25 E-PROCUREMENT ....................................................................................................... 19 

26 RELEVANT CONTRACTS ........................................................................................... 19 

Page 88



3 
11/10/2021 

SECTION 4: CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES ........................................................ 19 

27 CONTRACT FORMALITIES ........................................................................................ 19 

28 SAFEGUARDS FOR DUE PERFORMANCE ........................................................... 20 

29 PREVENTION OF CURRUPTION .............................................................................. 21 

30 DECLARATION OF INTEREST .................................................................................. 21 

SECTION 5: CONTRACT MANAGEMENT .............................................................................. 21 

31 MANAGING CONTRACTS .......................................................................................... 21 

32 RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING ...................................... 22 

33 CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW .................................2223

34 GLOSSARY .................................................................................................................... 24 

Page 89



4 
11/10/2021 

BRIEF GUIDE TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

These Contract Procedure Rules (issued in accordance with section 135 of the Local Government 
Act 1972) are intended to promote good procurement practice and public accountability and deter 
corruption, ensuring value for money on all Council spend. The rules are the best defence against 
allegations that a procurement process has been conducted unlawfully. 

Legal challenges against public procurement are increasing with potentially serious 
consequences for the Council and its officers if procurement activity is not undertaken to the 
highest standards of probity and professionalism. 

These Rules are complimented by the Sustainable Procurement Strategy and Commissioning 
Strategy and the Procurement Toolkit maintained by the Procurement Strategy Team. The 
guidance can be found on the Council’s SharePoint. 

For the purposes of these rules, where there is a requirement for communication to be in writing, 
this shall be deemed to include e-mail transmissions as well as hard copy. In addition, the term 
“contract”, refers to both paper/hard copy documents and process and their replication by 
electronic media. 

In accordance with the Constitution, the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Chief Finance 
Officer, is authorised to make technical amendments from time to time to these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

Important Tips 

 Follow the rules if you procure goods, services or building work. This is very much in your
own interest as well as that of the Council.

 Ensure that all known future procurements projects are placed on the Council’s
Procurement Schedule, the approval by Cabinet and Council of the Schedule is the start
of the decision making process.  Ensure the decision making column is correct and agree
this with the Specialist for Legal and Procurement. Key Decisions should be entered on
the Forward Plan and listed in detail prior to Cabinet agreement to the Procurement
Schedule.

 The authorisation and approval process is set out in the Schedule 2 to these Contract
Procedure Rules. In advance as part of the annual review or as they arise

 Take all necessary legal, financial, HR and professional advice. Do this early in the procurement
process to avoid abortive effort and to allow time for consideration of all relevant issues. This to
include consideration of the type of contract and if it is to be under seal (all contracts over
£60,000 should be under seal unless the Monitoring Officer agrees it is not expedient to do so).

 Declare any personal conflict of interest, financial or otherwise, in a contract. Corruption is a
criminal offence.

 Check you have correct and appropriate approvals authorization before you proceed.

 Check whether there is an existing contract or an appropriate framework agreement that you
can make use of before undergoing a competitive process.

 Consider your procurement objectives and available procurement routes such as collaboration,
use of framework agreements or exemptions/waivers at the outset.

 Consider risk, including non-financial factors, at the outset e.g. data protection, safeguarding.

 If your procurement affects any of the Council’s land and building you must contact the
Operational Lead for Delivery and Commercial Services .

 Use the Council’s chosen e-tendering portal, The Chest.

 Use the Procurement Toolkit that can be found on SharePoint.

 Ensure you have agreed your contract documents including:

o selection and award criteria,

o weightings, and

o draft terms and conditions, including the need for a performance bond before you publish any
advert, Selection Questionnaire (SQ)  or tender.

 Pre-market engagement is now allowed and encouraged under the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015. The nature of the pre-market engagement should be agreed with the
Procurement Team. Once the procurement has commenced contact should be via The Chest
only.

 Tenders take time with minimum timescales specified for some aspects of the process. Ensure you
consult with the Procurement Specialist to draw up an appropriate procurement timetable. For

Page 90



5 
11/10/2021 

tenders above the procurement thresholds threshold minimum timescales are mandatory by law. 

 Take into account mobilisation periods, elections, public holidays and other events which may
impact the decision making or implementation process.

 Take into account any approval process (including Forward Plan) if required by the
Procurement Schedule or if your procurement is not on the Procurement Schedule. 

 Ensure your service and any potential changes being considered as part of this procurement
are assessed for their ultimate social value, impact on equality and impact on sustainability
before proceeding.

 Keep bids confidential during the bidding process.

 Keep records of dealings with suppliers and contractors.

 Complete a written contract where appropriate, and Council purchase order before the supply of
goods, services or works begin.

 Nominate an appropriately qualified contract manager with responsibility for ensuring the
contract delivers as intended.

 Share lessons learned about what went well or not so well during the procurement, feedback to
the Procurement.

 Assess each contract 6-12 months after award to see how well it met the procurement needs
and Value for Money requirements.

 Remember that all information regarding your procurement process could be subject to a Freedom
of Information Request or Environmental Information Regulations request. Requests for
information concerning tender processes and suppliers/contractors are relatively common and
publication of tenders is part of the movement towards greater transparency. However, before
releasing any information consult the Data Protection Officer and the Procurement Officers.

 Under the Government’s transparency requirements all contracts over £510,000 must be included
on the electronic contracts register once the contract is awarded or extended. This should also
include waivers and exemptions.

Page 91



6 
11/10/2021 

SECTION 1: SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

1. BASIC PRINCIPLES

1.1 The following basic principles shall apply to all procurement and disposal procedures and

contracts:-

 All procurement activity will comply with all applicable Procurement Directives, UK Legislation,
the Council Constitution and all other relevant policies and procedures;

 The Council will undertake procurement activity using the most efficient and effective methods
and will select the most appropriate delivery mechanisms to ensure Value for Money;

 All procurement activity will include due consideration of social, economic and environmental
factors and will be assessed on Whole Life Costing;

 Robust contract management will support improved service delivery through
continuous improvement in the quality of goods, works and services; and

 Procurement will be fair, open and transparent and undertaken to the highest standards of
probity, integrity, honesty and professionalism.

1.2 These rules apply equally to tenders and requests for quotations.

1.3 The designated contract manager is responsible for ensuring contracts have an appropriate

funded budget.

1.4 These Contract Procedure Rules shall be reviewed and updated annually. These Rules

and Amendments to them shall be agreed and approved by the full Council.

2 DIRECTORS’ AND OPERATIONAL AND LEAD SPECIALISTS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.1 Directors, Operational and Specialist Leads shall:- 

2.1.1 Review and update the Council’s Procurement Schedule (including exemptions, exceptions  and 
waivers) at least annually. 

2.1.2 Ensure the central registers of: 

2.1.2.1 cccontracts with a value of £5,000 or more completed by signature, rather than by the 
Council’s seal and arrange their safekeeping on Council premises; 

2.1.2.2 exemptions recorded under Rule 3; and 

2.1.2.3 2.1.2.1 and 2.1.2.2 above are updated for all procurements. 

2.1.3 Compile and keep under continuous review a written schedule of all standing delegations made 
by them under these Contract Procedures. 

2.2 The relevant scheme of delegations is as follows:- 

2.2.1 

2.2.2 

2.2.3 

2.2.4 

2.2.5 

2.2.6 

UnderUp to £25,000 10,000  then this is an Administrative Decision by Lead Specialist. 

AboveOver  £25,000 10,000 up £60,00059,999 then the relevant Director by Administrative 
Decision  

AboveOver £60,000 up to £100,00099,999 then the relevant Director by Delegated Executive 
Decision (NB requirement to place item on the Forward Plan if over the Key Decision 
threshold) 

AboveFrom £100,000 up to Public Contracts Regulations thresholds (“Procurement 
Thresholds”) £250,000 then the relevant Director and Portfolio Holder by Delegated Executive 
Decision (NB requirement to place item on the Forward Plan if over the Key Decision 
threshold) 

Over £250,000 Procurement thresholds, Cabinet once approved by Cabinet the decision to be 
implemented by Administrative Decision. (NB requirement to place item on the Forward Plan if 
over the Key Decision threshold) 

Please note if the matter affects more than 2 wards then this also falls within the definition of a 
Key Decision and a Forward Plan entry is also required. 

Page 92



7 
11/10/2021 

SECTION 2: COMMON REQUIREMENTS 

3 STEPS PRIOR TO PROCUREMENT 

3.1 As part of the budget process for the following financial year, the Council will prepare a Procurement 
Schedule. This will be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet and approved 
by Council as part of the Budget and Policy Framework and will be included in the Forward Plan. If 
your procurement falls within the definition of a Key Decision you must add these as Forward Plan 
entries as part of the approval process. This should take place prior to the Procurement Schedule 
being approved by Cabinet and Council. 

3.2 The Procurement Schedule will include:- 

(a) the title of the contract;

(b) the service and officer responsible;

(c) a brief summary of the goods or services covered;

(d) proposed start and end dates;

(e) a review date and extension period (if applicable);

(f) estimated value by band (Under £25,000, above  £25,000 to £60,000, above £60,000 to £100,000,
above £100,000 to £250,000 and aboveover £250,000);£10k, £10k - £60k 100k, Over £60 100kto
£250,000Procurement threshold OJEU , Over £250,000 Procurement threshold OJEU); 

(g) the process to be followed, if known (e.g. request for quotation, invitation to tender, use of
existing framework, full OJEU PCR 2015); and

(h) the proposed decision route (officer Administrative Decisions, Delegated Executive Decision of
the Director or Director and Portfolio Holder or ED, Cabinet.

3.3 Each Operational and Specialist Lead is responsible for ensuring the Procurement Schedule 
is updated. It should include waivers and exemptions. 

3.4 Tenders and Requests for Quotation shall wherever practicable be widely and appropriately 
advertised to ensure equality of opportunity for potential suppliers to compete if they so 
choose. 

3.5 Officers must ensure that appropriate approval authorisation has been given to proceed with 
the procurement and that the processes within the financial regulations are followed. 

Items not on the Procurement Schedule and Exemptions or Waivers. 

3.6 In the event of an exemption or waiver then the following must be obtained the proposed 
procurement not being on the Procurement Schedule or in the case of an Exemption or 
Waiver then the following must be obtained:- 

3.6.1 Under  £25,000 10,000 then this is an Administrative Ddecision of Lead Specialist 

3.6.2 AboveBetween  £25,000 10,001 to £60,000and  £59,999 then this is an ADadministrative 
Ddecision by relevant Ddirector  

3.6.3 Above Between £60,000 toand £100,00099100,999000 by Delegated Executive Decision of 
the relevant Director. 

3.6.4 AboveBetween £100,000 toand £250,000 by  Delegated Executive Decision by the 
relevantevant Director and Portfolio Hholder 

3.6.5 AboveOver £250,000, Cabinet approval  procurement thresholds then Cabinet approval with 
implementation by Administrative Decision 

3.7 All procurements  authorized by this route must be reported to Cabinet at the earliest 
opportunity 

3.8 NB – Waivers and exemptions which are Key Decisions must be placed as individual items on the 
Forward Plan 

3.9 In the event that the contract is not on the procurement schedule the Director, Monitoring Officer 
and Section 151 Officer must be consulted to ensure that the limits in 3.6 and decision making 
routes can be applied as this is predicated on budget provision being in place. 

Page 93



8 
11/10/2021 

3.10 Officers must ensure that provision for resources for the management of the contract and for 
support from internal specialists, for its entirety, have been identified and where necessary 
included in a business case. 

3.11 Officers must assess the procurement process in a manner commensurate with its 
complexity and value. Officers must:- 

3.11.1 Ensure that any procurement commenced must comply with the commissioning strategy that is 
approved and any procurements must ensure and demonstrate that the strategy in Schedule 2 
attached hereto has been complied with and the requirements and evaluation methodology aligns 
to this strategy  

3.11.2  appraise the need for the expenditure and its priority; 

3.11.3  define the objectives of the procurement process; 

3.11.4  conduct an options appraisal to consider how the contract should be packaged and what 
procurement method is most likely to achieve the objectives and demonstrate value for money, 
including internal or external sourcing, partnering and collaborative procurement arrangements; 

3.11.5  assess the risks associated with the procurement process and how to manage them; 

3.11.6  consult the  Operational Lead for Delivery and Commercial Services  for all procurement relating 
to the Council’s land and buildings; 

3.11.7  consult end users, internally and externally, about their expectations, the proposed procurement 
method, and expected contract standards and performance; 

3.11.8  consider what terms and conditions (T&Cs) should be used, including use of:- 

3.11.9 Council standard T&Cs for straight forward procurements; 

3.11.10  the most recent edition of professional/industry standard T&Cs where appropriate (e.g. JCT Minor 
Works Contract); 

3.11.11  appropriate levels of insurance in consultation with Finance Specialists; 

3.11.12  specialist T&Cs drafted by Legal Services for more complex, high spend or high risk 
procurements; and 

3.11.13  the T&Cs relating to any framework (if applicable); 

3.11.14 ensure conflicts of interest are identified, including where staff members have, directly or indirectly, 
a financial, economic or other personal interest which might be perceived to compromise their 
impartiality and independence in the procurement process. Any potential conflicts should be 
identified to the Monitoring Officer; and 

3.11.15 set out these matters in writing if the Contract value of the Procurement exceeds £25,000. 

3.12 The Chief Finance Officer will set, from time to time, default levels of insurances 
appropriate for different types of procurement/contracts. These default levels can only be 
reduced with the approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 

4 TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKINGS PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES 

issue a statement on the application of the Acquired 4.1 In all cases where a request for 
Quotation or Invitation to Tender for services may result in a transfer of employees to or from the 
Council the Council will:- 

 Rights Directive(s) and the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment)
Regulations 2006; and

 consult staff who may be affected.

5 NON-COMMERCIAL CONSIDERATIONS, EQUALITIES & COMMUNITY BENEFIT 

5.1 Under procurement law, public bodies are only able to take social and environmental matters into 
account in the decision to award a contract to the extent that those matters are directly relevant to 
the subject matter of the contract. However, in compliance with public procurement law, public 
bodies are now required to consider how social, economic and environmental improvements can be 
achieved through procurement. 

5.2 Inclusion of such criteria in specifications should be undertaken in accordance with the Sustainable 
Procurement & Commissioning Strategy and the Procurement Toolkit. 

Page 94



9 
11/10/2021 

6 RECORDS 

6.1 All contractual documents associated with Requests for Quotations and Tenders from successful 
and unsuccessful suppliers must be retained in accordance with the clauses below:- 

6.1.1 The method for obtaining bids 

6.1.2 copies of public notices 

6.1.3 any Contracting decision including exemptions and the reasons for it 

6.1.4 the shortlisting criteria and scoring 

6.1.5 the Award criteria and scoring 

6.1.6 the reason if the lowest price is not accepted 

6.1.7 Tenders/Quotations returned 

6.1.8 Any post tender interviews and clarifications including written notes of any interviews 

6.1.9 arrangement for contract management and monitoring 

6.1.10 communications with all Candidates and with the successful contractor 

6.1.11 Requisition for Supplies/goods 

6.1.12 Copy orders 

6.1.13 Delivery Notes 

6.1.14 Invoices, credit notes etc 

6.1.15 Price Advices 

6.1.16 Contract Variations 

6.1.17 Write off Approvals 

6.2 A complete set of the original contract and tender documents must also be retained, including 
contract terms and conditions, specification, pricing schedule, evaluation models, 
correspondence and award decision and letter as either electronic or hard copies. All of the 
above will be safely stored on the Council’s e-tendering portal, The Chest when used to 
undertake a procurement exercise. Where there is no requirement under these Rules for a 
formal written contract, then a copy of the original Purchase Order and invoice including 
specification pricing information and correspondence will be kept by the Officer/relevant 
service. Where a contract has a value of over £5,000 a copy of the PO/invoice will be shared 
with Legal Specialists for the purposes of updating the Council’s Contracts Register. 

6.3 Records required by this rule, must be retained in accordance with the Council’s document 
retention policy but in any event must be retained for the following: 

6.3.1 For contracts below £60,000 in total estimated value – 3 years or the lifetime of the contract 

6.3.2 For contracts £60,000 and above – six years after the expiry of the contract 

6.4 The Monitoring Officer shall have overall responsibility to ensure a register (the Contract 
Register) is maintained for all contractual arrangements over £5,000. The Register will be 
continually reviewed and updated in line with all relevant procurement activity, by the 
Monitoring Officer and/or the Procurement & Contracts  Lead. 

7 TENDER PROCEDURE 

7.1 For the purposes of this rule, all estimates of contract values shall be in accordance with the 
procurement toolkit provided that for Disabled Facilities Grants the procedures set out in Rule 24 
(“Disabled Facilities Grants”) shall apply. If for any reason this is not available the estimates are to 
be in writing and prepared by the relevant Director or a competent member of his/her staff. Written 
quotations or tenders are not required for goods, services or works having an estimated value of 
less than £10,000 although best value should be obtained; this can be demonstrated through 
seeking three written quotes. 

Page 95



10 11/10/2021 

7.2 For contracts having an estimated value of £10,000 but not exceeding £60,000 £100,000 quotations 
are obtained from competent contractors through The Chest. A minimum of three quotes should be 
obtained. Where less than three quotes are submitted the authorisation of Chief Finance Officer 
should be obtained before a quotation is accepted. The Chief Finance Office must be satisfied that 
the quotation represents value for money. 

TENDERS (BELOW PROCUREMENT THRESHOLD VALUES) 

7.3 No contract having an estimated value of £60000 100,000 or more but below Procurement 
Threshold values applicable at the time shall be made unless the procedures below are 
undertaken: 

7.3.1 At least fourteen (14) days public notice should be given on The Chest and Contracts Finder 
using the Council’s standard documentation or a variation of such, and stating:- 

 the nature and purpose of the contract;

 inviting tenders for its execution;

 details of the award criterion; and

 the last date for when tenders will be accepted.

Framework agreement 

7.3.2 In accordance with Rule 4 

Pre-Qualification (Selection Questionaire) 

7.3.3 Where application has been invited by Public Notice in accordance with the Rules above, 
the invitation may require a pre-tender assessment (Selection Questionnaire, previously known 
as a Pre- Qualification Questionnaire) to be undertaken and for the invitation to submit a tender 
to be limited to those persons who satisfactorily meet the requirements of that assessment. 

7.3.4 Where this applies the public notice must clearly and unambiguously state this fact. 

7.3.5 The relevant Director shall select not less than 5 contractors from the list who have 
satisfactorily met the pre-qualification criteria to submit a tender. Where less than 5 have 
satisfactorily met the pre-qualification criteria the maximum number of suitable contractors must 
be invited to submit a tender. 

7.3.6 A two stage procurement process including pre-qualification should not be used as standard 
practice but instead when the procurement and contract process is considered high risk. 

7.3.7 The Council shall only enter into a contract with a potential supplier if it is satisfied 
as to the suppliers’:- 

7.3.7.1 eligibility that he/she is not disbarred from tendering; 

7.3.7.2 financial standing; and 

7.3.7.3 overall technical ability. 

Tenders above Procurement threshold values 

7.4 All supplies, services or works having an estimated contract value in excess of the values stipulated 
in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the 
requirements of that legislation. 

7.5 All public notices for such contracts must be in the prescribed form, electronically transmitted via the 
e-tendering portal, The Chest and on Contracts Finder.

7.6 Placement of additional local/national or other public notices must only be made after the 
date of despatch. 

7.7 The advice and assistance of the Procurement & Contracts Manager must be sought 
prior to the despatch of any Notice. 

Page 96



11 11/10/2021 

SECTION 3: CONDUCTING PROCUREMENT AND DISPOSAL 

8 FINANCIAL LIMITS AND THRESHOLDS 

8.1 All requests for quotations, tendering and contracting, other than detailed in Rule 3 Exemptions, 
shall be subject to the thresholds shown in Section 7 (Tender Procedure) above on SharePoint. 

8.2 The Council acting as an ‘Accountable Body’ may be subject to lower financial thresholds than 
specified in Appendix 1 as stipulated by the funding body 

8.3 The Council will regularly review and if appropriate revise the Financial thresholds listed on 
SharePoint. 

9 AWARD CRITERIA 

9.1 The basis of tender acceptance and award must be made clear in the tender documentation. 

Either:- 

 Most Economically Advantageous Tender; or

 Lowest Price where payment is to be made by the Council; or

 Highest Price if payment is to be received. As more fully described here under

9.2 Contracts shall primarily be awarded on the basis of the Most Economically Advantageous Tender 
which is most likely to offer ‘Value for Money’ by a robust assessment of cost and quality. Setting 
evaluation criteria based solely on lowest prices should be done with extreme caution. 

9.3 For contracts having a value in excess of £100,000, or identified as likely to have significant 
environmental impacts(s) the evaluation of cost and quality shall include an assessment of ‘Whole 
Life Costs’ proportional to the value of the relevant goods, works or services. 

9.4 Unless there are exceptional reasons, the weighting given to price shall be between 60% and 
85%. A lower figure than 60% will require the written approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 

9.5 An award on the basis of lowest price should be reserved for sectors where it is possible to 
precisely specify the goods or supplies to be procured or the items are otherwise identical. (For 
example basic gas and electricity supply prices but not where an element of the supply is to be 
from renewable or carbon neutral processes) 

9.6 The award criteria must be established before publication of Invitation to Tender (ITT) and must 
be included in the documentation issued to potential suppliers as part of the tender process. In 
the case of contracts that are estimated to be over the procurement thresholds it is encouraged 
that the evaluation criteria is also published in the initial notice and is required to be included at 
the SQ stage. 

9.7 Award Criteria must not include:- 

 non-Commercial Considerations;

• matters which discriminate against suppliers from the European Economic Area or signatories to
the Government Procurement Agreement; or

• criteria used in selection and award - criteria should be distinguished separately at all times in the
tendering process.

Page 97



12 
11/10/2021 10 QUOTATIONS

10.1 All Requests for Quotations (RFQs) must include a specification that describes the Council’s 
requirements in sufficient detail to enable the submission of competitive offers 

10.2 The Officer must define Award Criteria that are appropriate to the Procurement and designed 
to secure an outcome giving value for money for the Council. 

10.3 All Quotations must specify the terms and conditions of contract that will apply. 

10.4 The Request for Quotation must state that the Council is not bound to accept the lowest or any 
Quote, and reserves the right not to award the Contract at all. 

10.5 All Candidates invited to quote must be issued with the same information at the same time and 
subject to the same conditions via The Chest. Any supplementary information must be given on the 
same basis. 

10.6 Quotations must be returned electronically via the Chest, or where an alternative procedure is 
adopted via email or in writing addressed impersonally to the relevant Director. 

10.7 The Operational or Specialist Lead may accept the most advantageous Quotations received in 
respect of proposed contracts, provided they have been sought and evaluated fully in accordance 
with these Contract Procedure Rules. 

10.8 The authority in 18.7 the preceding paragraph may be subject to delegation for quotations 
under £10,000. However, the decision on acceptance must be taken by an Officer of appropriate 
seniority and experience and must be formally recorded. 

11 INVITATION TO TENDER 

11.1 Any Invitation to Tender issued by the Council shall include details of the Council’s 
requirements for that particular contract including:- 

11.1.1 A description of the supplies, services or works being procured; 

11.1.2 The procurement timetable including tender return date and time. Such date must allow a reasonable 
period for potential suppliers to prepare and submit their tender; 

11.1.3 A specification and instructions on whether variants are permissible; 

11.1.4 The Council’s standard terms and conditions of contract, or other suitably prepared T&Cs with the 
agreement of Legal Services; 

11.1.5 A statement on the Council’s Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy including reference to the 
Whistle-blowing Policy (Confidential Reporting Code) and the Bribery Act 2010; 

11.1.6 The evaluation criteria and any weightings considered appropriate; 

11.1.7 The pricing mechanism and instructions for completion; 

11.1.8 The form and content of any method statements etc. to be submitted; 

11.1.9 A statement that the Council does not bind itself to accept the lowest or any tender; 

11.1.10 A statement that late tenders, incomplete tenders, tenders returned not using the means indicated, 
or where applicable, not returned in the envelope provided or bearing distinguishing marks that 
would identify the sender, or those containing an unauthorised alteration will be disqualified; 

11.1.11 Whether the Council is of the view that the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations 2006 may apply; 

11.1.12 A list of documents to be returned, and the rules for their submission; 

11.1.13 Any further information that will inform and assist those invited to tender to prepare and submit 
tenders; 

11.1.14 A Non-Collusive Tendering Certificate for completion and return by the tenderer; and 

11.1.15 A statement that “The Council does not bind itself to accept the lowest (highest), or any tender” 

11.2 Tenders invited in pursuance of Rule 22(1) of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
shall be returned electronically where the process has taken place via the e-tendering 
portal. 

11.3 Where submissions are required in other formats to support the process on The Chest they 
shall be addressed impersonally to the relevant Director. 

11.4 Tender return envelopes/labels shall be a plain colour. They shall bear the word ‘Tender’ 
followed by the tender subject, and clearly state the deadline for receipt of tenders in the top left 

Page 98



13 
11/10/2021 

hand corner. 

12 SUBMISSION AND RECEIPT OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 

12.1 Candidates must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and submit a proper 
Tender/Quotation, consistent with the complexity of the contract requirement. The procurement 
Procedure lays down specific time periods which are required by law and must be adhered to. 

12.2 Electronic tenders must only be opened after expiry of the closing date in accordance with the 
provisions of Clause 13 (“Opening of Tenders/Quotations”) below. Any opening of tenders prior to 
the tender return deadline will render the tender exercise invalid 

12.3 All tender responses shall be returned via the portal where they will be sealed until after the 
deadline for return has passed when only an appointed verifier can release them. 

12.4 Where a paper-based exercise is followed for quotations under £10,000, quotation envelopes 
on their return shall be date stamped, the time of their return inserted and initialed by the staff who 
first receives them. They will be forwarded to the relevant Director who will store them in a secure 
locked place where they will remain unopened until after the deadline for return has passed. 

13 OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 

13.1 Tenders and Quotations shall be opened at a single time. 

13.2 Where the preferred method of the approved e-tendering portal is followed all quotations shall 
be returned via the portal where they will remain locked until after the final deadline for receipt of 
tenders when only an appointed verifier can release them. 

13.3 The relevant Director and a designated member of his/her staff or two designated members of 
his/her staff shall open written quotations received under any other procedure or in the case of using 
the e- tendering portal an appointed verifier can release them. 

13.4 Where a paper-based exercise has been followed for quotations under £10,000 the Form of 
Tender/Quotation, Non-collusive certificates, form of bond and any priced documents submitted by 
the potential supplier shall be date stamped and those persons present shall insert their initials within 
the stamp. 

13.5 Any Tender/Quotation received after the appointed time for receipt of tenders/quotations for a 
particular contract shall be disqualified, other than under exceptional circumstances, and shall not 
be opened save to ascertain the name of the tenderer/potential supplier to whom it shall be returned 
immediately. The Monitoring Officer must agree if special circumstances apply. The circumstances 
must be recorded on the procurement file and reported to the Procurement Lead. 

13.6 Where this is carried out as a paper-based activity the Tender and Quotation return envelopes, 
or photocopies thereof indicating the date and time of receipt shall be retained as part of the tender 
file. 

Page 99



14 
11/10/2021 

14 CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES 

General 

14.1 Providing clarification of an Invitation to Tender (ITT) to potential or actual Candidates or 
seeking clarification of a Tender is permitted only via The Chest. 

14.2 The Council may seek clarification via The Chest from potential suppliers in respect of 
their offer where appropriate. However the same opportunity must be afforded to all potential 
suppliers to ensure a transparent, non-discriminatory process that affords equality of 
opportunity. 

14.3 Any question points of clarification must be raised by potential suppliers via The Chest. 
Questions shall be answered promptly and only via The Chest. The same information must also 
be communicated in writing to all other potential tenderers to ensure transparency and equality. 
Consideration must be given to extending the timescales for submission if material clarifications 
are sought, particularly if clarifications are issued within 6 days of the submission deadline. 

Post Tender 

14.4 Discussions with Tenderers after submission of a Tender and before the award of a contract 
with a view to obtaining adjustments in price, delivery or content must be the exception rather than 
the rule and be within the scope of the contract. 

14.5 Post tender discussions may only be conducted in circumstances which do not put other 
tenderers at a disadvantage, distort competition or affect adversely the integrity of the competitive 
tendering process. 

14.6 Where during the tender evaluation process, examination of the most favourable tender or 
quotation reveals errors or discrepancies, which affect the tender/quotation figure the following 
process shall be followed:- 

14.6.1 If the errors or discrepancies are of an arithmetic nature that results in the tender figure being 
reduced from that submitted, the tenderer etc. will be informed of the errors or discrepancies 
involved and that the Council intends to treat the tender figure as reduced to reflect the true 
arithmetic value of the tender/quotation; 

14.6.2   If the errors or discrepancies are of an arithmetic nature that results in the tender figure being 
increased from that submitted, the tenderer etc. will be informed of the errors or discrepancies 
involved and afforded the opportunity to confirm the tender/quotation figure at the original 
submitted price or to withdraw the tender/quotation offer; 

14.6.3  In all other circumstances, the tenderer etc. is to be given details of the errors or discrepancies 
and afforded the opportunity to confirm the tender/quotation figure or withdraw the offer. 

14.6.4 A reviewed tender price cannot be submitted by the tenderer at this stage unless the competitive 
procedure with negotiation procedure is being followed. 

14.6.5 If a tenderer etc. withdraws an offer as a result of 15.6.2 or 15.6.3 above the next most favourable 
tender shall be examined and treated in the same manner. 

14.7 Where post-tender discussions result in a fundamental change to the specification, scope or 
contract terms, the contract must not be awarded, but re-tendered. 

15 EVALUATION 

15.1 Evaluation means assessment of tenders submitted against published selection and award 
criteria. Evaluation must only be against the published criteria, any other assessment which has 
not been stated on commencement of the procurement is against the principles of fairness and 
transparency. 

15.2 Apart from any debriefing required or permitted by these Contract Procedure Rules, the 
confidentiality of Quotations, Tenders and the identity of Candidates must be preserved at all 
times and information about one Candidate’s response must not be given to another Candidate. 
This is subject to the requirements of legislation, for example the Freedom of Information Act 
2000. 

15.3 Evaluation of the tenders must be carried out by a minimum of two officers of sufficient 
seniority, skill, knowledge and experience. The evaluation must be carried out collectively and fully 
documented. 

Page 100



15 11/10/2021 

15.4 The arithmetic in compliant Tenders must be checked. If arithmetical errors are found they 
should be corrected and notified to the Tenderer, who should be requested to confirm whether 
they wish their Tender to be evaluated with the amended amount or whether they wish to withdraw 
their Tender. 

15.5 Where no tenders are fully compliant with the specification, the advice of the Procurement 
Team must be sought. 

16 AWARD 

16.1 The most favourable tender or quotation may only be accepted where there is adequate 
provision in the Revenue estimates approved by the Council or an approved Capital Estimate. 

16.2 The most advantageous Quotations and Tenders received in respect of proposed contracts 
may only be accepted provided they have been sought and evaluated fully in accordance with 
these Contract Procedure Rules. 

16.3 Where tenders are to be accepted these must be done in accordance with the financial 
thresholds information, see Appendix 1 held on SharePoint. 

16.4 Where the most favourable tender received is unacceptable, exceeds the budget provision, 
despite any adjustments that may be permitted under the Invitation to Tender and these Rules, a 
report on all tenders for that particular contract, and the options available shall be made to the 
Cabinet or relevant Council Committee for consideration and decision. 

16.5 Where the most favourable quotation received is unacceptable, exceeds the budget 
provision, despite any adjustments that may be permitted under the Request for Quotation and 
these Rules, a report on all quotations and the options available shall be prepared by the Assistant 
Director Lead/Operational Specialist for consideration and decision by the relevant Director. 

16.6 Where a payment is proposed to be made to the Council, and the most favourable 
tender/quotation is unacceptable, or it is proposed to accept other than the most favourable 
tender/quotation a report shall be made on all tenders or quotation as described in 25.4 and 25.5 
respectively. 

16.7 At the conclusion of the tender exercise, having an estimated value above procurement 
threshold values, and prior to any award being made, there shall be a minimum 10-day standstill 
period during which unsuccessful suppliers shall be debriefed in writing. No information, other than 
the following, should be given without taking the advice of the Monitoring Officer: 

 The criteria and weightings

 The score of the bidder, the score of the winning bidder and the score of the other bidders
which must be kept anonymous

 The name of the winning bidder

 The reasons for the decision, including the characteristics and relative advantages of the
winning tender

16.8 If formal objections to the intended award are raised the Officer shall not award the
contract and immediately consult the Monitoring Officer and the Procurement & Contracts
Manager.

16.9 For below procurement  threshold procurement exercises suppliers shall be debriefed as to
the outcome of the exercise taking into account the same principles of openness and
transparency.

16.10 Acceptance of other than the most economic advantageous Tender must be authorised as follows: 

 Up to Tender Threshold

By the Operational or Specialist Lead. This authority will not be subject to delegation. Full details of 
the reasons for the decision must be recorded, signed by the Service Director and forwarded to 
the Procurement Team to be held on file. 

 Tender Threshold to Procurement Threshold

By the Delegated Executive Decision, based on the formal recommendation of the Director. Full 
details of the reasons for the decision must be recorded and held on file. 

Page 101



16 
11/10/2021 

 Over Procurement Threshold

By the Cabinet, based on a formal detailed report submitted by the relevant Director. 

 Where the tender is covered by the Public Contract Regulations Procurement Directives, then
acceptance must comply with these.

17 EXEMPTIONS 

17.1 Subject to compliance with applicable legislation, Nothing in these Rules shall require written 
quotations or tenders to be invited if:- 

(a) the contract is with professional persons for the provision of services where the personal skill of
those persons is of primary importance; or

(b) for other reasons certified by the relevant Director there would be no genuine competition; or

(c) the contract is for the execution of work, the supply of goods, or services certified by the relevant
Director as being required so urgently as not to permit the invitation of quotations or tenders; or

(d) the works to be executed or the goods, works or services fall within the scope of the existing contract;
an extension of an existing contract as stated in the initial contract agreement; or

(e) the works to be executed or the goods, works or services fall within the scope of an existing contract
where there is a genuinely justifiable case to use the existing contract to maintain continuity of
supply. Extensions will not be considered where to do so would breach  applicable legislation
Procurement legislation and UK legislation; or

(f) the goods, services or works are proprietary or of such a specialised nature that they can only be
obtained from one particular supplier; or are sold only at a fixed price and no reasonably satisfactory
alternative is available; or

Exceptions

(g) the purchase is through an alternative contract or Framework Agreement or Dynamic Purchasing
Systems  available to the Council and which has been put together as a result of a lawfully tendered
competition; or

(h) the total estimated value is less than £10,000 although obtaining quotes to ensure best value is
encouraged. Where quotations have been sought they should be retained in a format agreed by the
Procurement Lead specialist. These contracts should be in the standard terms and conditions that
have been approved by Legal services; or

(i) the contract is for a Disabled Facilities grant and Rule 23 (“Disabled Facilities’ Grants”) is followed;
or

(j) the prices of the goods or materials are wholly controlled by trade organisations or Government
Order and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is available; or

(k) a purchase is to be made at a public auction, provided that the person bidding is satisfied that the
cost of the purchase is reasonable compared to the cost of alternative methods of purchase; or that
such procurements that fall under the control of specific legislation such as the Disabled Facilities
Grant (DFG) and Apprenticeship schemes. That the  procurement of such service is controlled by
the relevant legislation

17.2 Rule 3.6 applies in relation to decision making for exemptions. 

17.3 The Procurement Specialist, Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer must be 
consulted before an exemption or exception is agreed by the relevant Director under clause 17s. 
These exemptions and exceptions will be included in the Procurement Schedule and , will be 
reported to Cabinet by the relevant Director as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process 
to the next available meeting. Exception can be implemented by Administrative DDecision, 
exemptions and waivers can be implemented dependent on the financial threshold in accordance 
with 3.6.. These exemptions and exceptions must be obtained prior to the agreement of any 
contractual agreement with a supplier. 

18 Waiving the Rules 

18.1 Any waiving of the of these R rules must be completed and authorised prior to the 
commencement of agreeing any contractual agreement with any supplier 

18.2 Subject to UK applicable  law any of these Rules may be waived in consultation with the

Procurement Specialist and the Chief Finance Officer. Waivers should be included in the 
Procurement Schedule to be approved by Council as part of the budget setting process.  

Page 102



17 11/10/2021 

18.3 In the event of waivers being obtained and not included in the Procurement Schedule then 
these waivers must be reported to the first available Cabinet detailing the reasoning why obtained 
by the relevant officer  

18.4 If this is not possible, waivers shall be approved by the Monitoring Officer where they are 
satisfied that to do so is justified in special circumstances and those special circumstances and the 
advantages and disadvantages of the alternative options are identified.  

18.5 Waivers should be reported to the next meeting of the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the 
Council if over £10,000 or above, or by the relevant Director as part of the Corporate Financial 
Monitoring process if less than £10,000.  

18.6 Waivers relating to insurance claims where the procurement requirements of the insurer have 
been followed will only need to be reported as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process 
even if over £100,000. 

18.7 All waivers will be recoded centrally in a format agreed by the Procurement Specialist. 

19 FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 

19.1 The Council authority has access to numerous frameworks that we can call on for the delivery of 
services. 

19.2 The frameworks are both external and internal. The framework can be accessed by the authority. 

19.3 The use of Frameworks must be approved by the Procurement specialist in conjunction with Legal 
Sservices to ensure that the objectives and use of the framework is suitable for the council to 
adopt   

19.4 There are one or more suitable suppliers who are party to the framework; 

19.5 An options appraisal proportionate to the contract value has been conducted to ensure the council 
is obtaining best value; 

19.6 The duration of any call off contract that results is calculated to take account of the nature and 
volatility of the market for the goods, works or services that are being procured; 

19.7 All framework instructions are complied with, such as those relating to:- 

 which organisations can access the framework;

 use of direct award or mini competition;

 terms and conditions; and

 contract duration;

19.8 The use of the Framework Agreement is recorded in the electronic Contract Register. This
should include framework reference numbers, lot numbers and the name and company
registration number (where appropriate) of the supplier.

20 CONSORTIA 

20.1 Where the Council joins one or more bodies/contracting authorities in a consortium or 
partnership and the contract is being tendered and awarded by that consortium or partnership, 
the Council shall not be required to invite further tenders, provided that these Rules have been 
followed to the extent that they are not inconsistent with the procedure(s) adopted by that 
consortium or partnership for awarding contracts. 

21 COLLABORATIVE CONTRACTS (EXCLUDING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS) 

21.1 In order to secure Value for Money, the Council may enter into collaborative procurement 
arrangements. This may be with or through another local authority, government department, 
statutory undertaker or public service purchasing consortium. 

21.2 The views of the relevant Portfolio Holder shall be sought before any decision is made as to 
whether to enter into collaborative procurement arrangements. 

21.3 Before undertaking a collaborative agreement, Officers should obtain advice from the Legal 

Specialist and the contact the Procurement Specialist. Fundamentally it is the responsibility of the 
lead authority putting in place a collaborative procurement process or framework agreement to 
ensure the process is fully compliant with all relevant procurement legislation. However, the Council 
has a clear responsibility not to utilise any contractual agreement which is not fully compliant and 
can be held accountable should they do so. 

21.4 Where collaborative agreements are entered into the Officer must:- 

Page 103



18 11/10/2021 

 clarify who is the contracting authority;

 ensure there is a legal agreement that protects the interests of the Council, which may include
the use of a memorandum of agreement;

 ensure that where the overall contract values are above Procurement Thresholds the
contract was let in accordance with procurement procedures and that any procurement
activity below the Pprocurement Thresholds is conducted with due regard to the procurement
based principles; and

 ensure that the duration of any call off contract is calculated to take account of the nature
and volatility of market for the goods, works or services being procured.

22 PARTNERSHIPS 

22.1 Whenever the Council enters into a formal partnership the Council will ensure 
gGovernance arrangements are agreed in writing and include tendering responsibilities 
and arrangements. 

22.2 Where the Council acts as Lead Authority in the partnership these Contract Procedure Rules 
shall whenever practicable be followed. 

22.3 Before entering into contracts, written agreements shall be made with funding partners regarding 
the level of and conditions attached to any funding. 

22.4 Where the Council is not the lead Authority partner, the tendering procedure rules agreed by 
the partnership shall be followed. 

23 DISABLED FACILITIES’ GRANTS (“DFGsS”) 

23.1 DFGs help to fund adaptations to enable people to stay living in their home increased 
independence – safety and minimising the effects of disability, enabling the carer to continue to 
care and prevention of admission to more institutional care. Adaptations can include but are not 
limited to stair lifts, wet floor level access shower areas and access ramps etc.  

23.2 Contracts for DFGs must be entered into in line with the Council’s DFG Policy and DFG 
Procedure as updated from time to time. The DFG Policy states that the Council will complete the 
paperwork with the contractor on behalf of, and as the agent for, the applicant in accordance with 
the DFG Procedure. This means that even though the Council signs the paperwork with the 
contractor, and in most cases makes payment to the contractor on the client’s applicant’s behalf, 
the contract agreement is between the applicant and contractor, and that the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 (as amended) do not apply to these contracts, because the Council is not a 
party to the contract acting in its own capacity.  

23.3 As at the date of the introduction of this Rule 23 into these Contract Procedure Rules: 

23.3.1 in accordance with Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 (as amended) 
an application for a grant must contain at least two estimates from different contractors of the 
cost of carrying out the relevant works, unless the Council as the local housing authority 
otherwise directs in any particular case; 

23.3.2 the Council’s position is that at least two estimates from different contractors shall be obtained 
for the relevant works in all cases, irrespective of the value or the anticipated value of the 
relevant works;  

23.3.3 the DFG Policy sets out the Council’s requirements for obtaining quotes, which will usually be 
under a framework. Where quotes are being obtained under a framework the rules of the 
framework must be followed. Where works are not covered by the framework quotes must be 
obtained through the Council’s tendering portal (the Chest) seeking at least two competitive 
tenders. 

23.3.4 Where the applicant seeks their own contractor to carry out works required – the applicant is 
to source at least two comparable quotes. 

23.4 These Contract Procedure Rules shall be updated in line with any changes to the legislation 
or government guidance applicable to DFGs. 

24 ACCOUNTABLE BODY 

24.1 Tendering arrangements must conform with this Council’s and any appointed partner(s) 
Contract Procedure Rules, and be capable of providing evidence of this to the Council, its 
agents and auditors. 

N.B. Failure to follow the funding body’s tendering rule is likely to result in funds being clawed 
back, leading to a potential budget deficit to be financed by the Council 

Page 104



19 
11/10/2021 

25 E-PROCUREMENT 

25.1 The use of e-procurement technology does not negate the requirement to comply with all 
elements of these Contract Procedure Rules, particularly those relating to competition and Value 
for Money. 

26 RELEVANT CONTRACTS 

26.1  All Relevant Contracts must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules. A Relevant 
Contract is any arrangement made by, or on behalf of, the Council, other than those in 10.2 
above.below. 

26.2 Relevant Contracts do not include: 

 contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of the Council, or

 agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (for which the
Financial Framework shall apply).

26.3 Providing Services to External Organisations

26.4 The Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer, Directors as appropriate, Financial 
Services (insurance) and the Procurement Specialist must be consulted where contracts to 
work for organisations other than the Council are contemplated. 

SECTION 4: CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES 

27 CONTRACT FORMALITIES 

27.1 All contracts having an estimated total value of £25,00010,000 and above, and any other case 
where the Monitoring Officer so decides shall be in writing. 

27.2 Every such contract entered into on behalf of the Council shall be in a form approved by the 
Monitoring Officer and shall be signed by two duly authorised officers of the Council or the 
Monitoring Officer or made under the common seal of the Council attested by at least one officer 
in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. The Monitoring Officer will specify when electronic 
signatures are appropriate. 

27.3 Contract formalities must be carried out and completed to the satisfaction of the Monitoring 
Officer before the contractor commences any work under the contract. 

27.4 Every such contract shall include:- 

27.4.1 The supplies, services or works to be furnished/delivered, had or done [including appropriate 
technical specification]; 

27.4.2 The price to be paid with a statement of any discounts or other deductions; 

27.4.3 Payment terms which should normally state payment in arrears. However where payment in 
advance is necessary the rationale for this should be fully documented, and where payments in 
advance exceed £10,000 a documented risk assessment must be approved by the relevant 
Operational or Specialist Lead unless the supply relates to computer software. 

27.4.4 The time or times within which the contract is to be performed/undertaken; 

27.4.5 Valid copies of the minimum appropriate insurance to be held by the contractor at the 
commencement of the contract and on each subsequent anniversary; 

27.4.6 Clauses(s) for the way in which any arbitration is to proceed under the contract; 

27.4.7 A clause prohibiting the contractor from transferring, assigning (directly or indirectly) to any person 
whatsoever, any portion of the contract without the prior written permission of the Council, or from 
subletting any portion of the contract without such permission other than may be customary in the 
trade concerned; 

27.4.8 In every contract for the execution of works or the supply of goods and materials and in every 
contract where the estimated value exceeds £60,000 (except where the contract is entered into 
under partnering arrangements) there shall be a consideration of the need for liquidated damages. 
Where it is considered that provision should be made for liquidated damages, the requirement and 
amount of such provision shall be determined in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer who 
shall consider the nature of the contract and its associated risks. The calculation shall be recorded 
and filed with the contract documents; 

27.4.9 A clause stating the retention of any appropriate amount determined following consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer that will be withheld until clearance of the Final Account. 

27.4.10 That all goods, materials and workmanship must be at least to the standard specified having regard 

Page 105



20 
11/10/2021 

to the relevant European, British or equivalent body, and must otherwise be fit for purpose; 

27.4.11 A clause empowering the Council to cancel the contract and to recover from the contractor the 
amount of any loss resulting from such cancellation, if the contractor shall have offered or given or 
agreed to give any person any gift, consideration or any kind of inducement or reward for doing or 
forbearing to do or to have done any action in relation to obtaining or execution of the contract with 
the Council; 

27.4.12 A clause empowering the Council to cancel the contract and recover from the contractor the amount 
of any loss resulting from such cancellation if the contractor or any person employed by him/her or 
acting on his behalf shall have committed any offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or shall have given 
any fee or reward, the receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 

27.4.13 A clause prohibiting the Contractor from transferring or assigning, directly or indirectly, any portion 
of the contract to any person or organisation without the express written consent of the Council. 

27.4.14 A clause that the contractor, his staff, agents and any sub-contractors are required to comply with 
the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption, Modern Slavery, Safeguarding, Prevent, GDPR procedures 
and the Whistle-blowing Policy (Confidential Reporting Code) or equivalent for reporting any such 
events. A copy of the Whistle-blowing policy currently applicable shall be included in the schedule of 
documents of the Invitation to Tender under clauses The Policies will be available on the Chest along 
with the Invitation to Tender documents. 

27.5 A clause that the contractor will comply with the provisions of: 

 The Council’s Equality and Diversity Policy including requirements of the Equality Act 2010;

 All obligations of the Council under the Human Rights legislations;

 All restrictions and requirements of the Council under Data Protection legislation;

 All restrictions and requirements that may be imposed on the Council under the Freedom
of Information Act 2000; and

 The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 and any other legislation made thereunder or relevant
to the health and safety of employees.

 The TUPE requirements (where applicable).

27.6 Where a formal contract is not required the Director or relevant officer will notify acceptance 
in writing to the successful contractor and place the necessary order. This must include the 
Council’s relevant standard terms and conditions. 

27.7 Where the annual amount spent with any one contractor or on any one specific type of 
goods, works or services exceeds £25,000 and outside an existing contractual agreement, a 
review must be carried out to assess the procurement method and a formal contractual agreement 
put in place. 

Sub Contractors 

27.8 Where any sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated to a main contractor/supplier for 
the execution of a contract with the Council, these Contract Procedure Rules shall apply as if 
the Council was entering into a direct contract with the sub-contractor or supplier. 

27.9 Details of contracts must be entered on the Council’s contracts register 

28 SAFEGUARDS FOR DUE PERFORMANCE 

Liquidated Damages 

28.1 Every written contract must, where appropriate, provide for the payment of liquidated 
damages by the contractor in the event of his default. 

28.2 The level of damages required will be determined by the relevant Director, in consultation 
with the Chief Finance Officer. 

Failure to Deliver  

28.3 In every contract for the execution of work, supply of goods, materials or services where 
appropriate having an estimated value of £25,000 and above a clause shall be inserted to secure 
that, should the contractor fail to deliver the goods, materials or execute the service or works or 
any part or portion thereof within the time or times specified in the contract, the Council, may without 
prejudice to any other remedy for breach of contract, either wholly or in part, or to the extent of 
such default, and to provide for the execution of the work or service by other means, or to purchase 
other goods or materials, as the case may be make good 

 Such default; or

Page 106



21 
11/10/2021 

 In the event of the contracts being wholly determined, the unexecuted work or service or the
goods or materials to be delivered

28.4 The clause shall further secure that the amount by which the cost of providing for the execution 
of the work or service by other means, or the purchasing of other goods or materials, exceeds the 
amount which would have been payable to the contractor had he executed the contract, or portion 
thereof, within the time or times specified therein, shall be payable by the contractor. 

Performance Bonds 

28.5 The use of and level of, retentions on other contracts shall be agreed with the Chief Finance 
Officer prior to the publication of the proposed terms and conditions within the tender documents. 
Performance Bonds will normally only be applied to building and facilities contracts. 

28.6 The Council shall require and take sufficient security for the due performance of all contracts 
exceeding £60,000 where appropriate. For works contracts the amount of security shall be the 
retention of 10% of the contract sum during the life of the contract, such retention to be released 
on issue of the certificate of practical completion of the contract. 

28.7 In any particular contract or class of contract the Chief Finance Officer may decide that the 
Council’s interest in the proper performance of the contract can be appropriately protected by 
specifying and taking a different form of security 

29 PREVENTION OF CURRUPTION 

29.1 The Officer must comply with the Code of Conduct and must not invite or accept any gift or 
reward in respect of the award or performance of any contract. High standards of conduct are 
obligatory. It will be for the Officer to prove that anything received was not received corruptly. 
Corrupt behaviour is a crime under the statutes referred to in this Rule 27.2 below and is likely to 
lead to disciplinary action. 

29.2 The following clause must be put in every written Council contract (excluding framework call-
offs):- 

“The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the Contractor/Supplier, its 
employees or anyone acting on the Contractor/Supplier’s behalf do any of the following things: 

29.2.1 offer, give or agree to give to anyone any inducement or reward in respect of this or 
any other Council contract (even if the Contractor / Supplier does not know what has been 
done); or 

29.2.2 commit an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 or the Bribery 
Act 2010; or 

29.2.3 commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council order or contract whether 
alone or in conjunction with Council Members, contractors, suppliers, or employees. 

27.3 Any clause limiting the Contractor’s liability shall not apply to this clause.” 
27.4 Where a supplier’s standard terms and conditions are being used they must contain the equivalent 

of this clause. 

30 DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

30.1 Every Officer and Member of the Council has a responsibility to declare any links or 
personal interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers and /or contractors if they are 
engaged in contractual or purchasing decisions on behalf of the Council, in accordance with the 
applicable Codes of Conduct. 

SECTION 5: CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

31 MANAGING CONTRACTS 

Freedom of information 

31.1 The Council shall fulfil its obligations under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (as 
amended) in respect of any application made under the Act in relation to the contracts it has 
entered into and the manner in which the contract was procured. 

Statistics 

31.2 The Procurement Specialist or such other officer nominated by the Chief Finance Officer 
shall be responsible for ensuring the Council meets its reporting requirements  Rules required 
by the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities or others. 

31.3 Directors and Operational and Specialist Leads shall upon request of the nominated 

Page 107



22 11/10/2021 

officer provide the details and any information necessary to complete these returns with the 
minimum of delay. 

Extensions 

31.4 A contract for goods, services or works shall only be extended where the contract terms 
and conditions expressly provide for an option for extension. Requests for extensions should 
consider both the cumulative contract value and the period of the contract. 

31.5 Any such extension shall be considered where the contract:- 

31.5.1 has been successful in demonstrating performance targets identified in the original 
contract were met; 

31.5.2 will demonstrate Service Improvement or innovative service delivery processes; 

31.5.3 is able to demonstrate that such extension will deliver Value for Money; or 

31.5.4 where there is a genuinely justifiable case to extend to maintain continuity of 
supply or site experience. 

31.6 Any such extension shall be subject to: - 

 adequate budget provision;

 the extension being priced at the original contract rates subject to any adjustment mechanism set
out in the contract;

 the agreement of the supplier; and

 compliance with  Procurement legislation.

31.7 Any proposed contract extension shall be approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

Consultants 

31.8 It shall be a condition of the appointment and engagement of the services of any consultant, 

not being an officer of the Council, who is to be responsible to the Council for the supervision 

of a contract, or design of any scheme etc. on behalf of the Council that: -the appointment will 

be undertaken in accordance with these Rules which includes the use of appropriate framework 

agreements; 

 consideration will be given to any requirement for vetting, data protection, intellectual property
rights etc.;

 consideration will be given to the most appropriate form of payment, including based on
inputs (usually time) or output based;

 the consultant will be prohibited from bidding for the work, service etc. and any subsequent
stage unless this was the specific purpose of their appointment;

 that in supervising any contract on behalf of the Council the Consultant shall comply with these
Rules as though he/she was a Director of the Council, subject to the modification that the
procedure to be followed in inviting and opening tenders shall be approved in advance by the
relevant Director;

 at any time during the period of carrying out the contract procedure during his/her appointment,
the Consultant shall produce to the Chief Finance Officer or authorised representative, on
request, all the records maintained by him/her in relation to the contract; and

 On completion of the appointment/contract he/she shall without delay transmit all records in
relation to any contract to the relevant Director.

32 RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING 

32.1 For all contracts, contract managers must:- 

 maintain a risk register during the contract period;

 undertake appropriate risk assessments; and

 ensure contingency measures are in place for identified risks

33 CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW 

33.1 Each Director responsible for the awarding of contracts, which provide for payment to be 
made by instalments, shall arrange for the keeping of a register, to the satisfaction of the Chief 

Page 108



23 
11/10/2021 

Finance Officer, to show the state of account on each contract between the Council and a 
contractor, together with any other payments and related professional fees. 

33.2 Payments to contractors on account of contracts shall be made only on a certificate 
issued by the relevant person. 

33.3 Subject to the provision of the contract in each case, every variation shall be authorised 
in writing by the relevant person. Each variation shall include an estimate of the increase or 
reduction in cost arising from that variation of the contract. Any variations must be within the 
scope of the contract. 

33.4 When the net effect of such variations exceeds the following limits, this shall be reported 
as soon as possible to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council: 

33.5 for contracts up to £100,000 (in amount or budgetary provision) – 3% of the contract 
sum or budgetary provision (but not less than £1,000) 

33.6 for contracts in excess of £100,000 (in amount or budgetary provision) - £3,000 + 1.5% 
of the excess of the contract sum or budgetary provision over £100,000. 

33.7 Provided that it shall not be necessary to report such net effect in the case of contracts 
undertaken under agency or contractual arrangements on behalf of another local or public 
authority where that authority has approved the cost of the variation. 

33.8 Where the relevant person issues a certificate and the amount to be paid on that 
certificate, when added to amounts previously certified for payment, would result in the 
contract sum or budgetary provision being exceeded, then the certificate shall be 
accompanied by a report fully explaining the position from the relevant person to the Chief 
Finance Officer. 

33.9 The final certificate of completion of any contract shall not be issued until the relevant 
person has produced to the Chief Finance Officer a detailed final statement of account and all 
relevant documents, if required. The Chief Finance Officer shall, to the extent that is 
considered necessary, examine final accounts for contracts and shall be entitled to make all 
such enquiries and receive such information and explanations as may be required in order to 
be satisfied as to the accuracy of the accounts. 

33.10 Every works contract and every other contract which is estimated to exceed £60,000 in 
value or amount shall, where appropriate, include provision for liquidated damages, except 
where the contract is a partnering contract entered into under the Council’s procurement 
policy. Where there has been a delay in the completion of a contract and an extension of time 
is not appropriate to be authorised, the relevant person shall impose the liquidated damages 
clause in all instances, unless, after consultation with the Monitoring Officer, it is decided it is 
inappropriate to do so. 

33.11 A report as to final costs under each contract shall, after agreement of the final account, 
be incorporated into the Post Implementation Review submitted to the Senior Management 
Team, Cabinet or relevant Committee by the appropriate Director after consultation with the 
Chief Finance Officer. 

33.12 Claims from contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the term of any existing 
contract shall be referred to the Monitoring Officer for consideration of the Council’s legal 
liability and, where necessary, to the Chief Finance Officer for financial consideration, before a 
settlement is reached. 

33.13 Where a contractor enters into liquidation or receivers are appointed or the contractor 
makes arrangement or composition with his/her creditors, the relevant person shall report the 
full circumstances in writing to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council as soon as 
they are known to him/her. 

Page 109



24 
11/10/2021  34 GLOSSARY 

Procurement Schedule 

A plan identifying the projects and contracts that are expected to be procured during the financial 
year. Where possible the Procurement Schedule should also identify the lead officer and an outline 
timetable. This should be signed-off by the relevant Operational and Specialist Lead, Directors and 
Council at the beginning of each financial year. 

Contract Period 

The period over which a contract is delivered. The period determined must comply with European 
and National legislation, allow for continuous improvement, enable appropriate exit strategies, and 
enable the contract to be packaged to encourage delivery in the most cost effective manner 

Contracts Register 

The register held by the Council containing of all written contracts entered into by the Council. 

E-Procurement / e-tendering

An electronic procurement process using proprietary software or media to enable the 
tender/quotation process to be undertaken electronically. It provides all the controls applicable to 
manual tendering as required by these rules. 

Procurement Regulations 

The Legislation setting out the defined mandatory procurement procedures that must be followed 
when procuring supplies, services or works above the pre-determined threshold values in force for 
the time being that are. 

Statutory-based Principles 

The principles  which impact on all procurement regardless of value. These must be adhered to 
and include principles of equality, non-discrimination, transparency, mutual recognition and 
proportionality. 

Framework Agreement 

Contracts awarded following a compliant tender exercise that provides for the ‘call-off’ of supplies, 
services or works against a supplier. The Framework provides a non-binding offer without 
obligation; a binding contract coming into effect once the Council initiates a ‘call-off’ 

ITT 

Invitation to Tender 

OJEU 

Official Journal of the European Union. The advertising medium for tenders above  procurement 
threshold values or the UK equivalent 

Officers  

Shall include, Directors, Lead Specialists and Specialists 

Directors shall mean the Director of Customers and Commercial Services and / or the Director of 
Innovation and Resources, 

Performance Bond 

Applicable to contracts over £60,000 in value where there are potentially high levels of risk. The 
Council seeks security to mitigate such risk, and this is normally in the form of a parent company 
guarantee or a Performance Bond. The use of, and level of, retentions on other contracts shall be 
agreed with the Chief Finance Officer prior to the publication of the proposed terms and conditions 
within the tender documents. Performance Bonds will normally only be applied to building and 
facilities contracts. 

Procurement 

The mechanism and processes by which the Council acquires the supplies (goods), services and 
works necessary to achieve delivery of its objectives. It will include all associated performance 
measurement, monitoring and other controls necessary to complete such delivery. 

Procurement Cards 

Approved purchasing cards generally used as a mechanism for ordering and invoicing low value 
goods and services. Purchasing Cards are not credit cards. 

Page 110



25 
11/10/2021 

Procurement Thresholds 

The thresholds that apply for the purposes of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Utilities 
Contracts Regulations 2016, Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 and the Defence and 
Security Public Procurement Regulations 2011. 

Regulations/PCR2015 

The UK regulations implementing the EU public procurement directives, currently the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015. 

RFQ 

Request for Quotation 

Risk Management 

Risks associated with procurement exercises shall be identified, assessed and managed 

Supplier 

Any person, firm, organisation or body providing or potentially providing supplies (goods) services 
or works to the Council. 

Value for Money 

The optimum combination of quality and cost taking into account ‘whole life costs’. 

Whole Life Costs 
The costs associated with a procurement from the initial definition of need to the actual 

procurement of the supplies services or works their delivery and operation through to the end 

of the useful life and/or disposal. 

THE COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH A PROCUREMENT FORM THE INITIAL DEFINITION OF 
NEED, TO THE ACTUAL PROCUREMENT OF THE SUPPLIES, SERVICES OR WORKS, THEIR 
DELIVERY AND OPERATION THROUGH TO THE END OF THE USEFUL LIFE AND/OR 
DISPOSAL. 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 112



Procurement and Contract Requirements

Standard Procurement Requirements: All Procurements should be oon the Procurement Schedule and on  the Forward Plan ( if applicable in advance of the approval oThe date for the Cabinet decision should be inserted on the FP 

Contract Value from 
(excluding VAT)

Contract Value 
from (excluding 

VAT) Procurment Requirement Contract Requirement Forward Plan ‐ Single Ward Forward Plan ‐ 2 or more Wards Acceptance Contract Retention Other
£0 £10,000 Quotes Purchase Order Not needed Not needed Admin Decision : Lead Specialist  3 years or lifetime of contract

(Above) 10000 £25,000 Written quotations Purchase Order Procurement Schedule Only Individual item on Forward Plan Admin Decision: Lead Specialist  3 years or lifetime of contract
(Above )£25,000 £60,000 Written quotations Written contract Procurement Schedule Only Individual item on Forward Plan Admin Decision: Director 3 years or lifetime of contract
(Above  ) £60,000 £100,000 Written quotations Sealed contract Procurement Schedule Only Individual item on Forward Plan Delegated Executive Decision: Director only 6 years from expiry of contract Include liquidated damages where appropriate
(Above ) £100,000 £250,000 Tender Sealed contract Individual item on Forward Plan Individual item on Forward Plan Delegated Executive Decision: Portfolio Holder  6 years from expiry of contract Include liquidated damages where appropriate

Tender Sealed contract Individual item on Forward Plan Individual item on Forward Plan Cabinet   ( then implemented by Admin decision )  6 years from expiry of contract Include liquidated damages where appropriate

Matters Considered by Director / MO / S151 to be obligatory for all procurement concerning:
Matters outside the normal pattern of contracting or service
New partnerships
Matters not listed on the Procurement Schedule

to consider the appropriate approval requirements.

Exemptions:  written quotations or tenders are not required if: 
(a) the total estimated value is less than £10,000 although obtaining quotes to ensure best value is encouraged. Where quotations have been sought they should be retained in a format agreed by the Procurement Specialist; or
(b) the goods, services or works are proprietary or of such a specialised nature that they can only be obtained from one particular supplier; or are sold only at a fixed price and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is available; or
(c) the prices of the goods or materials are wholly controlled by trade organisations or Government Order and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is available; or
(d) a purchase is to be made at a public auction, provided that the person bidding is satisfied that the cost of the purchase is reasonable compared to the cost of alternative methods of purchase; or
(e) the purchase is through an alternative contract or Framework Agreement available to the Council and which has been put together as a result of a lawfully tendered competition; or
(f) the contract is with professional persons for the provision of services where the personal skill of those persons is of primary importance; or
(g) for other reasons certified by the relevant Director there would be no genuine competition; or
(h) the contract is for the execution of work, the supply of goods, or services certified by the relevant Director as being required so urgently as not to permit the invitation of quotations or tenders; or
(i) the works to be executed or the goods, works or services fall within the scope of the existing contract; an extension of an existing contract as stated in the initial contract agreement; or

Waivers and Exemptions must follow these requirements:

Contract Value from 
(excluding VAT)

Contract Value 
from (excluding 

VAT)
Standard Procurment 
Requirement

Standard Contract 
Requirement Forward Plan ‐ Single Ward Forward Plan ‐ 2 or more Wards Consultation / agreement of Approval of Waiver or Exemption:

£0 £10,000 Quotes Purchase Order Not needed Not needed N/a Admin Decision: Lead Specialist 
£10,000 £25,000 Written quotations Purchase Order Procurement Schedule Only Individual item on Forward Plan Procurement Specialist / Specialist Legal Admin Decision: Lead Specialist 
£25,000 £60,000 Written quotations Written contract Procurement Schedule Only Individual item on Forward Plan Procurement Specialist / Specialist Legal Admin Decision: Director
£60,000 £100,000 Written quotations Sealed contract Procurement Schedule Only Individual item on Forward Plan Procurement Specialist / S151 Officer / Monitoring Officer Delegated Executive Decision: Director only
£100,000 £250,000 Tender Sealed contract Individual item on Forward Plan Individual item on Forward Plan Procurement Specialist / S151 Officer / Monitoring Officer Delegated Exectutive Decision: Portfolio Holder 

Tender Sealed contract Individual item on Forward Plan Individual item on Forward Plan Procurement Specialist / S151 Officer / Monitoring Officer Cabinet then implemented by Admin decision

*Use the Public Contracting thresholds as set out for Other Contracting Authorities and the "Supply, Service and Design contracts" thresholds will be applied to all SLDC contracts, regardless of type, for the purposes of this process (i.e. £189,300 for works)
The Public Contracting Thresholds for 2021/22 are (excluding VAT):

Supply, Service and 
Design contracts Works contracts 

Social and other specific 
services

Central Government £122,976 £4,733,252 £663,540
Other Contracting 

Authorities £189,330 £4,733,252 £663,540
Small Lots £70,778 £884,720 N/A

The thresholds are not round figures (as in £4,500,000) as they are based on the historic exchange rate against the Euro. They are also excluding VAT.

(Above ) £250,000

£250,000

(j) the works to be executed or the goods, works or services fall within the scope of an existing contract where there is a genuinely justifiable case to use the existing contract to maintain continuity of supply. Extensions will not be considered where to do so would breach procurement or other legislation.

Waiving the Rules
Subject to UK law any of these rules may be waived  Waivers should be included in the Procurement Schedule to be approved by Council as part of the budget setting process. If this is not possible, waivers shall be approved where to do so is justified in special circumstances and those special circumstances and the advantages and 
disadvantages of the alternative options are identified. 
Waivers relating to insurance claims where the procurement requirements of the insurer have been followed will only need to be reported as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process even if over £100,000

Matter s not listed on the Procurement Schedule will require consideration by the Director/ MO/ s151 as outlined below

Appendix 2

P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 114



South Lakeland District Council 

Cabinet 

Wednesday, 20 October 2021 

Council 

Tuesday, 14 December 2021 

Customer Connect five years on, the outcomes, 
benefits and future 

 

Portfolio:   Leader of the Council 

Report from:  Chief Executive 

Report Author: Claire Gould – Operational Lead for Customer and Locality Services  

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

Links to Council Plan Priorities:  

To deliver the vision:  Through the Customer Connect programme we have put in place state 
of the art information technology, new ways of working and modern offices. This is about 
putting the customer, at the centre of everything we do. We have made it easier to get the 
services and information customers need from the council. We are cutting bureaucracy and 
form filling both for customers and in our own processes and procedures. We are ensuring 
that customer feedback drives improvements to how we do things. 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

1.1 To recognise the achievements of the Customer Connect Programme since inception 
in 2016 and to note the outcomes and benefits the programme has delivered as set 
out in Appendix 1 of this report. To understand the work still to be completed and how 
that is going to be delivered over the next 18 months.   

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:- 

 (1) note the outcomes and benefits of the programme as set out in Appendix 
1 of this report 

2.2 It is recommended that Council:- 

(1) note the outcomes and benefits of the programme as set out in Appendix 
1 of this report 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 In the 2015/16 Council Plan it stated that through our Customer Contact Strategy we 

would embrace new technology to improve access to services for our customers. Staff 
and Members visited other councils who had transformed their organisations to deliver 
new ways of working centred on the customer. When they reported back it inspired the 

Page 115

Item No.12



creation of a Programme Definition Document, which was approved in July 2016 at the 
first Customer Connect Board meeting. The report set out the governance, scope and 
deliverables over a four year period of transformation. The key elements of the 
programme were centred on Digital, People and Place and a business case for each 
was agreed at Cabinet between 2016 and 2020.  

3.2 The report in Appendix 1 ‘Customer Connect Five Years On’ is a review of the original 
programme definition and the business cases for the three work streams, Digital, 
People and Place. The review findings on what we set out to achieve, what we have 
achieved and what still needs to be delivered forms the basis of the report.  

3.3 Due to the Pandemic the programme was delayed by 12 months affecting the transition 
of Phase 2. This was due to staff time required to deal with the initial emergency 
situation and then the ongoing resilience needed to support communities and 
businesses. As a result there is some activity that still needs to be delivered as set out 
in Section 7 of the report and in Section 8 it describes how it will be delivered over the 
next 18 month period.  

3.4   How the programme will be managed going forward is in recognition of the Local 
Government Review (LGR) outcome. At the Customer Connect Member Steering 
Group it was recognised that there is still an importance to continue the work of the 
programme and not lose sight of the final outcomes and benefits to be achieved. 
Therefore the recommendation to manage the Customer Connect Programme within 
a Portfolio Management approach alongside the LGR programme, other council 
projects and business as usual work was agreed. 

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Customer Connect Five Years on Report 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 This report has been developed with the cooperation of key staff involved in the 
implementation and delivery of the Customer Connect Programme and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder Members who were part of the Customer Connect Steering Group. 

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 Not applicable 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1.1 There is a revenue budget carry forward from 20/21 due to the delay of Phase 2 of the 
programme for Digital development and staff training. Details can be found in section 
8 of the report. There is also a Capital budget to support the continued development of 
digital systems. 

7.1.2 As set out in section 6 of the report, the projected salary savings of between £1.545m 
and £1.642m have been delivered compared to a target of £1.55m.  The savings are 
expressed as a range as it is not practical to track the savings on a person-by-person 
basis due to other salary changes taking place at the same time, include the new 
national pay scales and personal incremental progression. 

7.1.3 When the total spend to date and the budgets remaining are compared to the total 
business case approved for People and Digital (£3.848m) and Places (£4.937m) the 
total spend is slightly lower (£8.629m) than the total approved (£8.785m). 

Page 116



Human Resources 

7.2 Staff are already identified and involved in the programme work streams. They will 
continue in those roles until the programme is closed. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no legal issues in relation to this report. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

7.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No    

7.5 Not applicable  

7.6 Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes (attached at Appendix 2) 

7.8 Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts 

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X” 

Age P X 0  N  

Disability P X 0  N  

Gender reassignment (transgender) P  0 X N  

Marriage & civil partnership P  0 X N  

Pregnancy & maternity P  0 X N  

Race/ethnicity P  0 X N  

Religion or belief P  0 X N  

Sex/gender P  0 X N  

Sexual orientation P  0 X N  

Armed forces families P  0 X N  

Rurality P X 0  N  

Socio-economic disadvantage P  0 X N  

 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

There are competing priorities 

with LGR that risk the 

programme not being delivered. 

The customer won’t benefit 

from continued online 

digital services   

A Portfolio Management 

approach has been 

adopted to prioritise and 

manage all activity across 

the organisation  

Contact Officers 

Claire Gould, Operational Lead for Customer and Locality Services, 
c.gould@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Digital Business Case Digital Business Case report (March 2016) 

Page 117

https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g3751/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2023-Mar-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


Name of Background document Where it is available 

Customer Connect Programme  

Business Case 

People Business Case (June 2018) 

Place Business Case Place Business Case report 1 (Feb 2019) 

Place Business Case report 2 (March 2020) 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Section 151 Officer 23/09/2021 04/10/2021 

Monitoring Officer 23/09/2021 05/10/2021 

CMT 23/09/2021 23/09/2021 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist 23/09/2021 

Human Resources Lead Specialist 23/09/2021 

Communications Team 23/09/2021 

Leader 05/10/2021 

Committee Chairman 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet)  

Council  

 

Page 118

https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g4262/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2018-Jul-2018%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g4455/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2006-Feb-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g4861/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2025-Mar-2020%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


 

 

 

Customer Connect Five years on 

The Outcomes, Benefits and Future  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version: 1.0 FINAL 

Date: October 2021 

Author: Claire Gould, Programme Manager.  

Co Authors: Sara Berry, Scrum Master. Ben Wright, Digital Lead. Dan Shiels, Customer Specialist & Product 

Owner. Dawn Bradley, People & OD. Richard Machin, Communications & Engagement. Simon McVey, Member 

Support. Helen Smith, Finance. Sion Thomas, Place. 

APPENDIX 1 

Page 119



2 
 

Contents 
1. Executive Summary and Time Line of Activity ............................................................................... 4 

2. Purpose of this Document .............................................................................................................. 8 

3. Background ..................................................................................................................................... 8 

4. What the Programme set out to achieve ....................................................................................... 9 

The Vision ............................................................................................................................................... 9 

Digital ..................................................................................................................................................... 9 

People ................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Place: .................................................................................................................................................... 12 

5. Readiness for change in 2016 ....................................................................................................... 13 

6. What the Outcomes and Benefits look like so far ........................................................................ 14 

Programme Benefits ............................................................................................................................ 14 

Governance – Tools and Techniques to support agile ways of working ............................................. 15 

Agile processes ..................................................................................................................................... 16 

People ................................................................................................................................................... 22 

a. Phase 1 - Strategy, Innovation & Resources ................................................................................. 22 

b. Phase 2 – Customer and Commercial Services ............................................................................. 23 

Place ..................................................................................................................................................... 36 

Digital ................................................................................................................................................... 37 

Additional work by Digital: ................................................................................................................... 38 

Communications .................................................................................................................................. 39 

7. What still needs to be done ......................................................................................................... 43 

Demand Management ......................................................................................................................... 43 

Programme Office ................................................................................................................................ 43 

Process - Scrums/process redesign and new ways of working ............................................................ 43 

Continuous Digital Development ......................................................................................................... 43 

People ................................................................................................................................................... 44 

8. How and when we will deliver the outstanding activity? ............................................................ 45 

Programme Governance Options ........................................................................................................ 45 

Recommendation ................................................................................................................................. 46 

Budget .................................................................................................................................................. 46 

Lessons Learnt ...................................................................................................................................... 47 

Page 120



3 
 

Appendix 1 - POTI ............................................................................................................................. 50 

Appendix 2 - Design Principles ......................................................................................................... 52 

Appendix 3 – Communication examples .......................................................................................... 53 

Page 121



4 
 

1. Executive Summary and Time Line of Activity 

In 2016 the Council agreed to a transformational programme of digital and operational reform. It set up a 

programme with 3 work streams: People, Place and Digital, as a result it has totally transformed the way in 

which the Council conducts its business today. The key benefits achieved are summarised below and addressed 

in detail in the body of the report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

People 

The implementation of a new operating model with activity 

centred around the customer 

Modern Customer Strategy and demand plan  

Unique role descriptions reduced from 200 to 35 across the 

council 

Savings achieved of 850k in year one and from year 2, £1.55 

million ongoing 

Removal of silo working 

Job families set up; Customer Service, Case Management, 

Locality and Specialist 

Putting the customer at the heart of everything we do 

Customers dealt with at the first point of contact (were 

possible) 

New Personal Qualities framework for staff based on values 

and behaviours 

Agile techniques for managing projects 

Opportunities for staff to progress through the model 

Smart working facilitated smooth switch to virtual working 

during Covid-19 with little or no loss of service standard 

Many examples of improved team working, including 

council-leading performance on processing of Covid 

business grants 

Lots of virtual, two-way communications to ensure 

employees were well informed during unprecedented 

times 

Regular employee surveys to measure engagement levels – 

with encouraging results, 79% of staff say they are satisfied 

with smart working arrangements 

Significant investment in employee development in all 

areas 

New, user-friendly employee appraisal programme – ‘Your 

Conversation’ – successfully launched 

A plan to continually transition and improve 

Time for staff to deal with more complex customers 

Flexible ways of working to enable staff to better support 

Page 122



5 
 

Digital 

The procurement and implementation of a new digital 

platform 

Implementation of paperless billing for Council Tax 

Access to services 24/7 via a streamlined website that is 

accessible to do business  

Automatically keep customers up to date with their online 

requests for service 

Reduce email and phone demand from customers  

Circa 8500 My Accounts in use  

Ability to deal with the pandemic quickly by automated 

grant applications for businesses customers  

Implementation of Member laptops and digital technology 

so Members can connect more effectively  

57 virtual committee meetings successfully held in 20/21 

Use information to better inform service delivery 

Top 5% of best performing websites in the UK 

 

 

Place 

The upgrade of accommodation in support of new ways of 

working for staff and Members  

Opportunities to share space with partner organisations  

More accessible reception and modern facilities for customer 

to do business  

More than 600m2 of office space created to support Small, 

Medium Enterprises in South Lakeland House 

200m2 additional letting space created in Kendal Town Hall 

for community use 

 

Page 123



6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Work still to be achieved 

People 

Continue to embed the new culture via Purpose, Values 

and Behaviours Workshops for all staff  

Delivery of training plan arising from Investing in Your 

Skills work 

Leadership development programme for all SLDC people 

managers 

Further customer service specific training for customer 

facing employees 

Introduction of early career apprentices to the new way 

of working, and using the apprenticeship levy to train 

internal staff 

Support the introduction of business partnering 

Place 

Complete the building work in South Lakeland House to 

provide opportunities for partner organisations to share 

premises  

Digital 

Continue to reduce customer demand via more online 

forms 

Improve dashboards and enhanced reporting to track 

service requests 

Enhance GIS so requests are allocated on maps 

Integrate with Information @ work 

Deliver new Development Management System 

Continue to increase the take up of My Account 

Improve mobile working solutions 

 

 

Page 124



7 
 

 

Page 125



8 
 

2. Purpose of this Document 

The purpose of this document is to look back at what has been achieved since the inception of the Customer 

Connect Programme Definition document in July 2016 up to July 2021.  

This will cover key aspects of:  

 What the programme set out to achieve 

 What the outcomes and benefits look like so far? 

 What still needs to be done? 

 How we need to deliver and move forward 

 What is the timeframe?  

3. Background 

In October 2014 the Cabinet approved a Customer Contact Strategy for 2014 to 2017 setting out the guiding 

principles which shaped the way the council would interact with customers. Managers who had direct or 

indirect contact with the public in their role of delivering services and or handling transactions would see the 

greatest impact and it would be particularly important for those involved in planning, decision-making, and 

supporting customer access.  

Central Government were also encouraging local government to embrace digital delivery. In the Chancellor’s 

Spending Review speech in November 2015, the words ‘digital’ and ‘technology’ were used 58 times and 34 

times respectively. Digital technology and the transformation it facilitates make services cheaper, more 

efficient and accessible. The Government was investing £450m in its Government Digital Service to create 

common platforms across national departments.  

Officers investigated the potential to buy a new software platform to support digital development. The 

procurement process included a series of discussion sessions (competitive dialogue) between suppliers and 

staff from key services at both councils (Eden and South Lakeland as a joint partnership approach). A joint 

Digital Innovation Board was set up and managed the procurement and implementation. The aim was to fully 

automate all transactions through our website including, Housing Benefits, Council and Business Tax payments 

and discounts, refuse collection and recycling requests. The procurement and implementation of the new 

Development Management System covering Planning, Planning Policy, Building Control, Land Charges and CIL 

and integrate with the digital platform (My Account). The new system would be future-proofed and flexible so 

it could be easily adapted to any future changes in technology and processes and provide excellent self-service 

access for customers.  

Once there was understanding of the potential system it was agreed that implementing a digital platform alone 

would achieve significant efficiencies and improve customer service, however to fully realise all the benefits 

this could bring there was an opportunity to develop a programme that embraced not only new ways of 

working but remodelling the council around the needs of the customer.  

Staff and Members visited other councils who had transformed their organisations to deliver new ways of 

working centred on the customer. When they reported back it inspired the creation of the Programme 

Definition Document, which was approved in July 2016 at the first Customer Connect Board meeting setting 

out the governance, set up and deliverables over a four year term. The key elements of the programme were 

centred on Digital, People and Place and a business case for each was agreed at Cabinet.  

Page 126



9 
 

4. What the Programme set out to achieve 

The Vision 

In the 2015/16 Council Plan it stated that through our Customer Contact Strategy we would embrace new 

technology to improve access to services for our customers. The vision being: 

To improve the lives of our residents by delivering the services and support they require in a way which suits 

them and provides the best value for money for taxpayers. 

The strategy set out a set of guiding principles on which it would be delivered: 

1. Fully understanding what our customers require 
2. Maximise the use of digital channels 
3. Empower customers to self-serve 
4. Support access and independence 
5. Deliver services in a streamlined way 
6. The customer channel of choice is accessible  
 
The scope of the programme needed to be based on the delivery of organisational transformation more than 
service improvement and therefore necessary to understand the difference between the two. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Digital  

The first step was to procure the digital platform for both councils along with contracts signed and plans for 

implementation agreed. As part of this process it was identified that a GIS system would need to be sourced 

separately and implemented across both councils.  

From 1st July 2016 mapping of current activity of those front line services going through the implementation in 

the first two years commenced. This was to be supported by a customer portal so the customer could access 

and transact with the council via a ‘MyAccount’ an online personal account that showed what business that 

customer was doing with the council. This would be supported by a website that was available for customers to 

self-serve and interact with council services.   

Service Improvement (Design Principles) 

 Retain vertical service units 

 Improve efficiency in theses verticals (Silos) 

 Line of business applications integrates 
more effectively with portal and customer 
mgt. 

 
Benefits: 

 Remove Waste 

 Reduce paper 

 Increase automation 

 Digitise end to end  

 Remove unnecessary approval processes 

 Improve access  

Organisational Transformation Design 

Principles  

 Remodel around customer outcomes, 
maximise self-service, leave specialists to 
focus on complex/ vulnerable 

 Data mgt. drives delivery  

 Relationships built & data shared across 
specialist areas that support customer 
requests to get things right first time (thus 
reducing avoidable contact)  

 
Benefits: 

 Use workforce differently  

 Remove unnecessary silos 

 Drive self-service and reduce other 
channels for simple cases 

 

Page 127



10 
 

The major dependency for this project was a clear understanding of the business requirements in order to 

avoid technology ‘leading’ the programme.  Links to the Information Governance work stream would support 

joined up service provision and bring about business transformation.  

People  

The People project would work in parallel to the digital rollout. There were two key areas addressed by this 

programme; staff and Members.  It was important to understand the skills and competencies needed by both 

for the future.  

 Staff 

The structure of the organisation would change, people would work differently as a number of back office 

processes would potentially be removed in favour of automated processes. This meant staff would have time 

to deal with more complex customer needs.   

The wellbeing of staff and Members was to be an intrinsic part of the culture and behaviours work. Ensuring we 

looked after our most important resource.  

 

 

The programme would use the Council’s Personal Qualities Framework to shape the values, behaviours and 

expected performance standards of staff in order to embed the new ways of working. There were six key 

components of the framework and each one was made up of three levels depending on responsibility and 

grade.  

The Employer Package would develop a strong employer brand and competitive package to attract new staff 

and keep employees with the right skills and behaviours. 

 

 

 

Improvement to the staff offer would be secured through Learning and Development programmes, Focus 

Groups / Engagement, Staff Survey, HR interventions, Smart working and Secondments. Talent Development 

through Performance Appraisals, recommendations for talent spotting, Management Development 

programmes, Leadership Development programmes, Coaching / mentoring activities, and Networking Groups.  

 

Career Progression Roles at that time were few with little “true” career progression within the establishment 

structure.  Some roles were seen as possible “stepping stones” towards career progression but typically 2 or 

more grades adrift and therefore not able to move directly into such promotion roles without significant 

personal and career development. 

 Members 

Developing and implementing a staged approach to the rollout of their individual technology requirements so 

that Members could do business more effectively with the council.  

 

 

‘Time for staff to deal with more 

complex customers’ needs’ 

‘Look after our most important 

resource – our staff’ and 

members’ 

‘Roll out digital technology so councillors 

can connect more effectively’ ‘with the 

council and their communities’ 

Page 128



11 
 

Place shaping – working locally with communities, based on intelligence gathered from service requests. 

Looking at how our demand management shifts from providing responsive services to local issues to enabling 

action in partnership with local communities including town and parish councils.  

 Organisation - Services wrapped around the customer (Customer centric)   

The Future Model idea was a customer and citizen centric service delivery operating model that had been 
developed by local government for local government (source: Ignite) to provide a new way of managing service 
demand, providing sustainable long term solutions that benefit customers, staff and the community at large.  
 
 
 
 
It provided an internal framework for how the council would organise itself. The diagram below sets out where 
the work would be undertaken.  
 
 

 
 

 

Using the Future Model would re-focus the organisation around the customer through: 

A redesigned organisational model that completely reconfigured the way the organisation worked, eliminating 
traditional silos, unlocking capacity and genuinely putting the customer first.  
 
Re-designed business processes and customer journeys that would be as efficient as possible, delivering the 
best possible customer experience for both internal and external customers with more opportunities to self-
serve in key areas - such as enquiries, reporting, making applications, and booking and paying for services. The 
diagram below shows what the model would deliver for both staff and customer. 
 

‘Putting the customer at the heart of 

everything we do’ 

 

‘Flexible ways of working to enable staff to 

better support and deliver’ services’ 

Page 129



12 
 

 
 
A new technology platform that would provide end to end integration between a Customer Portal (My 
Account); Customer Contact Manager; Enterprise Geographical Information System; Electronic Document 
Management; Workflow; Mobile solutions; and back office applications – all enabling smoother, shorter 
processes, self-serve and more efficient ways of working. Customers would not be handled by multiple services 
around the council and insight and intelligence would be shared to provide ‘a single view of the customer’.  
 
Aligned to this would be staff ways of working and a culture that develops through the introduction of more 
flexible ways of working, resulting in liberated staff with greater autonomy to support customers and the 
opportunity to develop their skills.  
The future operating model (FOM) provided a model of how the council would deliver services to customers 
and how the customer would interact with the council. It provided the rationale for how work would be 
undertaken and what types of roles were required to deliver the work.  
 

 Customer data 

Data was collected from our customers through service requests into our contact centre and through our web 

site but we could not say which services they referred to.  We could only quantify the number of calls received, 

number of face to face visits and number of complaints.  

 

 

This information was not helpful in making business decisions and did not help us to understand the customer 

journey or demand for service. The Information Governance work stream would manage data about customers 

that would be shared once across services thus reducing duplication of work.  

Place: 

The Places Project would also be rolled out in parallel to the other two projects. There would be a significant 

improvement in our mobile working solutions for staff and how they operate within the council.  

 

 

There was also a need to review our assets. Identifying the best solutions to deliver services locally and looking 

at our requirements based on our future state.  

Modernising office space was a key component of this work with opportunities for hot desking and renting out 

space to partner organisations with shared function spaces to collaborate.  

‘Use information to better inform service 

delivery’ 

‘Ensure our buildings and assets best support 

our customers and services’ 

Page 130



13 
 

5. Readiness for change in 2016   

In May 2016 the senior management team (SMT) and key staff responsible for the delivery of the programme 
engaged in some work with the Consultant IESE to develop the conversation about how we could re-shape the 
authority, what appetite for change we had and what were the key factors to achieve delivery. Overall it was 
agreed that the council was well-run but there was an opportunity for major transformational change which 
could deliver significant benefits. 
 
The group agreed that Leadership was important to achieve the change and therefore the Customer Connect 

Programme Board would need to ensure messages were clear and prompt.  Ensuring staff had the capacity to 

deliver the programme was also essential and the programme plan needed to map out all the necessary roles 

needed across all the projects so any gaps could be identified and addressed. The programme would also be 

backed up with financial support to build capacity in teams were necessary.  

The Customer Connect Programme Board agreed a narrative for the overall programme. These would be 

measured as the key output for the programme:  

 Save a minimum of £850,000 (year on year) 

 Have fewer roles in the organisation 

 A new structure with clearly defined roles  (a need to reinvent roles) 

 New Express Solution Builder (ESB) Agile digital platform with opportunities for Members, staff and 
customers to improve service delivery 

 New opportunities for those who want it, an exciting place to work with a strong brand 

 Upskilled staff and Members, demonstrating the right behaviours (as set out in the Personal Qualities 
Framework) 

 
The outputs would deliver outcomes and subsequently benefits.  The POTI diagram sets out the key 

programme outcomes to be achieved in Appendix 1 of this report.  

 
 
 
 

Page 131



14 
 

6. What the Outcomes and Benefits look like so far 

Programme Benefits 

At the commencement of the programme, end benefits were identified based on the four programme benefit 
drivers:  
 

 
 

Internal Remodelling An enhanced employer profile 

Internal Remodelling Increased employee satisfaction 

Internal Remodelling Fewer job roles 

Internal Remodelling Increased health & wellbeing for staff 

Internal Remodelling Increased locality & mobile working for staff 

Internal Remodelling A highly skilled and adaptive workforce 

Tech Improvement Reduction in printing costs 

Process Improvement Reduce and rationalise the number of processes 

Tech Improvement Reduction in the number of back office systems  

Customer Self-Serve Increase access to services via digital self-serve 

Customer Enabling Reduce requests for service from the customer  
 
Each end benefit had a set of measures to demonstrate what had been achieved either quantitatively or 
qualitatively. The following pages describe in both words and charts what has been achieved to date.   
 

Page 132



15 
 

Governance – Tools and Techniques to support agile ways of working 

The Programme set up a comprehensive set of controls to manage the programme.  There was an agreed 
budget of £8.785m (based on 3 business cases for digital, people and place) to deliver the programme and 25 
key staff were involved in managing the 3 projects and multiple work streams with in them.  

There was a Programme Office set up with a dedicated Programme Manager and Programme support roles to 
manage the day to day complexity of the programme. The Office managed and reported on the following 
controls:  

• Business Case and Programme Plan 

• Monitoring & Control Strategy 

• Issue Resolution Change Control Strategy  
• Risks & Issues Log 

• Dependency log 

• Design Authority Tracker 
• Regular Reporting via:  

- Highlight reports to CC weekly Board, External Assurance & Steering Group,  
- Portfolio Reports and 121 meetings with Portfolio Holders, 
- Quarterly reports through Performance to Scrutiny, Cabinet and Council 
- Quarterly reports to Audit Committee, 
- Reports to HR Committee 

• Responding to annual Internal Audits  
 

A Design Authority was set up with the Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources accountable for making 
key decisions relating to the design of the programme.  

The Design Authority was and still is responsible for ensuring that the consequences of any design decisions are 
understood. The Design Authority maintains a consistent, coherent and complete perspective of the 
programme design, defining the programme critical interfaces, such that business operations can be changed 
and benefits secured in a coordinated manner across the organisation.  

Staff were allocated roles and were trained to use a RAPID process to present recommendations to the design 
authority to get decisions made quickly. 

 

Page 133



16 
 

Both the design authority and the RAPID process is used for making decision today and is part of the business 
as usual way of working. This allows functional and operational leads to get decisions made (even if in 
principle) and implemented in an agile way E.g. tweaks to the staff structure to improve customer service.  

Agile processes 

Service Redesign and Scrum  

The service re-design was about the enhancement of existing and delivery of new capabilities to improve the 
service and experience delivered to customers and staff. To achieve this, service re-design had these primary 
aims:  

 to eliminate (or stop) processes that do not add value to the organisation or its customers, 

 to simplify processes as much as possible to give a good customer experience for customers and staff, 

 to standardise processes where possible, to speed up the build of new technology and provide a 
consistent experience for customers and staff, 

 to automate any steps and stages in processes that remove manual effort 
 
To ensure the team always have the customer at the forefront when redesigning a process the team referred 
to the design principles (see Appendix 2 of this report) most aligned to that process. The team also utilised 
customer personas to understand and empathise with the customer in order to design a process to meets their 
needs. Existing customer journeys were being used to ensure the overall customer experience is enhanced.  
 
A service redesign manager and six business analysts were recruited to the service redesign team the majority 
recruited on a secondment from various departments across SLDC. They were trained and developed in agile 
techniques and process reengineering which benefited the organisation in the on-going implementation of 
SCRUM work.  The team produced documentation for a number of redesigned processes, for services including; 
legal, procurement, street scene, planning and housing.  Digital Development offices were also recruited and 
joined the scrum to support the development of ESB.  
 
 As part of this approach, the agile methodology Scrum was adopted. Scrum is an agile framework for 
developing, delivering and sustaining complex products. One of the benefits of adopting a scrum approach is it 
allows for effective collaboration across an organisation.  
 
In October 2019 two scrums were set up to improve the website and build customer transactions.  
 

1. Customer Contact Scrum 

 The customer contact scrum was initially focused on developing the website, ensuring it was functionally 
able to meet the demands of the customer, that content was useful and up-to-date and that government 
accessibility requirements were being met to help us achieve the ‘Customer Connect’ channel shift objective. 
Our Siteimprove scores put us in the top 5% of websites in the UK. Siteimprove measures the performance 
of our website and in all aspects we are well ahead of the benchmark scores for UK government websites. 

- Overall Assurance (are we maintaining recognised best practise, specifically by its performance in four 
subcategories: Content Quality, Content Freshness, User Experience, and Security) Our score: 96.8%  
against the Government Benchmark of 79.3% 

- Accessibility (Measures our sites performance in relation to the WCAG accessibility that we are 
expected to meet by government legislation. Our score: 92.6% against the Government Benchmark of 
86.9% 

- Search Engine Optimisation (is a measure of how well the user-facing and technical aspects of our site 
and ultimately, higher rankings on Google and other search engines. Our score: 92.7% against the 
Government Benchmark of 84.0% 

- Digital Certainty Index (Brings everything above together) Our score: 94.0% against the Government 
Benchmark of 82.7%.  

 
 

‘Top 5% of best performing websites in the 

UK’ 

Page 134



17 
 

 
Because we are early adopters of best web development practice, actively networking with organisations like 
Local Gov Digital and Government Digital services, we are now working with other Councils such as Cumbria 
County Council and Eden District Council sharing our ideas and innovations. We’re confident that our site can 
‘hold its own’ amongst the best government sites in the UK. We are also looking outside the organisation with 
Drupal (a free and open-source web content management framework) and Government Digital Services to 
continually improve our customer experience.   
 
This scrum has now expanded and has responsibility for supporting the development of all other channels used 
by the customer, including the new telephony system, social media, email and face to face enquiries. As a 
constant this scrum sits alongside the updated Customer Strategy and Channel Shift Plan, supporting ways of 
moving customers to more self-serve. Further benefits that this scrum has provided are: 
 

 User ‘Top 10’ testing - We have adopted and developed a system for doing user research, that is realistic 
and cost effective for the resource we have available. We call it our ‘Top 10’ testing strategy. On the basis 
that 80% of customers mostly use only 20% of the website, we focus our research activity around those 
popular web pages (like bins information, Council Tax, car parking) rather than taking a broad brush 
approach.  We ask customers (to keep the ball rolling in the pandemic volunteer staff) to complete 
common website tasks, we look at what they do and learn from what we see. This gives us an insight in to 
how people navigate through the site, the problems they find, so we can fix web pages so they’re easier 
for customers to use. 

In 2019 regular engagement sessions were organised by the scrum teams to gain feedback on the 
development of new online forms and changes to web content. Drop-in sessions were run in the reception 
of South Lakeland House and Kendal Library, while officers also attended Age UK Digital Drop events to 
test the output of the scrums. Since the pandemic we have a user group of staff who virtually perform 
tasks under supervision. This informs the team in how to reconfigure pages so easy access to information 
is provided and improve form content and usability so it matches with our web content standards and 
experience. This also provides us with a wealth of information about user journeys which will be used 
every time we implement more online forms.  

 Improved site search - Our new search bar has revolutionised the way customers search and find 

information they need. You can ask it questions, spell things wrongly, search on our site or Cumbria 

County Council’s site. This has had an impact on capacity issues because customers can find what they 

need more easily, they don’t need to phone and ask. It’s also improved the quality and reduced the 

amount of content we need to maintain, for example we can remove all information on our site about 

services that CCC deliver. An additional spin off is that our staff can more easily find information they need 

to help customers 

 Reporting Trends - We have been looking at how we develop strategic data that helps the management 
team understand our progress towards channel shift and to inform decisions about how best to support 
channel shift. Things we have done include:  

- Developed a monthly channel shift and web performance report, that is presented to the senior 

specialist leadership team 

- Used new technologies, like ‘Google Data Studio’ to make data easier to collate, present and 

understand 

- Begun to create an awareness and understanding of the importance and advantages of using data and 

evidence to drive planning and initiatives 

- Started work to develop a ‘data warehouse’. By collating our business data and holding it one place we 

believe we can enhance our business intelligence, save time and improve the quality and consistency of 

our data. This is a longer term, but foundational project. 

- We have applied learning from the development and implementation of sustainable access to council 

services through the pandemic to continuous service development. 

Page 135



18 
 

 New ways of working – the scrum team have developed relationships and a rhythm of working together 
which now allows for more speedy improvement to the channels. 

 Website Hosting - All website content migrated to a new Content Management system, hosted by the 

supplier replacing previous systems and hosting arrangements.  

 Web editing model - To fit in with the new operating structure and to optimise our limited web resources  

we had to re-think how who ‘owns’ web content and who edits we content. We came up with and 

implemented our new ‘web editing model’, which is working well 

 Website development to Reducing Customer Demand - We want customers to find the information they 

need and complete the tasks they need to do easily, so that digital becomes the channel of choice for 

interacting with SLDC. Thing we have done include: 

- Ensuring that all web content and technical developments are based on an evidenced research and 

understanding of customer needs - we use data and research to understand customer needs and learn 

from customer feedback 

- Keeping web content useful and up to date - working towards a culture in SLDC where specialists 

understand customer needs and tailor information to meet them 

- Ensuring we meet requirements of new accessibility legislation for government websites - websites that 

meet accessibility standards are easy to use and easier to search 

- Having an emphasis on planning. So that our website plan and channel shift plan are nested with the 

Council Plan and the Customer Strategy. The actions from these plans are used to develop the workload 

of the scrum - so we know the work we’re doing is evidenced, has relevance and is helping to achieve 

the strategic aims of SLDC 

- Focus on making the site work well on mobile phones - approaching two thirds of customers use mobile 

phones to look at our site 

- Reducing pressure on CSAs - The increased customer demand during the pandemic for information 

about or to report service delivery issues, like missed green bins, lead us to look at different ways to 

reduce pressure on our CSA team. One example of this was to rewrite our online ‘Contact us’ 

information, encouraging customers towards online forms another was to put information about known 

missed bin incidents live on the site, to reassure customers that we were already aware of and dealing 

with an issue. A number of back office email addresses were removed from this landing page so that all 

requests can be logged with a reference number and tracked back. The benefit being a Customer 

Service Advisor can easily find the customers issue on the system if there is a need to make contact. 

 
Customer Trend Data 

 

Page 136



19 
 

 

There were, 150,000 to 170,000 page views of the website per month over the last few months. We had 40,500 

users. Bin collection calendars continued to be the busiest page with 8,031 page views. In July we had 3,781 

online transactions.  

We have monthly customer web feedback comments submitted through ESB and this gives us detailed 

information on web pages. We now work with the service teams to address any poor comments.  

The content customers are most interested in: 

 Bin collection calendar and bins and recycling content My Southlakeland 

 Planning – search for a planning application 

 Pay online 

 Parking information (there is a significant rise in activity around parking information on the site) 

 Business support grants 

 My Southlakeland, Pay and Apply 

 Council tax and housing benefit 
     

The way people are using our site: 

 Two thirds of customers, 66%, used mobile devices to look at our website 

 Organic search, Safari, Google or other search engines, continues to be the main way people find 
content on the site – 70% of site visits.  

 

 

Page 137



20 
 

The period January to April 2021 is when the reception was closed due to the pandemic. Since reopening the 
reception has relocated to Kendal Town Hall on the high street. With this central location it has attracted a 
range of enquiries many of which are not related to the council. There are more Cumbria County Council and 
visitor type requests that we did not get before the move and the team are erecting signage to help customers.   

Customer Compliments 

We receive a number of compliments from customers about services we deliver and some of those reflect how 
Customer Connect has helped them, these are some of the comments below: 

Recycling box - “It arrived today, very promptly and I just wanted to say, thank you very much for the great 
service. It was quicker than expected, was quick and easy to order online too.  Well done to anyone involved” 

“Thank you to the business grants team for processing their application quickly during the Covid-19 crisis”  
 
“Thank you for quickly processing the business support grant” 
 
Via ESB - “Thank you for quick service dealing with fallen tree”  
 

2. Customer Transactions Scrum 

This focused on customer transactions to enable the development of My Account. In May 2020 the customer 
account functionality (My Account) was enabled and five transactions were released. These transactions 
provided the customer with updates on their service requests and a digitised back office process that allowed 
all staff involved in the process the ability to input and have sight of updates on the case. During that period 
there was no formal launch of this functionality as we wanted to see how it performed with a small number of 
customers and we wanted to develop the functionality to allow customers to access their Council Tax and 
Business Rate accounts.  
 
In that time the scrum tackled processes which have been categorised as either a ‘report’ or ‘apply’ type. The 
majority of these processes are high volume, low complexity and cover a number of our street scene and 
enforcement services. Currently there are 24 redesigned processes live and accessible to the customer through 
the website or over the phone with the support of CSAs. The benefit to the customer is that they can self-serve 
at a time of their choosing, whilst the organisation benefits from an improved level of efficiency as the process 
is digitised and accessible to all staff who need to input.   
 
The scrum has also designed 11 data collection forms for CSAs to capture information for services such as 
planning, licensing, building control and finance. These forms don’t provide a digitised back office but they 
provide a benefit to the organisation by allowing CSAs to take ownership of the call. They also ensure we 
collect the information from the customer that the services needs to begin processing their request, reducing 
the need to go back to the customer and ask them for basic information.  
 
The transactions scrum has also started to develop the ability for customers to make an online payment, as 
part of a digitised form. The first form with this functionality went live in April 2021 and allowed customers to 
apply and pay for their parking permit online. Going forward this integration will allow services the opportunity 
to offer an online payment option for applications, which will provide an improved efficiency to the way the 
organisation takes payments.  
 
Forms for Revenues and Benefits 

In March 2021 our customer account (My Account) was integrated with the Capita Revenue and Benefits 

system, which allowed customer to sign up for a My Account and then link their council tax, business rates or 

landlord account and sign up for services including e-billing. The Capita product provides additional self service 

capability for revenue and benefits processes. The project is developing these forms and working with a target 

date of September for going live. The forms include: 

Page 138



21 
 

 Discount and exemption form 

 Benefit Claim Form 

 Change of circumstances 

 Discretionary housing payment  

Usage of the current forms is show below: 

 
 

In March 2021 there was a formal launch of My Account. A ‘do it online’ social media campaign was 
implemented and a competition was launched to encourage people to sign up. There are 8288 accounts 
currently set up (as of end August) See the chart below for progress of My Account sign-ups:  

 

 

 

Response to COVID 

Of all the benfits these scrums have provided, the biggest and most unexpected benefit was the ability to 
respond to the pandemic. The customer contact scrum ensured content on the website was up to date with 
the latest government guidance, whilst the customer transactions scrum designed and built 11 online 
processes for the various small business grant applications, the discretionary business grant schemes and the 
test and trace self-isolation payment. 

‘Circa 8500 My Accounts have been set up’ 

Page 139



22 
 

The decision to utilise ESB to build these applications forms also allowed the transactions team to monitor the 
impact of high demand on the system. The first small business grant online application form was launched in 
March 2020 and completed over 6,000 times by customers, with over 2,000 received in the first two days. The 
system withstood this demand and has continued to do so with every other COVID application form alongside 
business as usual online activity. The design and functionality of the application forms improved each time, 
allowing us to look up customer details and validate them against previous applications. This meant we 
reduced the need for customers to resubmit their business details for each new government scheme and we 
could check and validate bank details quickly to ensure payments were made quickly and correctly.  Using what 
we had learns from the early application process we were able to develop the ESB test and trace self-isolation 
payment applications quickly.  
 
 
 

 
The forms allowed South Lakeland (and Eden) to distribute grant money quickly with businesses paid much 
earlier than other authorities. The status of applications could be checked by CSAs and those staff working in 
the temporary grant administration team. This meant customers who had queries about their application could 
be updated easily, easing their concerns. 
 

People 

 New Operating Model 

The programme commissioned Ignite Consultants to support the implementation of the operating model. A 
number of consultants worked alongside the work stream leads to support their development and learning and 
guide them through the different elements of the programme that needed to be delivered. This support also 
included support for those staff accountable for the programme.  
 
The programme plan directed that the model was to be delivered in two phases. The first phase started with 
the changes to leadership and management, which were required to implement the model and new ways of 
working. The new structure, agreed in October 2018, delivered leadership, management and supervision across 
the council by simplifying the organisational structure and embedding matrix management of functional and 
operational components. Key specialist knowledge was in scope, with Functional and Specialist leads 
appointed.   

a. Phase 1 - Strategy, Innovation & Resources 

The remaining activity in scope during phase 1 comprised of the functions that now make up the Strategy, 
Innovation and Resource Directorate. Strategic activities, which were previous dispersed throughout the 
council’s existing structures, were centralised creating a stronger ‘corporate core’. This ‘core’ provides support 
to members to deliver their ambitions for South Lakeland and provides the evidence-based strategic 
framework which drives all council activity.  
Fundamental changes were also needed to implement the delivery of Support Services (excluding Information 
Technology). This included; 
 

 the elimination and simplification of policies and procedures across the full range of Support Services 
provided in order to significantly reduce activity in this area where possible, 

 the capture of information held by specialists across Support Services into online portals and self-serve 
systems, improving information, advice and guidance to enable staff to self-serve easily and effectively, 

 the requirement for managers and staff to self-serve for simpler support service enquiries and activities 
with support embedded into the council’s intranet, 

 the introduction of generalist business partners from Support Services for teams across the council to 
better direct support activity for these customers,  

 

‘In total 29,800 Covid grant applications processed and 

£115 million of grants paid out ’ 

Page 140



23 
 

With regards to information technology it was agreed that due to the Shared IT Service arrangements with 
Eden DC this service would be out of scope of change to its arrangement and structure yet become a 
commissioned business partner as part of the support services to the new model.   

b. Phase 2 – Customer and Commercial Services 

Phase two of the programme time line was the delivery of the components of the model which made up 
universal customer contact and direct delivery.  
 
Customer & Locality Services - at the core of universal customer contact are Customer and Locality Services. 

Significant changes were needed to realise the savings and ensure the functioning of these services. The 

activity is delivered by; 

 centralising a single customer service team for the vast majority of activity – effectively creating a single 
‘front door’ into the council for all customers, 

 providing access to a single integrated customer record, 

 implementing better scripts to enable more activity to be “one and done”, 

 improved integrated advice, workflow and data to drive customer service efficiency and effectiveness in 
leaner processes. 

 
Case Management - another key component of universal customer contact, requiring significant changes to 

realise the savings and benefits identified by the programme. Case Management is delivered by: 

 centralising all case management activity, 

 redesigning processes to deliver majority of cases in a rules-based approach, 

 implementing a standardised workflow system across all rules-based processes, 

 more integrated advice, workflow and data to drive customer service efficiency and effectiveness through 
leaner processes, 

 better utilisation of specialists to manage challenging cases and sign off case work 

 more effective operational management to drive the performance of the case management team. 
 
Specialist Services - Components of the new ways of working that contribute to driving savings across the 

‘specialist’ population of South Lakeland District Council include: 

 separating out the operational (including utilisation) and functional (including professional governance) 
leadership and management activities 

 providing clearer more co-ordinated strategy, direction and priorities to better harness the efforts of the 
specialists in the council 

 breaking down the current silos in specialist teams, forming communities of practice to encourage multi-
disciplined teams to come together to address the priorities of the council 

 redesigning processes to further reduce the burden on the specialist and focus on eliminating, simplifying, 
standardising and automating activity  

 joining up and clustering processes to enable significant efficiency to be realised. 
 
Since the delivery of the phases some further tweaks have been made as we understand the model in 
operation. Using Agile principles changes were agreed by the Design Authority through a number of RAPID 
sessions. Strategy Innovation and Commission merged to one team and Specialist and Case Management were 
split across two Operational Leads allowing for more efficient operational management of customer journeys 
through the Case Management and Specialist job families.   
 

 Cost Savings and meeting the costs of change 

Page 141



24 
 

The People Business case set out a reduction of FTEs by 10%. This was based on the activity mapped from the 

current operating model to the new. As a result of transition to the new operating model the number of FTEs 

has reduced by 43.0 FTE (10.3%) with a corresponding reduction of £1.55M (11.1%) of salary cost per annum. 

 

 

The savings identified in the table above were based on the benefit drivers being applied to the existing 
services and their mapping of activities to the new operating model. 

To deliver this scale of change, there was a need for a range of internal and external expertise to support the 
successful implementation of the operating model and technology solution. An initial assessment is described 
in the table below. 
 
To support the significant change envisaged, there were a number of implementation costs which are also 
described below. These included implementation, external partner, redundancy and digital costs totalling 
£3.848m. These were essential to delivering a new operating model to support the annual savings of £1.55m 
which results in payback over 2.5 years.  
 
The figures were include in the Medium Term Financial Plan. The costs were met from capital receipts and 
existing reserves.  The net gain from this project totals circa £8m over a ten year period (including the effect of 
discounting the cash flow). 
 
People Business Case summary 
 
 

Title Investment Description 

Interim South 

Lakeland District 

Council resource 

£757k  Business and technology analysts to map processes and 
develop scripts 

 Additional IT capacity to support the implementation and 
change to systems 

 Functional experts from across the council to specify 
services policy and ensure that these policies are 
embedded in the new ways of working 

External Change and 

Implementation 

expertise 

£520k  Design oversight to ensure that the aspirations and 
principles of the Blueprint are achieved 

 Change management expertise to bring best practice 
approach to implementing such a complex multi-faceted 
change programme 

 Expertise to train, develop and support the wider team in 
technology implementation  

 Leadership of the process design, build and test sprint 
cycles 

Page 142



25 
 

 Business analysis expertise and experience working with 
other Councils to implement similar transitions 

Functional support £200k  HR, change and communications support to ensure the 
change processes are implemented and the workforce is 
supported through the change 

Training £190k  Training and development to transition to new ways of 
working and to support the adoption of new technology 

Technology £440k  To develop and implement appropriate systems. As 
previously described in the Technology findings section, 
there are further technology requirements that have been 
captured with cost assumptions that will need further 
review and validation at the start of implementation. 

Hardware / 

infrastructure 

£150k  To support the requirement of additional IT hardware 
such as additional devices to support locality working 

Redundancy and 

pension strain Costs 

£1,290k  Costs associated with transitioning from the current 
position of 416 FTE to 373 FTE. 

Existing Digital Budget £301k  Current 2018/19 budget 

Total £3,848k  

 

As the programme was delivered in phases the following table shows when those savings would be released.  
 
Phase of the programme Financial saving 

in Year 2018/19  

Financial saving 

in Year 2019/20 

Financial saving 

in Year 2020/21 

Phase 1A - Leadership - £218k £218k 

Phase 1B - Strategy - £172k £229k 

Phase 1C – Support Services - £120k £169k 

Phase 1D – IT Services - £16k £66k 

Phase 2 – 2A & 2B - £215k £868k 

Total Savings  - £741k £1.55m 

 
During the implementation of Customer Connect there were also changes in the national local government pay 
and grading structure and pension contributions, which need to be stripped out of the salary changes figures, 
and staffing changes outside the Customer Connect programme (including temporary staff relating to Covid-
19).  In addition, the majority of pay grades cover 4 to 5 individual pay points, with annual progression until the 
top of scale is reached.  This annual progression cannot be stripped out of the savings as the impact is 
dependent upon who is appointed to each role and whether they are already at top of scale or joining at the 
bottom of scale.  Therefore the range of salary savings can only be expressed as a range. The overall salary 
savings, at 2021/22 costs, are between £1.587m and £1.686m.  Basic salaries have increased by 2.68% between 
2018/19 and 2021/22 so the salary savings, at 2018/19 prices, arising from the Customer Connect programme 
are between £1.545m and £1.643m depending on assumptions made about position on pay scales.  
 
 
 

Page 143



26 
 

 

PAY 
GRADE 

MINIMUM 
SALARY 

MAXIMUM 
SALARY NEW OLD  

TOTAL 
CHANGE 

COST 
2021/22 
BOTTOM 
OF SCALE 

SAVING - 
BOTTOM 
OF SCALE 

COST 
2021/22 
TOP OF 
SCALE 

SAVING  
TOP OF 
SCALE 

      FTE FTE FTE £ £ £ £ 

APPR 8,778 15,819 5.00 6.00 -1.00 10,542 -10,542 19,969 -19,969 

C 18,092 19,562 14.01 15.10 -1.09 19,969 -21,750 24,981 -27,209 

D 19,562 20,743 83.53 91.95 -8.42 24,981 -210,225 26,562 -223,528 

E 21,153 22,433 43.64 75.52 -31.88 27,111 -864,328 28,825 -918,972 

F 22,877 24,491 58.20 46.53 11.67 29,419 343,185 31,581 368,405 

G 24,982 27,041 55.75 76.16 -20.41 32,238 -657,917 34,995 -714,180 

H 27,741 30,451 33.15 18.50 14.65 35,933 526,460 39,561 579,629 

I 30,451 32,910 11.00 25.60 -14.60 39,561 -577,598 42,854 -625,666 

J 33,782 36,922 38.04 31.90 6.14 44,021 270,313 48,225 296,131 

K 36,922 39,880 18.81 22.00 -3.19 48,225 -153,800 52,187 -166,433 

L 40,876 43,857 5.00 2.00 3.00 53,520 160,560 57,512 172,535 

M 44,863 47,853 0.00 7.00 -7.00 58,858 -412,008 62,862 -440,034 

N 48,854 51,883 7.89 3.00 4.89 64,203 314,075 68,258 333,911 

O 52,877 56,172 3.00 0.00 3.00 69,589 208,768 74,002 222,006 

Q 60,449 63,015 0.00 4.00 -4.00 79,728 -318,913 83,164 -332,657 

D1 80,978 80,978 2.00 2.00 0.00 107,217 0 107,217 0 

CEO1 107,448 114,485 1.00 1.00 0.00 142,660 0 152,082 0 

Total 
  

380.03 428.26 -48.23   -1,403,721   
-

1,496,032 

Less non-Customer Connect salary adjustments 
  

183,113 
 

190,583 

So savings assumed to be due to Custoner Connect are between   -1,586,835   
-

1,686,615 
Basic salaries have increased by 2.68% between 2018/19 and 2021/22 

 

So the savings, at 2018/19 prices, are between 
Depending on assumptions made about position on pay scales  

- 1,545,460  
  

- 
1,642,63  

 

 
 
The above financial savings do not account for the costs of the programme. The table below outlines 
programme costs for which there is more detail in the implementation delivery above. 
 
 
Costs of the Programme Estimated costs in Year 

2018/19 

Estimated costs in 

Year 2019/20 

Total 

Implementation Costs  £576k £1,161k £1,737k 

External Partners Costs £290k £230k £520k 

Redundancy / Pension Strain Costs  £350k £940k £1,290k 

Digital 18/19 existing budget £301k  £301k 

Total Costs  £1,517k £2,331k £3,848 

 

Page 144



27 
 

Digital Business Case Summary 
 

One off Implementation Costs per

Implementation Support £111,000 * annum

Third Party Connectors £116,000

SLDC Implementation Costs £479,000

Contingency £55,500 £761,500

Recurring Costs (calculated over 12 years)

Licence Costs for Core Software £443,400 *

Link to data centres £156,000 *

Third Party Connectors £195,000 £794,400 £66,200

Benefits (calculated over 12 years)

Decommissioned Systems -£713,600 -£59,467

Non - staff savings -£475,226 -£39,602

Staff savings -£651,317 -£1,840,143 -£54,276

NET TOTAL -£284,243

AVERAGE ANNUAL SAVINGS OVER 12 YEARS £87,145

RETURN ON INVESTMENT 8.74 YEARS  

The Places element of the programme was approved in principle in Feburary 2019 and included in the Capital 
Programme in February 2020 at £4.737m spread over 2020/21 and 2021/22.  Due to Covid-19 there were 
delays to the start of the programme with capital spend to the end of September 2021 of £3.799m. 

The Places element of the programme will  

 Provide office space to support the Council’s Customer Connect Programme;  

 Create new modern town centre offices for other businesses; 

 Provide a MintWorks2 for new SME’s. - Deliver much needed refurbishment of Kendal Town Hall; 

 Provide much improved working facilities for all employees, both SLDC and KTC; 

 Provide disabled access to all areas of SLDC offices; 

 Enable a joint reception area in the front of the Town Hall;  

 Open up more meeting room space for community groups;  

 Reduce ongoing maintenance costs for the Council.  

 

Places Project: Summary 

Year 1 
(2020/21) 

Year 2 
(2021/22) 

Year 3 - 27 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Expenditure: Capital 
   

  

Construction Costs 902  3,608  0  4,510  

Contingency (5%) 46  182  0  228  

Total Capital Costs 947  3,790  0  4,737  

Expenditure: Revenue 
   

  

Legal / Accountancy / Agency Fees 9  36  0  45  

Income lost on Kendal Town Hall events 85  45  0  130  

Moving charges 0  25  0  25  

Total All Costs 1,041  3,896  0  4,937  

 
The project captures some works that would otherwise have been required under the normal business of asset 
management. As a result of this programme of works, over the first 10 years we will avoid £485k of capital 
expenditure and improve income or reduce operating costs by approximately £2.5m. This will significantly 
exceed the additional costs of borrowing (interest and repayment) to be incurred by the council (£208k pa). 

Page 145



28 
 

 

Places Project: Income Summary  Year 1 (2020/21)  
 Year 2 

(2021/22)   Year 3 - 27   Total  

   £000   £000   £000   £000  

Expected Income from occupiers: 0  -23  -5,869  -5,892  

Grant from LEP 0  -440  0  -440  

  0  -462  -5,869  -6,332  

 
The balance of the capital cost will be funded by borrowing from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB).As is 
normal practice with major projects where expenditure is offset by income over a number of years, costs and 
income have been discounted in the business case using a discount rate of 3%, which results in a Net Present 
Value for the project of just over £418k. 

 

 Human Resource 
 
The human resources work stream developed the fundamental principles of the organisation restructuring 
process. This entailed redesigning the Council’s Redundancy Policy to ensure it was fit for the purposes of 
future Council requirements, the Customer Connect transformation programme and the approach to managing 
staff in both voluntary and compulsory redundancy situations. In addition to this a role application process was 
designed for all staff who wished to apply for new roles in the new operating model. The role application 
process included technical/specialist questions along with competency based questions that related to the 
newly developed personal qualities framework. The personal qualities framework was designed to reflect the 
behaviours that the Council expected of all its newly appointed staff. 
 
 
 
 
From a people perspective the recruitment was split into the two Phases mentioned above. October 2018 saw 
the commencement of Phase 1 consultation, leading to the appointment of two new Directors, a number of 
functional and operational Leads and appointments to Case Management and Specialist job families.  
Leadership roles become effective from 1 April 2019 and all other Phase 1 appointments from 1 May 2019.   
 
Following the Phase 1 consultation on voluntary redundancy, which was opened to all Council employees, 20 
applications were approved. As a result of natural attrition and vacancy management the number of displaced 
employees at the end of Phase 1 was significantly reduced with 3 colleagues under notification of redundancy. 
Phase 1 saw 95 interviews taking place over a 3-week period. 
 
During Phase 2 recruitment there was a total of 192 interviews over a 9 week period. During Phase 2, 158 staff 
were involved. All staff were offered roles. Out of 158 staff, 5 opted for compulsory redundancy. 
 
Employee support has been provided in numerous ways ranging from 1:1 meetings, drop-in sessions, 
Occupational Health Clinics, Employee Assistance Programme, and a multitude of workshops ranging from 
Managing Change and Building Personal Resilience to Interview training.  
 
Through consultation with all employees the existing Personal Quality Framework (PQF) was enhanced and a 
competency-based recruitment process was introduced.   
 
 
 
 

 Change & Engagement 

At the outset the programme acknowledged that in order to achieve change in any organisation it was crucial 
to ensure that effective communication and employee engagement was achieved and maintained.  Ignite’s 
“five pillars of change” change management model was used as a framework to do this.  A ‘Change Champion’ 

‘Labour turnover is at its lowest at 8.89% in 

20/21, down from 15.65% in 19/20’ 

‘Unique role descriptions reduced from 200 

to 35’  

Page 146



29 
 

network of employees was also created to help embed the change by using this approach.  The Change 
Champion network received training to support their role as advocates of change and regular sessions were 
held with them to ensure the flow of information between employees and the Leadership Team. 
 
A target culture was agreed through facilitated workshops with the Leadership Team and the ‘Change 
Champion’ network, based on Carolyn Taylor’s “Walking the Talk” framework. This placed an emphasis on the 
tangible elements of the culture required to deliver the Customer Connect operating model and focussed on 
the messages that people receive about “what is it like to work here”. These messages had three main sources; 
behaviours, symbols and systems.  
 
A partnership with a local Leadership and Organisational Development consultancy, Ginger Dog, was formed to 
embed the new target culture.  It was delivered in the form of a Leadership Development Programme, the 
purpose of which was to bring together the newly appointed individuals as one team with a shared vision and 
purpose to drive forward the organisation.  
 
Following an analysis of the true purpose of the council, a set of values to support the culture has been 
developed and values workshops are currently being delivered to the rest of the organisation.  It is intended 
that the end result will be a set of agreed behaviours that has been developed by employees with an action 
plan for strengthening the Council as a values based organisation.   
 
A further partnership was formed with a local training provider, Lakes Training Solutions, to deliver a bespoke 
customer service training course for all staff.  As well as promoting the principles of customer service, the 
course has also helped to provide an understanding of the customer journey through the operating model, and 
valuable feedback has been gathered for the continued development of it. 
 
Team Leader development has also taken place, with an initial orientation session to bring the team together, 
as well as developing an understanding of what makes a high performing team.  A suite of training on HR 
principles and policies has also taken place and a management and leadership programme is being designed for 
delivery in autumn 2021. 
 
Transition Workshop sessions were delivered for Phase 2 Leads and Team Leaders, so that action plans could 
be created to support Phase 2 employees through transition. 
 
Organisational readiness surveys were held regularly to understand how employees were feeling about the 
impact of change and what was left to be achieved to embed the new operating model. 
 
A new suite of engagement tools have been and continue to be delivered, including: interactive sessions to 
increase Leadership Team visibility, Team Talk; informal social sessions for all employees, Cheerful Tuesdays; 
regular wellbeing updates; ‘One Team’ staff social media on SharePoint; and Team Leader specific sessions, HR 
Coffee Mornings.  The sessions continue to be successful. 
 

 Transition  

The Transition management work stream was accountable for ensuring that the transition from one state to 
the other was successful. This involved ensuring that the ‘lights are kept on’ and services are continued to be 
delivered while transitioning and that skills, knowledge and contacts were handed over when appropriate.  
 
The COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020 disrupted the Transition activity in Phase 2 and resources were 
reallocated to emerging response needs. Essential ‘business as usual’ activity was maintained and saw an 
increase in demand, these included Council Tax, NNDR and benefit enquires, homelessness support, test and 
trace activity and an increase in land and property searches. Some programme activity still progressed and this 
included complaints, compliments and comments, a range of waste related matters and an ability to report a 
full range of environmental concerns including litter, fly-tipping, dog fouling etc., Revenues and Benefits, 

Page 147



30 
 

licensing, FOI and Housing and Environmental Health matters, which will in turn, make the use of My Account 
more effective and efficient for customers. 
 
There is more transition activity to complete but a review of this work was completed in early 2021 and a way 
forward to complete this part of the programme is set out in the next section.   
 

 Staff development 

A comprehensive suite of eLearning courses was introduced following a skills gap analysis of corporate training 
requirements, examples of which include ‘understanding local government’ and ‘managing change’, as a well as 
a full set of customer service and people management modules. 
 
An organisational wide skills gap analysis framework was designed and rolled out for the Leadership Team to 
develop training plans.  The skills gap work was called ‘Investing In Your Skills’ and an action plan to deliver the 
training and development interventions has been drawn up, with courses such as finance, governance, scrum 
working and others to be delivered. 

To embed the concept of a continuous learning culture, with an additional emphasis on wellbeing, a new 
performance development framework called ‘Your Conversation’ has been designed and implemented, with 
supporting training for people managers and accompanying employee guidance.  It’s an informal, user-friendly 
approach that includes a focus on wellbeing as well job satisfaction and goal-setting. Completion rates are 
starting to ramp up with the target of 100% completion. Feedback suggests that employees appreciate this 
more relaxed approach which takes place as one of the monthly one to one meetings between line managers 
and team members. 
 
 

Learning activity name 
Number of 
participants 

Change Champions 38 

Competency-Based Interview Workshops 294 

Connecting with our customers 127 

Connecting with our Customers (virtual format) 106 

Culture Workshop 39 

Customer Connect Roadshow 419 

Drop-Ins with Programme Board 163 

Employee Assistance Programme 25 

Expression of Interest Workshops 326 

HR Bitesize Essentials: Mental Health Awareness 24 

HR Bitesize Essentials: Conflict Resolution 21 

HR Bitesize Essentials: Discipline and Grievance 26 

HR Bitesize Essentials: Managing Remotely 10 

HR Bitesize Essentials: Managing Sickness Absence 26 

HR Bitesize Essentials: Recruitment and Induction 20 

HR Bitesize Essentials: Workplace Investigations 10 

Lunch and Learn 14 

Managing Change and Building Personal Resilience 213 

Occupational Health Drop-ins 20 

Personal Wellbeing and Resilience Digital Workshop 54 

Working Arrangements and Flexi Time Policy Workshop 71 

Total participants 2046 

 

 

Page 148



31 
 

Progression - the following diagram sets out how staff are able to move from one job family to another based 
on their learning and ambition to specialise in a particular area of the business.  

 

One example of a staff member who has moved and developed their role within the organisation can be found 
in Appendix 3. There are several examples like this but their permission would be needed to submit to this 
report. 

Page 149



32 
 

More staff have become involved in the programme since the organisation started using elements of scrum to 
develop and deliver online forms and channel shift objectives.  

- We have a digital development team who have developed their skills to deliver forms to support more 
complex applications and processes.  

- Staff in both scrum teams have advanced our user research testing, working with external 
organisations and then moving sessions online during the pandemic.  

- A staff web editor model has also been implemented, with a number of colleagues trained to edit web 
content, and across the council there are staff who are regularly test online forms for the transactions 
team.  

- The scrum teams are supported by a newly qualified scrum master whose role is to facilitate the scrum 
and coach the team.  

- There are two business analysts who work in the scrums, liaising with the organisation to identify the 
requirements for building new forms and delivering the channel shift objective.  

 
We have made significant investments in our employees in terms of developing their skills and capabilities, and 
growing their confidence to be able to embrace the new model. This covers both existing employees and a 
significant number of new employees that have joined the organisation. Further investments are planned over 
the coming months as we continue to grow our organisational capability.   

Regular employee communications have been a real focus over the past two years. These were initially in 
person, but switched to virtual from March 2020 because of Covid-19. Many different forms of two-way 
communications have been successfully used to ensure that employees are kept in touch with all 
developments, and have the opportunity to comment and ask questions.   

For a detailed update on staff communications across the programme go to the communications section.  

 Health and Wellbeing 

A Wellbeing at Work policy was introduced with a new tool for all employees, Wellness Action Plans.  This was 
supported by training courses for all people managers. 

A regular set of wellbeing surveys has been delivered to ‘temperature check’ the organisation during the 
implementation of Customer Connect alongside the ongoing pandemic.  Three such surveys have been 
conducted since the start of the COVID pandemic. The first one resulted in 82% positivity and 5% negativity. 
The second resulted in 74% positivity and 10% negativity. The third in 68% positivity and 12% negativity. Whilst 
the trend shows some reduction in positivity and an increase in negativity, the results are very encouraging and 
have held up remarkably well given the upheaval caused by the COVID pandemic. Resilience workshop sessions 
have also been provided, as well a suite of wellbeing eLearning courses. 

 Smart working 

Smart working workshops were delivered to the leadership team for roll out to their teams, so that the 
principles of agile working were understood, planned for and embedded.  The production of an action plan for 
smart working was the outcome of these sessions. 
 
This means staff can work remotely, reduce travel time and are able to go directly to site visits without the 
need for having to start from the office.  The conferencing facilities meant that staff could have virtual 
meetings rather than face to face also benefiting from cost of travel and time.  This has benefited the climate 
change priority of the council.  The COVID pandemic has highlighted the advantages of the Smart working 
guidelines. Virtual working allowed SLDC to continue to deliver its vast array of services at a time when many 
comparable organisations were struggling to adapt. The positive view of Smart working is exemplified by the 
April 2021 Health and Wellbeing Survey where, out of 173 respondents, 79% said they were ‘satisfied with the 
smart working arrangements in place’, whilst only 4% said they weren’t satisfied.  

 

 

‘79% of staff say they are satisfied with smart 

working arrangements’ 

Page 150



33 
 

Remote working has attracted a wider talent pool with staff working from across the country, including 
Scotland and Wales.  Although the programme wanted to have a stronger brand to attract people to the 
organisation this has been delivered in part by remote working. There is still work to be done on this part of the 
business especially giving staff digital solutions to work on site. This will be described in the next section. 

 Recruitment and Retention 

New competency based recruitment processes to deliver the concept of ‘hire for behaviours, train for skills’, 
including full review following the initial use during the internal restructuring phases. 

New advertising to promote the benefits of working for a new and different organisation 

Refresh of job vacancies pages on SLDC website 

Simplified job application process for new applicants 

Simplified vacancy authorisation process, security clearance process and employee reference process. 

 Members  

Members have been involved in various stages of the programme since approving the business case including 
attending briefings, roadshows, the member support steering group and task and finish groups.  

In the early stages of the development of the job families, Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
set up a Task and Finish Group to work with officers on the development of Locality working. With cross party 
involvement and Members knowledge of community issues this contributed to a set of recommendations for 
Cabinet approval in support of working more closely with Town and Parish Councils and to promote within 
their owns Groups the new ways of working. This included requesting service activity online and the setup of 
their own My Accounts.  To date there are 28 Members registered for My Account. 

All members have corporate laptops with the last few rolled out during April 2020 to coincide with the launch 
of virtual meetings using Microsoft Teams. This included online training and test meetings so that members 
and officers were ready to use the technology and follow the required protocols to make meetings lawful. In 
total there were 57 virtual meetings held between 20 May 2020 and 23 April 2021 enabling council business to 
continue during the coronavirus pandemic and each of these meetings were accessible to the public.  

51 members were trained to use Teams and with refresher sessions organised as required. Feedback on our 
Virtual Meetings has been positive with attendance at meetings being above average numbers for members of 
the public. The Legal Governance and Democratic Services Teams partly for this work were shortlisted for the 
Lawyers in Local Government Innovation award and received a commendation. Partly for this work the Legal 
Team are finalists in the Law Society in house Legal team of the year award.  

The Governance and Democracy Team are rolling out training for all members on the use of the Mod Gov app 
for further efficiencies.  

With the successful role out of digital enablement and virtual meetings, HR developed and launched a new 
training calendar. There is a suite of councillor specific eLearning courses that supplements the ongoing 
Member development.  The courses are optional and continue to be promoted. The benefit of online training 
means that Members do not have to travel across the district to attend face to face learning which also 
benefits from a reduction in Member expenses and aligns with the climate change priorities. In 2018/19 and 
2019/20 Members expenses were circa 13.5k in 2020/21 they were £1371. The pandemic lockdown will have 
contributed to this considerably but we will continue to monitor this progress in 2021/22 as committee 
meetings start to go back to face to face.  

 

  

The new member development strategy was approved at Council in July setting out the continuous 
implementation into digital ways of working to ensure new Members elected to the Council adopt this 
approach.  

’57 virtual committee meetings successfully 

held in 20/21 ’ 

Page 151



34 
 

As well as briefing all Ward Members there has also been a number of briefings to Town and Parish Councils 
including a briefing to CALC all encouraging the use of My Account and requesting services online. This has 
generated a number of very useful pieces of feedback to improve the way we do business with our customers. 
Some Members agreed to take part in customer testing of online forms which helped in the early days, making 
sure we had the most efficient process and easy access to services possible. We still receive ongoing Member 
feedback that is fed into the ongoing development of online forms to request services.  

 Data and Reporting 

Managing performance is part of everyday effective management and work practice, and is integral to all that 
we do.  The purpose of this work was to underpin how information, data and business intelligence is used 
within the Council in order to make decisions, drive service improvement and to ensure a consistent and robust 
approach to performance management throughout the organisation. Where key elements of Business and 
Management Intelligence are weak, or not in place, the basis for our decision making is at risk of being unclear, 
ineffectively communicated and cannot be readily assessed by Senior Management, Operational Leads, 
Councillors, employees or other stakeholders. 
 
Developing a strong culture for excellent performance was at the heart of our strategic approach to delivery.  It 
started with having a clearly articulated Council Plan, which set out what our strategic priorities were for South 
Lakeland. It was used in day to day planning and strategic decision making ensuring that key decisions are 
evidence based: 

 Establishing and embedding a strong performance culture throughout the organisation, 

 Improving our performance in line with our Council Plan priorities, 

 Facilitating the cross-organisation ownership of key issues as we work as one to serve our residents, 

 Ensuring that decisions are being made based on robust evidence, supported by accurate and up to 
date management information, 

 Improving the availability, quality and use of management information, and 

 Ensuring that there are clear lines of accountability. 
 
In addition our bespoke Business and Management Intelligence has enabled us to: 

 Use our existing data sets better, collect new data sets which measure important outcomes and 
integrate data from multiple systems and services, 

 Provide Senior Management, Operational Leads and Team Leaders up-to-date overviews of services, 
cases and budgets offering actionable insights and prompts. 

 
Information Governance – policies in place, security of data 

The Council’s Information Governance Framework was developed to ensure that information was effectively 
managed and properly protected. It defined the roles and responsibilities of all stakeholders involved in 
handling and managing Council information. It brought together all the legislative and regulatory requirements, 
standards and best practice in relation to the following areas: 
 

 Data quality- recognition that the accuracy, coverage, timeliness and completeness of data can 

significantly impact on the value of its use. 

 Information security - ensure that Council information is not compromised by unauthorised access, 

modification, disclosure or loss. 

 Information compliance - ensure compliance with all statutory requirements governing the 
management of information, including rights of access under freedom of information and data 
protection legislation. 

 Records management - processes and practices that ensure Council records are systematically 

controlled and maintained, covering the creation, storage, management, access, and disposal of 

records, in compliance with best practice, legal obligations and policy requirements. 

 Information sharing - ensure that Council information is shared in a compliant, controlled and 
transparent manner. 

Page 152



35 
 

 
Arrangements are in place to ensure that Members and Officers of the Council are made aware of any 
potentially violent people or hazardous property, premises or animal. Our Warning Marker Register was set up 
and contains individuals or a domestic or business address where there could be a potential risk from 
aggressive behaviour. The register is used to raise awareness of those having the need to visit those properties 
in the course of their duties or activities so that they can take appropriate or alternative control measures to 
minimise the risk of an incident. 
 
Information asset register  

This worksteam sat alongside the digital development work as the Council needed to keep records so that it 
could function effectively and ensure compliance with its legal, regulatory and statutory obligations.  With an 
increasing amount of council work now conducted electronically there has been a drive in growth in: 

 ‘Unstructured’ electronic records and documents that are created using office applications such as MS 
Word, PowerPoint, etc. (including email, web-pages, audio-visual records) that can then be stored in a 
variety of locations (shared drive, personal drives, email inboxes, portal sites, intranet, databases, back-
up tapes, etc.) 

 ‘Structured’ database records held in various line of business applications  
 
While electronic records are similar to paper records in that they can support the Council’s business and legal 
requirements, they can also offer many additional advantages to the Council: 
 

 Quick to update/ change 

 Enhanced search and retrieval facilities 

 Increased accessibility  

 Supporting remote/ multiple users and information sharing 

 Easily re-usable content 

 Reduction in duplicated/ paper records and associated costs, ( 

 Realised cost savings – reduced officer time and  effort, photocopying consumables, physical storage, 
transport and waste disposal 

 Enhanced transparency and reporting 

 Enriched communications 

 Support delivery of South Lakeland My Account 

 Enhanced security features  
 

In order for these benefits to be realised, it is vital that electronic records are appropriately managed from the 
point of their creation, through the use of transparent data on gov.uk site. Data on spend has been published 
since 2014 and our transparency agenda has three primary benefits: 
 

 Improved accountability, Better public services, Economic Growth derived 
 
It is about us: 
 

 opening up the data we hold, getting high quality data into the public’s hands, letting the public know 
what we are doing, actively sharing our data 

 
Regular publishing of the data we hold including addresses, land use, regulation zones and environmental 
protection helps planning, emergency services and transport provision to name a few.  Sharing the 
environmental data we hold among public sector organisations provides better public access to the same data 
assisting us to reach our strategic environmental and climate change outcomes. 

Page 153



36 
 

Place 

The Place work package commissioned Lambert Smith Hampton and Blue-sky Interior Designers Ltd to produce 
concept and developed design options, up to RIBA Stage 3 (Concept design), for South Lakeland House and 
Kendal Town Hall, with the aim of creating a scheme which was fit for purpose, fit for the future and maximised 
the use of the available space. To undertake an assessment of potential demand for the refurbished surplus 
space which would likely arise from the investment in South Lakeland House and Kendal Town Hall and carry 
out a market review of all office space within Kendal to determine existing supply and potential future.  
 
The design included looking at a new reception in the Town Hall, create an office environment which 
encouraged more agile and interconnected workforce and create an exciting, vibrant workspace where people 
would spend time and create an interface between users and their environment. Various case studies show 
that an improved working environment increases productivity and so it was considered important to create an 
environment where people enjoy working that offers colleagues a chance to work in a manner and setting 
which suits them. The design was also to be based on a Desk ratio of 7:10 (7 desks for every 10 employees) and 
the number of desks based on the perceived staff numbers post-Customer Connect implementation.  
 
Since then a study has been undertaken to consider the impact of COVID and working from home. As a result 
the accommodation requirements reduced in terms of the number of workspaces and the type of workspace 
changed with the new accommodation supporting a move away from silo working towards one of flexible 
working, where boundaries between persons doing different tasks were removed. 
 
The building contract was awarded in August 2020. Staff have since moved into Kendal Town Hall and the First 
Floor of South Lakeland House on completion of work to these areas. The works to the remainder of the 
building in South Lakeland House is due to be completed by autumn 2021 when income can be generated from 
the lease of additional office space to external organisations.  
 
The places project has delivered on a new modern office environment which is fit for purpose, offers staff a 
range of working environments to suit their needs. Currently staff are advised to work from home where 
possible but having undertaken a poll of staff, it appears that the desking ratio will meet with the needs of the 
staff. A further review will take place after the 16th August where the Council expects to be able to encourage 
staff to work between the office and home to suit their and the organisation’s needs.  

The work when completed in autumn 2021 will provide approximately 627m2 office space to be used by SME’s 
for which a grant was received to a value of £439k from Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership. Discussions are 
also ongoing with potential tenants for the new space at second floor and lower ground floor.  

 

 
The Kendal Town Hall refurbishment is now complete and offers 200m2 of more meeting space with rooms 
more versatile to suit a range of uses. The Town Hall also offers a new Council reception area and public 
meeting space off the main high street. The Council is also looking to build on current partnerships with the 
likes of Women’s Community Matters and the CAB operating from Kendal Town Hall on set days to provide 
support to the public from a fit for purpose and central location.  

It is expected that running costs for South Lakeland House will be reduced with the Council and whilst we have 
seen a decline in Gas and Electrical consumption, this needs to be monitored in coming months to understand 
the real benefit because for the last 12-18 months gas and electric consumption will naturally be lower due to 
vacant space due to the refurbishment and impact from Covid.  

Customer Service staff said “this is the first time we have all been able to work together in one space, this 
means we can support each other when we have difficult customers to deal with” 

 

‘More than 600m2 of office space created to support SMEs in 

South Lakeland House’  

‘200m2 additional letting space created in Kendal Town 

Hall for community use’ 

Page 154



37 
 

Digital 

Part of the digital business case benefits were to reduces the number of systems in operation, the table below 
sets out what has been achieved to date:  

Systems Decommissioned 

System Name Description Annual Cost 

Excelsior CRM £14,000 

Easysite Website Content 
Management 

£  3,000 

Website Hosting  £  1,500 

NDL Robotic User Solution instead 
of using Application 
Programmable Interfaces 

£12,000 

Covalent Complaints £  5,000 

Team Netsol (in the process of 
being decommissioned when 
Capita forms go live) 

Online Benefits Form £  9,200  

  £44,700  
Used to pay for the annual 
costs of the Digital Platform 
(EsbAgile) which has replaced 
the functionality described 
above 

Mapinfo Previous GIS software used in 
various places in the council 

 

Cartology  Previous GIS software used in 
Development Management 

 

 

Functionality Delivered 

 Transactions, Forms & My Account 

As set out in the scrum section regarding My Account the digital platform has the ability to create transactions 

to enable  

- customer self-service through online forms  

- facilitated access for customers through Customer Services using the CRM and  transactions (same as 

above) for Face to Face or Telephone transactions 

- transactions are configured to a defined standard which includes messaging when updates/changes are 

made in the processing of a transaction 

- where customers can register, allows customer services to see all transactions related to a particular 

customer.  Customer can see their transactions and the status.   There is integration between My 

Account and GIS, basic information about a customer’s property is displayed in the customer’s my 

account home screen.  This is the same information that can be found by visiting 

https://my.southlakeland.gov.uk and selecting a property address. 

The functionality delivered by the system has supported SLDC in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic.  Over 

£130 Million has been applied for (of which 115 million paid out) using the digital platform capability.  The 

functionality has evolved for each evolution of the grant applications, the later ones have more automation 

capability reducing the resources required to process the applications. 

Page 155

https://my.southlakeland.gov.uk/


38 
 

 CRM 

The digital platform replaced our previous CRM system with added functionality. The new system TouchPoint 

can be configured to provide a knowledge based system. This means that staff are in the process of forming 

knowledge bubbles so when a customer phones us they can be routed to a customer service advisor (CSA) that 

has more knowledge of their enquiry. This is based on the following: 

Press 1 for Pay for something 
Press 2 for Apply for something 
Press 3 for Report something 
Press 4 for Change of circumstances 
Press 5 for everything else 
 
This will mean the customer will be dealt with by a CSA in a more efficient way. Staff will have the skills in those 

areas to provide resolutions at the first point of contact for the customer. If they are more complex enquiries 

then this will be passed to the case management team.  

 Integrations 

Payment integration – this allows transactions to take a payment as part of the form, this is completed for 

customer self-service forms where the payment integration is fully integrated.  Where Customer services are 

dealing with a request face to face or over the phone, a different payment process is required, this was 

because of restricted functionality of the payment system at the time and needs to be revisited as a business 

priority. 

GIS integration – this allows the information about a property to be displayed within the My Account home 

screen. We have on the list of requirements the ability to report things by marking the location on a map, this 

would also display to customers where something has already been reported. 

Revenues and Benefits System Integration – this now provides access to various elements of the Revenues and 

Benefits system from a My Account, when a customer creates a My Account then adds the appropriate services 

to their My Account, this is achieved if the customer can provide enhanced security information to confirm 

they are the owner of the accounts.  Access can be gained to: 

- Council Tax Information 

- Business Rates Information 

- Housing Benefit Information 

- Landlord Information 

Additional work by Digital: 

 Geographical Information System  

- We have replaced the system with an Enterprise GIS solution, this has consolidated the GIS data across 

the council and decommissioning of previous GIS systems 

- Modified GIS processes to improve efficiency in processing GIS data 

- Positional Accuracy Improvement work to fix historical issues with the GIS data following maps being 

updated by ordinance survey 

 Cumbria Choice Based Letting – we led on the procurement of a new system covering 13 partners (local 

authorities and registered housing providers across Cumbria).  System is now being implemented, due 

to go live in September 

Page 156



39 
 

 Development Management - As part of the development of the Meritec solution there was the 

potential to build a Development Management System.  Since those early days a report went to the 

Member Steering Group and Cabinet with recommendations to procure an independent system to 

reduce the time it would take to build and integrate the Meritec solution. This was agreed and as a 

result we have: 

- Led on the procurement of a new Development Management System covering Planning, Planning 

Policy, Building Control, Land Charges and CIL. 

- Contract negotiations coming to an end, working with business leads how to progress into system 

implementation. 

- A great deal of work has been done to improve the quality of the data used in various areas.  This is in 

preparation for data migration into the new system, but also to improve processes in the short term. 

 Local Land and Property Gazetteer - A new system was delivered in 2016 replacing an outdated 

product, the new system streamlined the processes of maintaining the gazetteer.  We are reviewing 

this again at the moment as contract runs out March 2022. There is still work to be completed in this 

area with regard to the management of our address data. Please see next section regarding the details. 

 

Communications 

Through the Communications work stream we prepared a plan in 2016 to deliver activities that provided a 

comprehensive understanding of the Customer Connect programme among key stakeholders, both internal 

and external.  It was especially important to ensure that our staff and members had a good understanding and 

commitment to the change process, to achieve ‘buy-in’ to the new ways of working to maximise the benefits 

and ensure that we delivered the most effective services for our communities. 

This involved agreeing set of communications principles and key messages:  

 

Key messages  

 We will make life simpler for everyone (staff and residents) 

 We will deliver faster, better and more cost-effective services for our residents 

 We will develop skills and create opportunities for staff 

 By improving our systems and providing more self-service options for residents we can reduce process and 

free up staff to assist our most vulnerable residents 

 Staff reductions and changes to job roles are inevitable, but in a carefully managed process 

 

Key communications principles 

 Simple, timely, messages promoting benefits 

 Improved customer interaction 

 Messages tailored for appropriate audiences 

 Encourage shift to most cost-effective channels 

 To inform, engage, and equip staff for the future 

 To promote the compelling need to change 

 Re-state the benefits at every opportunity 

 Maintain an honest and transparent approach 

 Be inclusive and involving 

 Listen to feedback to achieve buy-in – customer feedback informs our response 

 Celebrate success at key stages 

 Support staff through transition  

 

Page 157



40 
 

There were three phases to the communications strategy: 

1. Case for Change/Vision 

2. Support for recruitment 

3. Transition and move to BAU 

 

Phase 1: Case for Change and the Customer Connect ‘Vision’ 

 

Activities included: 

 Quarterly Chief Executive briefings (Briefings have included a Customer Connect update since 2016) 

 Member briefings and regular newsletter updates 

 Managers’ ‘away-day’ at Kendal College to outline concept and future model to cascade to teams 

 Branding – posters and displays around buildings displaying Customer Connect logo (not just in the main 

South Lakeland House offices, but also including staff areas at depots, homeless hostel and lake wardens’ 

offices) 

 Log-on ‘lock’ screens – when colleagues log on in the morning, initial screen features Customer Connect 

branding and where to find out more information about the programme. Since July the slides will focus on 

Climate Change, but then we’ll have a chance to get more Customer connect specific. Small working group 

made up of officers across the organisation are driving this. There is a plan to update the slide on a regular 

basis – probably fortnightly.  

 Dedicated area created on staff intranet site SharePoint. Originally launched in summer 2015, this 

developed to become the principle source of organisation-wide programme updates. All staff given 

information how to sign up for alerts, so that any update to the Customer Connect SharePoint area 

automatically generates an email to colleagues’ Inbox. This has developed into a One Team site for all staff 

to share information on a more informal basis. 

 Dedicated email set up for staff to send Customer Connect related questions. Communications managed 

these enquiries and provided responses to questions after consulting with relevant programme work 

stream leads 

 FAQs document developed and updated regularly to answer main questions 

 Videos by work stream leads, explaining more about their areas of the programme 

 Customer Connect project room established with associated branding 

 Team meeting briefings from project leads and briefings for operational managers 

 Regular Customer Connect update page/s in internal staff magazine Inside Story (See Appendix 3 EXAMPLE 

1) 

 Digital Champions forum (Change Network) established in May 2017 to support the understanding of the 

Customer Connect project among staff 

 Feedback from customers via surveys (revised Quality of Life questions) and internal (staff survey) to 

influence messages. 

 Staff feedback forms after each briefing session or workshop run and the data collated was used to inform 

and improve the next sessions.  

 

Phase 2: Support for recruitment 

 

Activities included: 

 Extensive features in every edition of the staff magazine Inside Story since 2016 to inform about the 

recruitment process. These have included graphic representations of staff survey results, features on 

specific areas of the programme (i.e. focus on the service redesign team and their work, work of scrum 

teams etc.) and summary of programme updates 

 Two recruitment ‘roadshow’ events, the first for all staff (August 2018) and the second directed at Phase 2 

(April 2019) recruitment – extensive information about job families, programme and interview process 

(See Appendix 3 EXAMPLE 1) 

Page 158



41 
 

 Supported messaging around recruitment process and support – including resilience training, interview 

preparation workshops and occupational health sessions 

 Infographic timeline for Customer Connect programme displayed in Customer Connect area 

 Four staff ‘Change Readiness Surveys’ carried out to take the ‘barometer’ of the organisation at various 

points in the programme and to help determine future communications/training/information 

requirements. The first was in August 2018 (following the first roadshow), the second was in April 2019, a 

further ‘pulse’ survey was conducted in July 2019 with phase 1 colleagues and further all-staff survey was 

conducted in October/November 2019 

 Prepared update briefings for all staff as ‘open letters’ from Chief Executive 

 Support organisational change process, working with HR, to include updates via SharePoint page, staff 

briefings, team meetings and regular updates from Operational Managers forum 

 Ongoing messaging via Digital Champions forum and feedback 

 Project team facilitate staff information ‘drop-ins’ – increased accessibility 

 Monthly email newsletter  and update briefings for members 

 

During this phase we also undertook significant external communications, including: 

 Regular communications around the business case, recruitment updates and work to improve 

offices/town hall (including rationale for staying in existing buildings). This included face-to-face briefings 

for key media and articles on the Customer Connect programme in the resident newsletter, South 

Lakeland News (See Appendix 3 EXAMPLE 2) 

 

Phase 3: Transition and move to BAU 

 

Activities included: 

 Specific communications packages of work around transition – to support roll-out of new transition 

‘passports’ and what transition means (this included an extensive Inside Story feature in September 2019) 

and around ‘Smart Working’ (developed booklet and delivered training to leadership team on roll-out of 

smart working as part of transition plans) 

 Advised on development of transition passports 

 Change Champions group established – staff-led group looking at areas of the programme and feeding 

back to teams 

 New Leadership Team blogs feature set up….introducing the new team and their experiences of the 

Customer Connect process  

 Drop-ins organised around areas identified by staff in surveys as needing more information – examples 

included sessions on the role of case management and work around the development of My Account. This 

led to establishment of regular Team Talk information sharing sessions for staff 

 Scrum team blog set up 

 Celebrating successes with stories about positive examples of Customer Connect transition work, including 

personal accounts of ‘My Customer Connect journey’ (See Appendix 3 EXAMPLE 3) 

 New interactive ‘One Team’ section on SharePoint to embed new culture and ways of working 

 
External communications were a significant part of this phase, to ensure our residents and customers were 

aware of the new ways of working and to assist the behaviour change and channel shift. Activities included: 

 ‘Save Time, Do it Online’ channel shift social media campaign, engaging with residents, members and 

partners to increase self-service and use of digital channels. Aim to maximise take-up of digital services 

and personalised customer accounts 

 My Account launch with extensive integrated campaign. This included press releases, associated social 

media, newspaper and social media adverts, article in South Lakeland News as well as flyers inserted in 

Council Tax/Business Rates bills. Campaign included an incentive for new account sign-ups to be entered 

into a prize draw to win one of five iPads. Campaign launched in March 2021, with an initial target of 7,000 

Page 159



42 
 

sign-ups in Year One (by March 2022). In first two weeks of campaign launch 2,000 My Accounts were 

created and by August 2021 8,200 My Accounts had been created, exceeding the Year One target (See 

Appendix 3 EXAMPLE 4) 

 Intention to expand the channel shift campaign once pandemic restrictions allow to include specific 

support for vulnerable residents to access self-service, for example, working with community partners to 

deliver digital workshops, possible community-based portal access in village shops, community centres 

etc. Opportunity to address wider issues of social isolation and digital connectivity 

 Ongoing reassurance that face-to-face and ‘traditional’ contact is maintained 

 External features on successful work of new Customer Connect operating model – i.e. work of new Locality 

Teams in community (See Appendix 3 EXAMPLE 5) 

 External promotion of new-look main reception in town hall, more accessible and customer- friendly, in 

line with programme principles 

 

Page 160



43 
 

7. What still needs to be done  

Identifying what still needs to be done is based on a review of the 2016 Programme Definition Document and 

the business cases for People, Place and Digital. The following sets out what still needs to be achieved. 

Demand Management 

Demand management is about ensuring the right services reach the right residents when and where needed 

for the best cost. By changing the nature of the council's role and relationship with customers, we are seeking 

alternative mechanisms to meet customer needs and thereby better manage demand. Future intelligence 

gathered will support management decisions to reduce avoidable demand as the continuous roll out of the 

digital platform will enable customers to carry out requests themselves.  

Where the council will most benefit is around preventing demand. Having locality teams gathering knowledge 

and intelligence about customer behaviours, wants and needs will provide a better understanding of the root 

causes thus enabling the council to put in steps to prevent demand. This work needs to continue as we have 

learnt during the pandemic, customers’ needs change based on their environmental circumstances and we will 

need to continually adapt (and be agile) to respond quickly.     

Key activity:    

 Continue the channel shift work to reduce customer demand by website and form usability. 

 Improve the user experience  

 Promote and increase the use of my account 

Programme Office 

 There will be a need to have governance arrangements in place to manage the remaining work. 

Options have been set out in the next section for consideration.   

Process - Scrums/process redesign and new ways of working 

 There is significant work to be completed in this work stream. See section 8 of the report on how the 

process work will be delivered. Handoffs between job families will be agreed and understood and back 

office processes will be more efficient and automated were possible.  

 We also need to continue to reduce the number of emails addresses and back office telephone 

numbers so that much more calls can be logged through the customer service team.  

 Continuous Digital Development  

 A key piece of work that is fundamental to progress is the upgrade to ESBAgile and work with the 

supplier to relocate to new hosted data centre environment.  

 We need dashboards and enhanced reporting to be able to map and track service requests.  

 Enhanced GIS integration, allowing for request to be allocated on a map and thus reducing the 

likelihood of duplicate requests.  

 The delivery of business support technology investment. Integration with Information @ Work 

document management (need to identify valid use cases). 

Page 161



44 
 

 Assist in the delivery of the new Development Management System covering Planning, Planning Policy, 

Building Control, Land Charges and CIL and integrate with the digital platform (My Account). 

 Complete the configuration of the call management system configuration for Customer Services. 

  Complete work on the new forms for Revenues and Benefits to support customer self-service. 

 Upgrade Information @ Work to latest version.  

 Following the upgrade to Information @ Work, Implement e-mail connect module to help improve and 

automate processes for Revenues and Benefits. 

 Implement EsbAgile mobile working for Locality so that they can pick up requests and update whilst 

mobile. 

People  

Further work includes: 

 Work continues to embed the new culture via Purpose, Values and Behaviours Workshops for all staff 

involved in Customer Connect Phases 1 and 2.  

 Delivery of training plan arising from Investing In Your Skills work 

 Further customer service specific training for customer facing employees 

 Introduction of early career apprentices to the new way of working , and using the apprenticeship levy 

to train internal staff  

 Support the introduction of business partnering 

 People manager development programme for Team Leaders to complement the leadership 

development programme (with local training provider Ginger Dog) 

 Understanding organisational governance and finance 

Page 162



45 
 

8. How and when we will deliver the outstanding activity? 

Programme Governance Options 

To manage the short to medium term activity of the organisation we need to consider a number of options for 

delivery.   

Option 1 – Continue to manage the Customer Connect Programme as set out in the diagram below. This gives 

the sense of commitment to getting the programme completed for both staff and Members. The current 

arrangements have an agreed terms of reference, staff allocated to the work streams and the SRO chairs a 

Customer Connect Transition Group on a weekly basis.   

   

Option 2 – Close the Customer Connect Programme and use the tools and techniques learnt to deliver ongoing 

continuous improvement. This demonstrates we are working in the new way e.g. Scrums used to resolve 

processing issues, the Design Authority makes decisions using the design principles of the model. 

Reporting progress would be part of the monthly Leadership Team meetings and Portfolio Holder updates. 

Staff could retain certain roles to ensure continuity of work, e.g. the SRO could still have responsibility for 

ensuring the transition of staff in phase 2 was complete. 

Option 3 – Combine a number of programmes including Customer Connect and Local Government 

Reorganisation with Business as Usual and mange within a Portfolio Management approach. This will highlight 

the importance of all programmes that need resourcing and will also be responsible for the dependencies and 

benefits being realised across the whole organisation.  

Page 163



46 
 

A portfolio approach is the totality of an organisations investment in the activities and changes required to 

achieve its strategic objectives. Portfolio planning is a coordinated collection of strategic processes and 

decisions that together enable the most effective balance of organisation activity – initiatives and Business as 

Usual (BaU) to achieve its declared outcomes.  

Recommendation  

It was recommended to the Customer Connect Member Steering Group that Option 3 was taken forward. With 

the HMCLG announcement for two unitary authorities for Cumbria there will be a requirement to share 

resources with both District and County Council to set up, transition and start work in a new authority from 1st 

April 2023. The Portfolio Management approach would ensure that decision making on a day to day basis 

around project priorities, systems, assets, people and data would sit alongside the continuous implementation 

of the Customer Connect Programme. The key element to implementing this structure is to ensure sufficient 

resources are applied across all areas to achieve delivery. There is also an opportunity to use the Customer 

Connect model as a baseline for future LGR activity.  

With agreement from the Steering Group, officers are now developing a new governance structure to take 

effect in early October that will ensure the effective management and delivery of the organisations key 

programmes, projects and business as usual work until the transfer to the new unitary authority on 1st April 

2023.   

Budget  

There is a remaining budget to deliver the remaining customer connect priorities which is set out below: 

Budget Activity TOTAL 

  Revenue 

Digital  ESB & other solutions 553,000 

Training Learning & development for phase 2 
transition 

105,000 

Contract  Support for Strategic Framework 33,500 

 TOTAL 691,500 

  Capital 

Mobile 
working 

Street Scene In cab technology KIT 27 120,000 

Digital ESB & other solutions KIT 30 112,916 

 Development Management system 
(121K transfer) KIT 30 

284,516 

 Transport Software KIT 32 35,000 

 Income Management Upgrade KIT 33 40,000 

 TOTAL 
592,432 

 

Page 164



47 
 

Overall this will bring the programme in slightly under the original business case figures, mainly due to lower 

than projected redundancy costs: 

 

Lessons Learnt 

It is always helpful to review what has been learnt from delivering a programme of this scale and size and the 

information set out below will hopefully contribute to the development of the LGR programme. 

Programme Governance and set up 

Identify the vision and outcomes to be achieved early on. 

Develop a blueprint so the new ‘to be’ organisation is clearly articulated and understood by the delivery team. 

Agree governance arrangements as soon as possible (they can change over time). This can mean realigning lead 

roles in the organisation to take on the accountability and responsibility of the programme.   

Identify people with the skills and knowledge to deliver the programme and work streams and free up their 

time needed to deliver the programme. 

Set up a programme office environment ahead of the programme launch so that the programme definition can 

be developed and agreed and business cases can be approved with money and people resource allocated. 

  
Business 

Case  
2018/19 

Actual 
2019/20 

Actual 
2020/21 

Actual 

2021/2
2 

Actual 
to end 

Sept 
2021 

Total 
Actual 
to end 

Sept 
2021 

Budget 
Remaining 

Projected 
Total Cost 
Customer 

Connect 
Customer Connect 
People Business Case £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Interim SLDC resource 757 217 314 85 56 672 0 672 
External Change and 
Implementation 
Expertise 520 294 399 29 0 722 33 755 

Functional support  200 0 0 0 0 
  

  

Training 190 0 54 29 8 91 97 188 

Technology 440 236 39 21 32 329 642 970 

Hardware/Infrastructure 451 68 88 23 32 211 276 487 
Redundancy and 
pension strain 1,290 600 70 1 0 671 0 671 

Total People Business 
Case 3,848 1,416 964 188 128 2,696 1,048 3,743 

  
       

  
Customer Connect 
Places Business Case 

       

  

Capital Costs 4,737 0 37 1,990 1,333 3,360 1,377 4,737 

Revenue Costs 200 0 155 -6 0 149 0 149 

Total Places Business 
Case 4,937 0 192 1,984 1,333 3,509 1,377 4,886 

  
       

  

Overall Cost 
Customer Connect 
Programme 8,785 1,416 1,156 2,172 1,461 6,205 2,425 8,629 

Page 165



48 
 

Set up a Member Steering Group with relevant portfolio holders. Having Member champions was paramount 

to getting the programme delivered. Member to Member workshops were developed early on so all Members 

had the opportunity to contribute and to ask questions so they understood what was going to be delivered. 

The Member role in the Task and Finish Group of Overview and Scrutiny provided invaluable information about 

our communities which led to improved was of working for locality officers. 

We didn’t spend all our time planning, we adopted the agile approach to plan for short term activities and 

accept that change would happen as work progressed. 

The engagement of external specialist advisors was useful but the changes need to be owned by the 

organisation. Changes in the consultant support in some early stages was unsettling.  

Don’t be afraid to challenge and adapt the model. 

Ensure that the analysis phase does not assume that the status quo is in balance and does not under-estimate 

tasks.  

Respectfully challenge the status quo, encouraging an open minded approach to drive continuous 

improvement by removing non-value added processes and activities. 

People  

Involve employees in the process at every step. Effective two-way communications are key. 

Seek ongoing feedback, via surveys etc., to gauge levels of engagement, areas of satisfaction, pockets of 

concern, and to highlight informative trends. 

Prioritise wellbeing to ensure that people have the right level of support through periods of significant change. 

Focus on the vital few. 

Measure performance and report in a simple manner.  

Ensure regular 121 communications between line managers and team members, including annual Your 

Conversation sessions. 

Be patient and afford colleagues an opportunity to discuss the changes and how these may impact on them 

individually and collectively.  

The market stall approach to disseminating information to colleagues worked well, and this followed up with 

informal drop in’s helped to respond to specific questions. 

Repeat and reference the agreed design principles in staff communications verbally and in writing. Use case 

studies to highlight and bring to life the design principles. 

When establishing a group of `change champions` within the organisation to support colleagues, exercise some 

selection criteria to ensure they will represent the teams and departments effectively. 

Be aware that an undertaking of this extent is tiring on the core team and allow for time outs. 

More analysis of workload and volumes of work in specific service areas before allocating numbers of Case 

Managers or Specialists to ensure adequate resourcing.  

Page 166



49 
 

Accept some services, i.e. housing options/bereavement services may not align to the model. Generic case 

management does not fit all. 

Define routes by which case managers can progress to specialisms. 

Digital 

More customer testing should have been done earlier. Listening to customers and understanding how they 

access and use the website would have reduced the number of changes that had to be made to the look and 

feel of it.  

Further design the IT and process elements earlier, so to better inform the delivery of the people elements. 

Communications  

Developing scenarios and customer profiles helped staff to understand the programme and what was going to 

happen and when. 

Don’t underestimate the time it takes to communicate, much of the first part of the programme was spent 

talking to staff and Members.  

Use staff feedback to make improvements to your next sessions/roadshows this helped to improve the 

message to staff in a way they understand. 

Use less jargon, use plain English and explain things properly. 

 

   

Page 167



50 
 

Appendix 1 - POTI 

Process (Business model of operation) 
 

 We will implement end to end processing across 
the organisation with as much automation as 
possible 

 We will enable appropriate staff to have a single 
view of the customer detailing interactions from 
all service areas 

 We will remove unnecessary manual 
intervention in our office processes by focusing 
on allowing customer self service  

 Where a process is linked to a property or piece 
of land, the underpinning address or location 
data will be sourced from and linked to the 
Corporate Local Land and Property Gazetteer 

 Services will be delivered through the channel of 
choice via a single process starting point. 

 Monitoring of Channel usage will help us manage 
and encourage customers to migrate to the more 
digital self-serve channel 

 Each service will be (As is/To be) mapped and all 
processes will be redesigned to become more 
efficient and effective for both customer and 
council  

 We will reduce our net cost to the customer 
across services implementing the digital platform 

 We will make a minimum of £850,000 savings on 
completion of the programme 

 Our use of paper will reduced by over 50%  
 
Organisational Structure 

 The council structure will complement the 
delivery of more efficient services 

 We will have improved service, our satisfaction 
levels will increase from 46%  

 We will ensure that access to our services is 
equal across a very large geographical area 

 The council structure will accommodate 
automated processing of service requests thus 
reducing the levels of line management 
required. 

 By working with other neighbouring 
organisations across the North West we will 
ensure our talent pool is widened and is flexible 
for staff working across different service areas. 

 We will work within our communities to deliver 
services and enable communities to help 
themselves 

Customers: 

 We will enable customers to have better access 
to our services at times which are more 

Organisational Structure 
 

 Our customers will be satisfied with the timely 
and joined up services they receive  

 Our single view of the customer will put them at 
the heart of everything we do 

 Our website content will reduce enabling 
customers to have easier access to transactional 
activity 

Staff: 

 We will provide customers with target dates for 
service requests being resolved    

 With our back office processes more efficient 
and automated, officers will be able to support 
the more vulnerable/complex cases/issues 

 Our staff will have the skills to work digitally e.g. 
developing and implementing e forms on the 
web 

 We will retain specialist knowledge in the office 
dealing with demanding and complex cases  

 Our workforce will be able to work more 
efficiently particularly enhancing the ability in 
the use of mobile and remote working  

 Our learning & development plan will require all 
staff to have digital and customer skills  

 Our skills audit will highlight resources in teams 
that can support the programme and identify 
gaps in future need 

 Our Workplace Plan will set out our future 
requirements 

 The Health and Wellbeing of staff will improve 
from a baseline of 8.54 in 2016 (based on 
sickness/stress related work issues) 

 Staff will make use of the teleconferencing 
upgrades which will enable them to dial in 
remotely to meetings both internal and external  
customers, reducing travel and time 

 We will all become customer advocates  

 We will all understand our roles and 
responsibilities to our customers 

 We will support the delivery of the Active Travel 
plan to ensure we conduct our business in the 
most efficient and green way  

Members: 

 Members will be able to track their own requests 
and see mapped activity in their wards  

 Each Member will have access to a laptop to 
access their council business 

 Member training will be targeted to delivered 
against need thus reducing the need to attend 
unnecessary courses 

Page 168



51 
 

convenient, so putting them more in control 
(incl. self-serve) 

 We will support the rural economy with the 
same access to services across the rural areas  

 Our locality based teams mean customers have a 
local contact to discuss their issues and support 
local development projects 

 Members will be able to access training online 
thus removing the need to travel to venues 

 Members will be able to dial into 
meetings/conferences with each other remotely 
though the upgrade of teleconferencing facilities  

Technology and Assets 
  

 We will work with partners to share work space 
with options to bring services together in the 
future 

 We will reduce our energy use  

 Kendal will be the hub   

 The council will work with partners to deliver 
end to end solutions to share & target customer 
needs (external) 

 Our technology will support digitisation of 
services and end to end process (internal) 

 Our technology will enable us to share 
information across services  

 More services will be available via the website in 
the first instance increasing from 30% to 90% of 
services. 

 Where possible the number of systems in 
operation will reduce 

 Customers will be able to pay bills and request 
services via their phone or tablet  

 Customers will have the ability to track their 
requests/ queries via their own customer 
account 

 Data stored in systems across the council will be 
linked appropriately to the Local Land and 
Property Data Base and a customer.  This will 
allow for the data to be linked together across 
council services. 

 We will be a more efficient council by having 
digitally enabled services available online which 
makes it easier for customers to do business 
with us 

 We will have systems which are flexible and 
agile and able to meet future needs when 
services are structured and delivered in different 
ways 

 We will have opportunities to share and 
collaborate  with others (joint processes with 
Eden) 

Information  
 

 When appropriate we will use web images rather 
than words to tell a story  

 We understand the needs of our customers 
through data intelligence.  Providing insight 
through dashboards and reports that will help 
inform the strategic decisions of the council and 
help continually improve service delivery 

 We will understand the customer journey and 
improve our processes to enable easy access to 
services (customer experience) 

 Our information security policy will be enabled 
across the council 

 We will use our Retention Policy & Data 
Classification to store valuable data effectively 

 Our information governance arrangements will 
be understood by all staff and embedded 

 We will implement a skills audit to understand 
the training and development needs of the 
organisation  

 We will carry out random data quality checks 
across the organisation to ensure our data is 
robust 

 We will ensure the data we keep is owned by the 
organisation and not individual services, 
therefore correctly maintaining its use and 
storage in line with appropriate standards 

 We will use customer intelligence to improve and 
inform service delivery improvements (customer 
feedback)  

 Our information sharing protocol will allow us to 
share customer data with our partners and 
internally across services reducing the number of 
interactions with the customer 

 An information asset register will be created and 
will be the master document describing what 
data we hold and what we can do with it.  It will 
enable us to join up services and reduce 
duplication 

 A citizen database will be created and used as a 
master record for all customer information 

 Where we can we will make all information 
transparent as part of our data.gov site 

 

Page 169



52 
 

Appendix 2 - Design Principles 

 

Page 170



53 
 

Appendix 3 – Communication examples 

EXAMPLE 1 (September 2018 edition of Inside Story staff newsletter, including article about successful 

roadshow event)  

 

Page 171



54 
 

EXAMPLE 2 (Press Release on completion of town hall reconfiguration to improve customer areas, including 
new reception) 
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

News release 

24 May 2021   

NEW-LOOK KENDAL TOWN HALL OPENS DOORS 

A project has been completed to reconfigure Kendal Town Hall to make it more accessible for customers and 
community groups and put South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) ‘at the heart of the high street’. 

 

 

A refurbishment of the historic building has included moving the main SLDC reception area to the front of the 
town hall and opening up more spaces inside the town hall for use by community organisations. 

The work on the town hall is the first phase of a project to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of the 
council’s main accommodation in Kendal as part of the authority’s Customer Connect transformation 
programme. 

The second stage involves work to remodel the offices in South Lakeland House, so that around half the office 
space will be available to let to other organisations and creating a ‘Mintworks 2’ new enterprise centre for 
start-up businesses, to build on the success of the existing council-run Mintworks hub on Highgate, which has 
supported hundreds of small businesses and clients in the five years since it opened. 

The new-look town hall will open its doors to the public for the first time tomorrow, Tuesday, 25 May.  

All existing users of the meeting rooms will be welcomed back from 21 June, in line with the Government’s 
roadmap for easing Covid-19 restrictions, while the extra space created by the work in the town hall – including 
making the main council chamber a multi-functional space - is already proving popular, with new community 
users enquiring about the meeting spaces, including Women’s Community Matters which will be based in the 

Page 172



55 
 

town hall two days a week, and several enquiries about using the town hall for everything from weddings to a 
gin festival. 

New Leader of SLDC, Councillor Jonathan Brook, said: “The opening up of the new-look town hall is a real 
milestone for our Customer Connect programme. 

“Moving the main reception areas for the public to the front of the town hall will make visiting the council 
much more accessible and user-friendly, especially improving disabled access, and puts the council at the heart 
of the high street, rather than tucked away and accessed down a narrow yard. 

“The additional meeting spaces that have been created mean the town hall can be better used by community 
groups and for events, safeguarding its role as an important community building. 

“With the work to the town hall and South Lakeland House we wanted to ensure that anything we did would 
be cost-effective for the taxpayer, make the very best use of the buildings, safeguard the future of the town 
hall as a civic and community facility and make life easier for our customers. 

“We believe that this scheme delivers on all those points. This first phase has now been completed, which is a 
great credit to everyone involved given the many challenges posed by the Covid-19 pandemic. 

“Doing nothing and staying in South Lakeland House but not re-modelling would have left us with a building 
too big for our needs but not suitable for letting to anyone else, less effective and less accessible for our 
customers and which didn’t make full use of the town hall.  

“Both buildings would have still required significant amounts of capital investment in ongoing maintenance and 
repairs in future years, but without the potential for creating any additional income, so would have worked out 
more expensive in the long-term.’’ 

Councillor Andrew Jarvis, SLDC’s Deputy Leader and portfolio holder for Finance and Assets, said: “The full 
scheme for the town hall and South Lakeland House offices is costing £4.9m, which will be more than fully 
repaid through the benefits of having a more efficient building, reduced costs and additional income from 
letting out surplus office space.  This will give ongoing savings for the council from year one. 

“Under Customer Connect we have already re-shaped our workforce so knew we wouldn’t need to use all of 
such a large building in the future. Alternatives were considered, including moving to smaller offices or sharing 
with other organisations, but none of these offered the protection for the town hall, and were very much 
dependant on finding an alternative use for South Lakeland House and would have worked out much more 
costly in the long-run. 

“By re-modelling South Lakeland House we can let out surplus space on much of the top and ground floors to 
other organisations and create a new enterprise centre for start-up businesses, supporting business growth 
and job creation, which are key council plan priorities.’’ 

The council’s overall Customer Connect innovation programme is also on track to deliver savings in excess of £8 
million over 10 years by restructuring the entire organisation. 

Under the new way of working customers will have better access to services, 24 hours a day, seven days a 
week and have more opportunity to self-serve through improved digital options, including the new My Account 
function, which officially launched in March this year and already has 6,500 sign-ups. 

Councillor Brook continued: “This is local government at its best, striving to find ways to save taxpayer money, 
while protecting and enhancing services and, with the wider buildings project included, offering new office 
space and improved access to the town hall to help support our communities and new town centre businesses. 

“Customer Connect is all about improving our systems and delivering services in a more efficient way, reducing 
waste and simplifying processes, empowering employees and restructuring the whole organisation from top-
to-bottom. 

“It is enabling us to be more efficient and better able to deliver the services our residents deserve, at the same 
time as making very significant savings.’’ 

Page 173



56 
 

EXAMPLE 3 (Celebrating success – sharing stories of how staff have successfully transitioned to new roles on 
our ‘One Team’ SharePoint page) 
 
Adam Moffatt's can-do approach has seen him progress from "the bunker" to playing a key role in keeping 
the wheels of local democracy rolling during the Covid pandemic. 

Here is Adam's Customer Connect journey so far… 

 

Adam Moffatt 

For anyone wondering where or what "the bunker" is, it's our small office in the Westmorland Shopping Centre 
car park (just behind the silver car on the left of this photo) where Adam Moffatt's career with SLDC began back 
in 2017. 

Adam wasn't originally planning to stay long in Kendal. He had come back home after graduating from the 
University of Leicester to find a job and "try to save some money" before moving abroad, having previously 
temped in the multi-storey car park while a student in the summer holidays, and enjoyed the work. But Frankie 
Flannigan, Service Delivery Manager, could see Adam's potential and encouraged him to stay and make the 
most of the career opportunities opened up by Customer Connect. 

"He's very intelligent, very likeable, a 100% nice guy," said Frankie. "He's a well-focused young man with 
aspirations and he's the kind of person we need. When Customer Connect came up I had a number of 
discussions with him. I always encourage people to go for opportunities. I never see it as my loss." 

"When I started hearing about Customer Connect, I thought I should probably try to take advantage of it," said 
Adam, who decided to drop his plans to study for a Masters in The Netherlands, a country he loved, having 
spent part of his degree course in the medieval city of Maastricht.   

"Frankie was always encouraging me to apply for jobs and persevere. I probably would've just gone off and 
done a Masters eventually without Frankie. I definitely appreciate the support he has given me." 

So, two years ago, Adam left the bunker and took the next step on his journey by joining Democratic Services 
as a Case Management Officer in May 2019. 

Page 174



57 
 

"I had to learn to be quite organised," he said, "which is probably a bit of a miracle as not many people would 
say that being organised is one of my personality traits. It helped coming into such a good team. Working with 
Una Bell and Inge Booth was amazing." 

Una recalled: "Adam was thrown in at the deep end with local elections and all the processes and actions 
required after the election of new Members. He took to it like a duck to water and I welcomed his can-do 
attitude and common-sense approach. Similarly he took to facilitating and minuting committee meetings and 
was not fazed by the complexities of these." 

Adam was immediately an asset to the team, said Una, "but little did we know what was round the corner!" 

In March 2020 the COVID pandemic turned our world upside down and, as virtual meetings became a reality, 
Adam showed an aptitude and genuine interest in Microsoft Teams. 

"As officers got to grips with working from home and meeting virtually, Democratic Services had to plan how 
MS Teams would be introduced to Members and how we would facilitate committee meetings virtually," said 
Una. 

"Very quickly Adam became the MS Teams guru! He spent hours researching and testing MS Teams. Training 
was rolled out virtually by the team to officers and Members and Adam quite naturally moved into the role of 
producer for all committee meetings. During this time he was the "go to" person for any MS Teams queries and 
worked tirelessly to learn about new features of Teams as they were developed and rolled out by Microsoft." 

Una added: "The success of SLDC's virtual meetings has been a team effort but without question they would 
not be what they are now if it had not been for Adam. He was committed to his role and I have no doubt he got 
genuine pleasure and satisfaction from seeing a job well done and the continuation of the council's decision-
making process during the Covid-19 pandemic." 

History was made on 20 May 2020 with our first live-stream virtual meeting, and the key role played by Adam 
behind the scenes saw him go above and beyond his Case Management role. The experience, confidence and 
respect he gained culminated in the most recent step on his Customer Connect journey, when he became a 
Specialist in Legal, Governance and Democracy in January 2021. 

"Adam just gets on with it," said Lead Specialist Linda Fisher. "Nothing is too much trouble for him. The 
flexibility, his appetite for learning – he's a rising star of the future with a very can-do approach. He has a 
solutions-focused approach. He's a pleasure to work with. 

"Adam has embraced all opportunities that have been made available to him, moving from the Legal, 
Governance and Democracy Case Management team to a Specialist role in a very short space of time. What our 
team has demonstrated is that by developing the staff in the Case Management teams and continually 
investing in people to develop and thrive, if opportunities arise and staff want to specialise, they can." 

Adam has fond memories of his time in the car park bunker and says he is grateful for the chances Customer 
Connect has given him. "As soon as I started hearing about it, it felt like a really good opportunity to progress 
here and make a career out of something. With the model being how it is, it gives constant opportunities for 
people to move forward, if that's what they want to do." 

Outside work, Adam can often be found walking his black Labrador, Monty, and he's looking forward to being 
able to travel again. "That's where I'm at my happiest, going round Europe. It's a nice way to live." 

 

Page 175



58 
 

EXAMPLE 4 (Successful My Account sign-up campaign, which included inserting flyers in Council Tax bills) 

 

 

Page 176



59 
 

EXAMPLE 5 (Promoted effective working through the new operating model, including an extensive feature on 
the work of the new Locality Teams in the resident newspaper South Lakeland News) 

 

 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 178



 

www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

Equality Impact Assessment Form 

Appendix 2 

Page 179

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


 

2 

 

 

Customer Connect Five Years On 

Brief details of the subject: Customer Connect Programme, progress report on the 

outcomes and benefits achieved in the last five years and what still needs to be delivered. 

List main stakeholders: Members, customers, staff, partners 

Consultation/ engagement undertaken: Throughout the life of the programme with 

Members, Staff and Customers 

Evidence, research and other sources of information used: Briefings, presentations, one to 

one testing of products, questionnaire staff feedback, other councils, site visits & 

consultancy. 

Impacts on people 

What impacts/issues have been identified about how the proposal impacts on people? 

Each category is rated either: Positive, Neutral or Negative 

Age: Type rating (e.g. Positive) for categories below 

Positive 

Disability: 

Positive 

Gender reassignment: 

Neutral 

Marriage and civil partnership: 

Neutral 

Pregnancy and maternity: 

Neutral 

Race/ethnicity: 

Neutral 

Religion or belief: 

Neutral 

Page 180



 

3 

Sex/gender: 

Neutral 

Sexual orientation: 

Neutral 

Armed forces families: 

Neutral 

Rurality: 

Positive 

Socio-economic disadvantage: 

Neutral 

Equality action plan 

What actions will be taken to eliminate or minimise the negative impacts identified above?  

Actions Who’s responsible Completed (Date) 

   

   

 

What actions will be taken to advance equality? 

Actions Who’s responsible Completed (Date) 

Continue to improve access to online services via 
the web 

Customer & Locality 
Services 

31/03/23 

   

 

What actions will be taken to foster positive relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not? 

Actions Who’s responsible Completed (Date) 

Continue to work with 3rd sector partners to support 
all protected groups as part of the testing of 
products. Use feedback to improve access to 
services 

Scrum Team 31/03/23 

   

Report details 

Date of report: 5th October 

EIA Author(s): Claire Gould 

Page 181



 

4 

Director: Simon Rowley 

Document version number: 0.1 

Date for review: March 2023 

EIA forwarded to Strategy Specialist: no 

Glossary 

Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being 

within an age group (for example, 18-30 year-olds).  

Armed Forces Families: Those who have served or who are serving in the Armed Forces 

and their families. 

Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners 

must be treated the same as married couples on a range of legal matters.  

Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has 

a substantial and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day 

activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability, mental health or learning disability. 

Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if 

the person is proposing to undergo, is undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a 

process) for the purpose of reassigning the person's sex by changing physiological or other 

attributes of sex. 

Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment 

context. In the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks 

after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding.  

Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including 

citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, Asian, Black and White minority ethnic 

groups including. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.  

Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. 

“Belief” includes religious and philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, 

Atheism). The category includes Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, Buddhism, and non 

religious beliefs such as Humanism. 

Rurality: South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this means we have at least 80 percent 

of our population in rural settlements and larger market towns. Issues affecting the health 

and wellbeing of rural communities include: low-paid work, unemployment of young people, 

high costs of housing and fuel poverty, poor access to health services, lack of public 

transport and poorer broadband and mobile phone network availability. Social isolation is 

also an issue especially among older people – in South Lakeland 27.7% of the population 

are aged over 65. The ageing rural population brings a number of challenges. These 

include the fact that older people often have poorer health and greater 

Page 182



 

5 

care needs, issues compounded by the greater distances to healthcare services and poor 

public transport. South Lakeland (2015) features most poorly in deprivation indices in 

“Barriers to Housing and Services Domain” (which relate to the physical proximity of local 

services, and issues relating to access to housing, such as affordability) and the “Living 

Environment Deprivation Domain” (The 'indoors' living environment measures the quality of 

housing; while the 'outdoors' living environment contains measures of air quality and road 

traffic accidents. 

Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, 

the opposite sex or to both sexes.  

Socio-economic disadvantage: This includes people on low incomes, as well as issues 

around rural and urban deprivation, such as access to services and transport. SLDC must 

adopt effective measures to address the inequalities that result from differences in 

occupation, education, place of residence or social class. Socio-economic disadvantage 

includes: Income, employment, health, education, housing, discrimination and local 

concentrations of deprivation. 

 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 184



South Lakeland District Council 

Cabinet, Wednesday 20th October 2021  

A Fairer South Lakeland 
 

Portfolio:     Councillor Suzie Pye - Health, Wellbeing and Poverty Alleviation 

Report from:   David Sykes – Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Report Author:  Simon Blyth – Specialist Strategy 

Wards:    All Wards  

Forward Plan:  N/A  

Links to Council Plan Priorities: A Fairer South Lakeland 

Working across boundaries – N/A 

Delivering a balanced community – N/A 

A fairer South Lakeland – halve the proportion of households in poverty and eliminate child 
poverty, Protecting the vulnerable and helping people out of poverty, providing energy advice 
and additional support to households in fuel poverty 

Addressing the climate emergency – N/A 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

1.1 This report outlines the Council’s work to reduce inequalities and help deliver a fairer 

South Lakeland, focusing particularly on the development of a Poverty Truth 

Commission. It aims to inform Cabinet of the programme of work and seek its 

approval to allocate £20,000 of poverty alleviation funding to support the Poverty 

Truth Commission. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:- 

(1) Note the work underway to reduce inequalities and comment as appropriate. 

(2) Approve making a grant award of £20,000 from the Council’s Poverty 

Alleviation Fund to the identified lead/accountable body for the Poverty Truth 

Commission and delegates authority to the Director of Strategy, Innovation 

and Resources in consultation with the Lead Specialist for Legal, Governance 

and Democracy and Lead Specialist for Finance, to agree the detail of and 

enter into a grant funding agreement accordingly. 

(3) Approve the approach outlined in paragraph 3.11 below of SLDC submitting 
2 x applications for grant funding for the South Lakeland Poverty Truth 
Commission to the Health Improvement Fund and approves SLDC acting as 
lead/accountable body for this grant funding; 

(4) Subject to the success of the funding applications outlined in 2.1(4) above, 
approves receipt by SLDC of any grant funding in the sum of up to £40,000 
from the Health Improvement Fund in respect of the South Lakeland Poverty 
Truth Commission and delegates authority to the Director of  Strategy, 
Innovation and Resources in consultation with the Lead Specialist for Legal, 
Governance and Democracy and Lead Specialist for Finance, to agree the 

Page 185

Item No.13



detail of and enter into any necessary grant funding agreements with the 
respective grant funding bodies accordingly; 

(5) Subject to 2.1(3) and 2.1(4) above, approves making a further grant to the 
identified lead/accountable body for the Poverty Truth Commission of such 
grant funding as is received from the Health Improvement Fund for the 
purposes of the Poverty Truth Commission and that the Director of Strategy, 
Innovation and Resources be delegated authority, in consultation with the 
Lead Specialist for Legal, Governance and Democracy and Lead Specialist for 
Finance, to agree the detail of and enter into any necessary grant funding 
agreements with the identified lead organisation of the South Lakeland Poverty 
Truth Commission.  

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 3.1 The Council Plan aims to deliver ‘A Fairer South Lakeland’. Despite the 
district being relatively affluent, as the 2018/19 Annual Report acknowledged, ‘a 
selection of wards can be identified which have quite extreme levels of low incomes 
and poverty.’ This was the case before the Covid-19 pandemic which has widened 
inequalities across the globe. The impact locally has been particularly pronounced 
with South Lakeland experiencing the nation’s highest furlough take up rate (19%) 
and the Universal Credit and Job Seekers Allowance claimant count nearly doubled 
across Cumbria since March 2020 while many of the impacts of the pandemic are 
yet to be full realised. 

3.2 The Council Plan includes 39 targets, 11 of which fall under the ‘Fairer South 
Lakeland’ council priority. Principal among them is the target to halve the proportion 
of households in poverty and eliminate child poverty. These objectives do not have 
clear baseline measures and instead are monitored by a number of proxy measures, 
as set out in the most recent performance monitor. It is also understood this ambition 
cannot be achieved by SLDC alone and that there are many interrelated causal 
factors, but that the council needs to identify the levers it has and work to achieve 
that ambition as best it can. In addition, a number of targets outside the ‘Fairer South 
Lakeland’ priority refer to reducing inequalities, for instance ‘ensuring that social 
programmes address loneliness’ (Delivering a balanced community) and ‘working… 
[on] sustainable public transport across the district’ (Addressing the climate 
emergency). 

3.3 For more detail on the Council Plan’s targets and current levels of delivery against 
them see the Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 1 report which was 
presented to Cabinet on 21st July 2021. Alongside this see Appendix 1 for a 
summary of some of the activities SLDC services have been engaged in. 

3.4 In October last year Full Council declared a Poverty Emergency. Since then the 
Building Financial Resilience Partnership has identified four sub-groups: rural 
inequalities, food inequalities, skills and employment inequalities; and the 
development of a Poverty Truth Commission. The rural inequalities sub-group will 
focus initially on fuel poverty, the food inequalities sub-group is led by Cumbria 
County Council and is supporting the 18 food hubs across the district, while the skills 
and employment sub-group is focusing on the Covid recovery, EU Exit, end of the 
furlough scheme and coordinating efforts around routes to skills and employment. 

3.5 South Lakeland Poverty Truth Commission - background 

Work to develop a Poverty Truth Commission is designed to run alongside the other 
three sub-groups, complementing and informing them over time. A Poverty Truth 
Commission (PTC) brings together a small group of people who have lived through 
severe financial difficulties, ‘community commissioners’, to share their experiences 
with each other before sharing them with ‘civic and business commissioners’, key 

Page 186

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/council-plan/
https://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/deprivation/report/view/0a283b3728e54965b9d5ce9a26c3b761/E07000031
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/annual-report/
https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/10/covid-19-is-increasing-multiple-kinds-of-inequality-here-s-what-we-can-do-about-it/
https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/10/covid-19-is-increasing-multiple-kinds-of-inequality-here-s-what-we-can-do-about-it/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-3-june-2021/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-3-june-2021
https://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/economy-employment/
https://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/economy-employment/
https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/s32942/Council%20Plan%20Performance%20Monitoring%20Report%20Quarter%201%20202122.pdf
https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/s32942/Council%20Plan%20Performance%20Monitoring%20Report%20Quarter%201%20202122.pdf
https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=20247


individuals from organisations that the community commissioners have identified as 
relevant to their experience. The two sets of commissioners then meet regularly, 
both individually and collectively, and identify key areas for improvement. These 
areas are addressed by the relevant organisations with a view to helping improve 
policies, processes and ways of working. This evidence based approach to policy 
making is designed to build trust in the community, better client / agency interactions 
and a more tailored empathic approach. The whole process takes two to three years 
and typically costs between £60 - 90k. 

3.6 The Poverty Truth Network, which supports PTCs around the country, outlines the 
essentials of a PTC here: What is a Poverty Truth Commission? | Poverty Truth 
Network. However, to better understand what a PTC is in practice there are a 
number of recommended short videos:  

3.6.1 Morecambe PTC’s 23 minute video includes their launch event and lots of discussion 
and reflection from civic and community commissioners.  

3.6.2 As an example of a PTC working in an area that, like South Lakeland, is perhaps 
less easily defined and is considered to be relatively affluent overall, East Surrey’s 
12 min film was produced at the end of Phase One of their PTC.  

3.6.3 Leeds Poverty Truth Commission have a series of films showing their launch and 
closing events and the stories of a number of their commissioners. 
 

3.7 Given the recent local government reorganisation decision it is particularly important 
to consider Barrow and Eden’s approaches to similar work. There do not appear to 
be plans to develop a PTC in Eden at present. Barrow is developing a PTC at the 
same time as South Lakeland, and officers have met to share learning and will 
continue to do so. However, the two areas have very different demographics and 
data concerning poverty. In terms of governance the approaches are different too. 
Barrow Borough Council are leading the PTC and have just gone out to advert to 
recruit a part-time project co-ordinator who will be a council employee (see 3.10 
below as to why this is not the approach being taken by SLDC).  
 

3.8 South Lakeland’s PTC promises to be unique as the first PTC with a largely rural 
focus, which the national Poverty Truth Network is particularly keen to investigate 
and support. It will also be delivered over a timescale that goes beyond vesting day 
for the new local authority. Importantly, the understanding and implications of the 
stories shared and discussions had as part of the PTC will help inform the new 
authority, especially when combined with those of Barrow’s and its more urban-
focused PTC. The insights gained could influence the development of strategy and 
services related to poverty, inequality, population health and more by the new 
authority and ensure rural poverty is better understood by all stakeholders. 

3.9 South Lakeland Poverty Truth Commission – progress to date 

SLDC, led by Councillor Suzie Pye, instigated an initial meeting with interested 
organisations in June before meeting individually with partners to explore their 
commitment to the project. A support group has since been formed and includes the 
DWP, Morecambe Bay CCG, ACTion with communities in Cumbria, Manna House, 
local foodbanks, Cumbria Council for Voluntary Services (CVS), the Church of 
England, Pennines Community Credit Union, the County Council and more. The 
support group met most recently on September 15th, discussing finances, 
governance, leadership and commitment to the project. It is next due to meet on 3rd 
November. 

3.10 Most PTCs around the country are facilitated by voluntary sector organisations, either 
having been started by them or commissioned by public sector agencies. It is widely 
agreed that the South Lakeland PTC is best led in this way and that the project 
facilitator(s) are best employed by that same organisation due to their perceived 

Page 187

https://povertytruthnetwork.org/commissions/what-is-a-poverty-truth-commission/
https://povertytruthnetwork.org/commissions/what-is-a-poverty-truth-commission/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZVcb0pe5o_U
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CYYxrW8s88E
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CYYxrW8s88E
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCVn2jepa6wEwGoFsHLGkJZA


neutrality, distance from the public sector and links within local communities. 
Members of the steering group have been asked whether they would be interested in 
leading the project and to date one voluntary sector organisation has expressed 
‘cautious interest’. The support group have been asked to consider this expression of 
interest with a view to deciding together how to proceed. 

3.11 Two funding bids, each for £20k, have been made to the Health Improvement Fund. 
The first, to come from 2020/21 monies, has previously been agreed in principle and 
the application is to make that a formality. The second bid, to come from 21/22 
monies, was considered by the Population Health Strategic Group on September 
14th, albeit no formal announcement has yet been made. The National Lottery 
Community Fund is a further potential source of funding, although a bid cannot be 
made by anyone other than the organisation which will receive the funds. As SLDC 
are a partner organisation, and a host organisation is yet to be determined, this 
particular application has been drafted but not yet submitted. In addition, the support 
group highlighted a number of further funding opportunities in their most recent 
meeting which can soon be explored. 

3.12 Some councillor allowances in 2020/21 went unclaimed and were moved into a 
‘Poverty Alleviation Fund’. It is proposed that £20k of that fund be allocated to the 
PTC and transferred to the lead organisation, once identified, alongside Public Health 
Improvement Fund monies. If the Health Improvement Fund bids are successful this 
would mean more than half the required funding will have been secured in advance 
of a lead organisation taking on the project, giving them greater security in doing so. 

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1  SLDC services’ current activity in seeking to reduce poverty 

2  A Fairer South Lakeland - EIA 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 This paper has been shared with the Leadership Team and the Health, Wellbeing 

and Poverty Alleviation Portfolio Holder. 

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 No alternative options to the overview of Fairer South Lakeland work. 

6.2 Cabinet could decide not to fund the PTC. However, this would be damaging to the 

PTC project which would need to find £20k from an alternative source. This would 

have knock-on implications for the lead organisation and their ability to deliver the 

PTC. In addition, it would damage SLDC’s standing on the support group, who have 

understood the funding to be a possibility from the outset. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 Under current delegations on the use of reserves the Operational Lead People Welfare 
and Income Maximisation can authorise the use of £20k of unclaimed councillor 
allowances held within the Poverty Alleviation Reserve. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no direct human resources implications in the report. The PTC project 
facilitator(s) will be employed by the lead organisation. 

Page 188



Legal 

7.3 The Legal team will draft/advise on any agreements to be entered into relating to the 
payment of grant monies from the Council’s Poverty Alleviation Fund to the identified 
lead/accountable body of the PTC. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No 

7.5  If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons:  

 The PTC project has limited direct applicability here. Sustainable travel and 

technology will be utilised as appropriate, albeit most PTCs centre on in-person 

relationship building.  

7.6 Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts 

 Positive  Neutral  Negative  Unknown  

Environment 

and Health  

Greenhouse gases 

emissions  

 X   

  Air Quality   X   

  Biodiversity   X   

  Impacts of Climate Change   X   

  Reduced or zero 

requirement for energy, 

building space, materials 

or travel  

 X   

  Active Travel   X   

Economy and  

Culture  

Inclusive and sustainable 

development  

X    

  Jobs and levels of pay   X   

  Healthier high streets   X   

  Culture, creativity and 

heritage  

 X   

Housing and 

Communities  

Standard of housing  X    

  Access to housing  X    

  Crime   X   

  Social connectedness  X    

 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes       

7.8  If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons:  

7.9  Summary of equality and diversity impacts: There are no additional equality impacts 
as a result of the report – the PTC seeks to identify and work with people who have 

Page 189



experienced severe financial difficulties, especially those from rural areas, and build 
understanding and develop relationships with civic and business leaders who can 
affect positive change. 

7.10 Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts 

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X”   

Age  P    0  X N    

Disability  P    0  X N    

Gender reassignment (transgender)  P    0  X N    

Marriage & civil partnership  P    0  X N    

Pregnancy & maternity  P    0  X N    

Race/ethnicity  P    0  X N    

Religion or belief  P    0  X N    

Sex/gender  P    0  X N    

Sexual orientation  P    0  X N    

Armed forces families  P    0  X N    

Rurality  P  X  0   N    

Socio-economic disadvantage  P   X 0   N    

 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

The work carried out by 

SLDC is insufficient in 

breadth and scale to 

make a significant 

impact on achieving the 

target ambitions. 

The targets are missed 

and SLDC’s contribution is 

understood to have been 

inadequate. 

Clear identification of 

actions designed to achieve 

the ambition with good 

performance management 

and monitoring.  

The PTC does not have 

a lead organisation. 

 

The PTC either cannot go 

ahead, is delayed, or 

SLDC takes on project 

leadership. 

Clear agreement with potential lead 

organisation(s) about the terms and 

requirements of their role and what 

success looks like. 

The PTC does not have 

sufficient funding. 

The PTC is either 

shortened in duration and 

scope, or does not start at 

all. 

The lead organisation is fully 

appraised of the funding situation 

and supported in bidding for further 

funding. SLDC contribute where it 

can. 

SLDC do not contribute 

financially to the PTC 

SLDC’s reputation is 

damaged and project risks 

being insufficiently funded 

and therefore curtailed. 

SLDC contributes where it can and 

supports those working to bring in 

additional funding (e.g. drafting a bid 

for National Lottery funding). 

Key public sector 

organisations do not 

engage with the PTC 

The community 

commissioners cannot call 

on likely candidates for 

civic commissioners, the 

Commitment of public sector 

organisations is sought from the 

outset (as has been the case to 

Page 190



PTC is therefore limited in 

scope and impact, and 

public sector organisations’ 

reputations are damaged. 

date) and named individuals 

identified as organisational leads. 

 

Contact Officers 

Simon Blyth, S.Blyth@southlakeland.gov.uk, 01539 793262 

  

Background Documents Available  

Name of Background document  Where it is available  

Council Plan Performance Monitoring 

Quarter 1 2021/22 

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report 

Quarter 1 202122.pdf (southlakeland.gov.uk) 

 
Tracking Information  

Signed off by  Date sent  Date Signed off  

Legal Services  29/09/2021 30/09/2021 

Section 151 Officer  29/09/2021 04/10/2021 

Monitoring Officer  29/09/2021 05/10/2021 

CMT  17/09/2021 23/09/2021 

  

Circulated to  Date sent  

Lead Specialist  05/10/2021 

Human Resources Lead Specialist  05/10/2021 

Communications Team  05/10/2021 

Leader  05/10/2021 

Committee Chairman   

Portfolio Holder  05/10/2021 

Ward Councillor(s)   

Committee   

Executive (Cabinet)  05/10/2021 

Council   

  

 

Page 191

https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/s32942/Council%20Plan%20Performance%20Monitoring%20Report%20Quarter%201%20202122.pdf
https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/s32942/Council%20Plan%20Performance%20Monitoring%20Report%20Quarter%201%20202122.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 192



Cabinet: A Fairer South Lakeland 

 

Appendix 1: SLDC services’ current activity in seeking to reduce poverty 

 

Current activity includes: 

- Specific: 

 The distribution of around £150m of Covid grants to businesses throughout the crisis,  
safeguarding thousands of businesses and livelihoods 

 The subsidising of business support so it is free for new start-ups and existing 
businesses in South Lakeland. 

 The provision of new affordable employment space through the renovation of South 
Lakeland House and Mintworks 

 Great Place Lakes and Dales – delivering UK pilot programme to make our place 
more sustainable for younger generations to live, being more affordable, accessible 
and with increased career opportunities. 

 Investment in Strategic Cultural Partners of around £200,000 per annum, creating 
and safeguarding jobs in the industry. 

 Business Support programmes directly supporting the creation of new jobs and 
businesses through Cumbria Growth Hub and Future Fixers. Often helping those most in 
need who have fallen out of employment.  

 Broadband Voucher Scheme take up by local communities – now 97% broadband 
coverage in South Lakeland 

 Providing period poverty packs in rural locations across the district, liaising with schools 
and village shops to provide extra collection points. 

 Helping develop a Poverty Truth Commission (referred in more detail in the 
accompanying paper) 

 Partnered with the Money and Pensions Service, an arms-length body sponsored by 

DWP, to provide immediate customer referrals to access independent financial advice. 

 Customer Service Advisors explore customer eligibility for council tax reduction and 

discount schemes as well as affordable payment plans and make referrals to other 

agencies, such as Citizens Advice and Age UK, as appropriate, 

 Locality officers contact homeless people identified by the community to inform them 
of the winter shelter scheme and how to access support services. Referrals made to 
social services and homeless teams where appropriate.  

 Enabling new affordable homes to rent and buy. Between 2014 to Q1 2021/22, 477 

new affordable homes for rent have been delivered and 177 new affordable homes to 

buy. There are currently 15 large housing schemes under construction which will 

deliver around 400 affordable homes for rent and sale.  

 Contributed funds towards a South Lakes Housing Scheme at Parkside Road in 
Kendal producing energy efficient homes, helping reduce the potential fuel poverty of 
the occupants. The five properties were developed on a former garage site 
comprising two three-bedroom homes for shared ownership and three three-bedroom 
homes for rent.  

 Retained the use of six additional units of accommodation that were originally used 

under the Protect+ scheme these are for households with a lower level of support need 

which is provided by support staff working for SLDC. 

 Gained funding to work with offenders to reduce homelessness and reoffending, this 

will be a partnership with another provider to deliver the service both in and out of 

custody settings. 

 Recently appointed a Rough Sleeper co-ordinator. 

 South Lakeland Housing have signed up to an early intervention approach when a 
tenant is facing difficulties with their tenancies to enable us to prevent homelessness 

Page 193



 Providing a range of specific schemes to assist customers in financial difficulty. 

These include: Discretionary Housing Payment; Council Tax Reduction Scheme; 

Temporary Council Tax COVID -19 Hardship Fund; and the Council Tax 

Discretionary Relief Scheme. 

 Employed additional resource to administer the increase in HB/CTRS claims as a 

result of COVID-19. 

 Referral partner for local foodbanks. 

 Customers now have online access to their accounts which gives them immediate 
access to the benefits entitlement and payments - helping them to budget. 

 Overpayments recovery and the ability to pay is taken into account when setting a 
recovery amount. 

 A number of schemes are in place to support energy efficiency measures, including 
Cold to Cosy which focuses on small domestic energy efficiency measures, switching 
providers and financial advice available from Cumbria Action for Sustainability. 

 Handy Person Scheme. 

 Better Leisure and fitness facilities in South Lakeland offer discounts of up to 50%. 
 

- More general: 

 Work with Connecting Cumbria to promote broadband availability and community 
take-up to widen and improve the quality of broadband coverage, reducing digital 
poverty. 

 Work with strategic partners on recruitment and skills agenda to improve 
employability, skills, and match people with jobs – encouraging links between further 
and higher education, training providers, businesses and apprenticeships. 

 Work with partners to promote the circular economy, encouraging spending and 
supporting local   

 Ongoing dialogue with local businesses and developers to help bring forward 
strategic employment sites identified in Local Plans for the District 

 Discussions with partners on the role they play in preventing homelessness within 
South Lakeland, including the neighbourhood policing team.  

 
Future planned activity includes: 

 Working with partners to ensure the completion of Cross-a-moor Roundabout 
Scheme, which once built by 2023 will enable the delivery of 1,000 new homes, a 
significant proportion of which being affordable. 

 GSK Masterplan – leading on the redevelopment and reimagining of the GSK site in 
Ulverston to ensure high value employment and skills and retained and grown across 
the Bay. 

 Partner working with the Environment Agency to enable the delivery of Kendal Flood 
Alleviation Scheme. The first phase will provide increased flood protection in Kendal 
for 1,480 homes and businesses. 

 The production of an Economic Development Strategy for the area, setting out 
opportunities and actions to ensure a balanced, sustainable economy.  

 The implementation of Kendal Town Centre Strategy and Kendal Vision, securing 
investment in our place, serving as a key service centre for the area. 

 The delivery of a £3m Borderlands Place Programme investment for Ulverston to 
provide for the local community needs.  

 Helping to shape employment site delivery and the creation and safeguarding of jobs 
through the Local Plan Review. 

 Continuing to work with partners across the Bay to deliver on the Prosperity and 
Resilience Strategy – securing investment and high value jobs. 

Page 194



 The Council is working closely in partnership with Registered Providers and 
Community Led Housing Groups to enable more affordable homes for rent and sale 
to meet housing needs in local communities. Work has recently commenced at 
Levens on a community led housing scheme and approval has been granted to a 
further two community led housing groups to develop homes at Grasmere and Holme 
(subject to grant agreement). This would deliver 40 new homes subject to the 
necessary planning consents and legal agreements.  

 The Changing Futures Programme has been set up and work is underway to address 
the needs of complex individuals and how they can best be supported away from 
poverty, homelessness and rough sleeping. The Council is to receive some funding 
from Cumbria CC (£50,000) to assist with this work during 2021/22. This will help 
support complex needs individuals and provide sustainable accommodation options. 

 Looking to bring in more support staff to provide those facing homelessness with a key 

worker to ensure they sustain accommodation and do not end up rough sleeping or in 

temporary accommodation. 

 Further funding is to be provided to Citizens Advice to increase access to services for 
residents experiencing financial and employment difficulties because of Covid-19 and 
the Government restrictions imposed in response to it and to ensure they can access 
the service funding provided to a project to pilot a dedicated webchat advice service. 

 Working with Eden District Council, the North West Energy Hub and other Councils in 
Cumbria on a scheme for green homes which seeks to secure funding to assist 
income home owners to improve the energy efficiency of their homes. 

 Seeking to use the council’s procurement to help achieve a Fairer South Lakeland, 
considering how to obtain social value in all tenders, and local employment and 
supply chains may weigh in a supplier’s favour within a transparent, competitive 
process. 

 

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 196



 

www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

Equality Impact Assessment Form 

Appendix 2 

Page 197

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


 

2 

 

 

South Lakeland Poverty Truth Commission 

Brief details of the subject: SLDC £20k contribution to the South Lakeland Poverty Truth 

Commission’s lead organisation to support the delivery of the project. 

List main stakeholders: A wide-range of partner organisations as listed in the 20th October 

2021 Cabinet report, the lead organisation (yet to finalised), recruited community and 

civic/business commissioners. 

Consultation/ engagement undertaken: Partners forming a PTC Support Group have been 

engaged since May 2021. 

Evidence, research and other sources of information used: Links with the national Poverty 

Truth Network. 

Impacts on people 

What impacts/issues have been identified about how the proposal impacts on people? 

Each category is rated either 

Age: Positive 

The lead organisation, and by extension the PTC Support Group, will need to ensure the 

community commissioners in particular cover a wide range of ages. 

Disability: Positive 

The lead organisation, and by extension the PTC Support Group, will need to ensure the 

community commissioners in particular include people with disabilities. 

Gender reassignment: Neutral 

Marriage and civil partnership: Neutral 

Pregnancy and maternity: Neutral 

Race/ethnicity: Neutral 

Religion or belief: Neutral 

Sex/gender: Positive 

The lead organisation, and by extension the PTC Support Group, will need to ensure the 

community commissioners have equal representation of sexes/genders. 

Sexual orientation: Neutral 

Page 198



 

3 

Armed forces families: Neutral / Positive 

This may be a group represented by the Community Commissioners. 

Rurality: Positive 

It is vital for the purposes of the project that those suffering from rural poverty are included 

and represented, especially in the form of community commissioners. 

Socio-economic disadvantage: Positive 

The PTC project has at its heart a focus on those with experience of severe financial 

difficulties. Around 12 community commissioners who have experienced such difficulties will 

be recruited to share their stories and work with civic and business commissioners through 

the course of the project. 

Equality action plan 

What actions will be taken to eliminate or minimise the negative impacts identified above?  

Actions Who’s responsible Completed (Date) 

The lead organisation will be tasked with ensuring 
representative recruitment of community 
commissioners 

PTC Support Group 
(SLDC is a member 
of the group) 

By 01/06/2022 

 

What actions will be taken to advance equality? 

Actions Who’s responsible Completed (Date) 

The project itself is designed to enhance 
understanding of those in poverty and seek to 
affect change as a result of the project’s work. 

All involved in the 
project 

01/01/2024 

 

What actions will be taken to foster positive relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not? 

Actions Who’s responsible Completed (Date) 

The PTC brings together community 
commissioners, who have experienced socio-
economic disadvantage, and civic and business 
commissioners (who may not have) to build 
relationships and understanding between the two 
groups. This will include informal meetings, 
presentations, online meetings and discussions 
over food and refreshments over the course of 12-
18 months, 

All involved in the 
project 

01/01/2021 

Report details 

Page 199



 

4 

Date of report: 16/09/2021 

EIA Author(s): Stewart Martin 

Director: David Sykes 

Document version number: 01 

Date for review:  

EIA forwarded to Strategy Specialist: to Dan Hudson 

Glossary 

Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being 

within an age group (for example, 18-30 year-olds).  

Armed Forces Families: Those who have served or who are serving in the Armed Forces 

and their families. 

Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners 

must be treated the same as married couples on a range of legal matters.  

Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has 

a substantial and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day 

activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability, mental health or learning disability. 

Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if 

the person is proposing to undergo, is undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a 

process) for the purpose of reassigning the person's sex by changing physiological or other 

attributes of sex. 

Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment 

context. In the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks 

after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding.  

Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including 

citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, Asian, Black and White minority ethnic 

groups including. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.  

Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. 

“Belief” includes religious and philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, 

Atheism). The category includes Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, Buddhism, and non 

religious beliefs such as Humanism. 

Rurality: South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this means we have at least 80 percent 

of our population in rural settlements and larger market towns. Issues affecting the health 

and wellbeing of rural communities include: low-paid work, unemployment of young people, 

high costs of housing and fuel poverty, poor access to health services, lack of public 

transport and poorer broadband and mobile phone network availability. 

Page 200



 

5 

Social isolation is also an issue especially among older people – in South Lakeland 27.7% 

of the population are aged over 65. The ageing rural population brings a number of 

challenges. These include the fact that older people often have poorer health and greater 

care needs, issues compounded by the greater distances to healthcare services and poor 

public transport. South Lakeland (2015) features most poorly in deprivation indices in 

“Barriers to Housing and Services Domain” (which relate to the physical proximity of local 

services, and issues relating to access to housing, such as affordability) and the “Living 

Environment Deprivation Domain” (The 'indoors' living environment measures the quality of 

housing; while the 'outdoors' living environment contains measures of air quality and road 

traffic accidents. 

Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, 

the opposite sex or to both sexes.  

Socio-economic disadvantage: This includes people on low incomes, as well as issues 

around rural and urban deprivation, such as access to services and transport. SLDC must 

adopt effective measures to address the inequalities that result from differences in 

occupation, education, place of residence or social class. Socio-economic disadvantage 

includes: Income, employment, health, education, housing, discrimination and local 

concentrations of deprivation. 

 

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 202



South Lakeland District Council 

Cabinet 

Wednesday, 20 October 2021 

Kendal Leisure Centre Sub lease to the NHS 

 

Portfolio:   Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder 

Report from:  Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Report Author: Sion Thomas – Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services 

Wards:  Kendal South & Natland; 

Forward Plan: N/A 

Links to Council Plan Priorities: Working across boundaries – Working with Morecambe 
Bay CCG to develop a population health approach. 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

1.1 Approves the provision of an assurance and commitment to University Hospitals 
Morecambe Bay Trust (UHMBT) to grant UHMBT a two year (approx.) sub-lease of 
part of the Kendal Leisure Centre in the event that the Partnering Agreement with 
Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL) is not extended in 2024 so as to allow UHMBT to 
lease space within the Kendal Leisure Centre to deliver physiotherapy services away 
from a hospital environment.   

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 (1) Approves the grant of a sub-underlease between GLL and UHMBT for 
approx. 3 years (2021,2022, 2023) of part of Kendal Leisure Centre; and 

(2) Approves the grant of a sub lease of part of Kendal Leisure Centre to 
UHMBT for a period of 2 years (2024 & 2025) following the grant of a sub–under 
lease between GLL and UHMBT for approx. 3 years of part of Kendal Leisure 
Centre (2021, 2022, 2023 ), to provide  security for investment made in Kendal 
Leisure Centre if for any reason that the contract with GLL  is not extended 
following the formal bench marking exercise in 2023 of the Leisure Services 
Contract and; 

 (3) Delegates authority to the Director of Customer and Commercial services 
in conjunction with the Lead Specialist for Legal, Governance and Democracy 
to agree terms and enter into appropriate agreements.  

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay Trust (Muscular and skeletal services) are 
looking at their delivery model and are keen for a co-location at Kendal Leisure Centre 
to deliver physiotherapy services.  The service has a desire to move away from a 
hospital environment and a move to a Leisure Centre is an obvious way of enhancing 
the role of physical activity as a viable treatment option in NHS care.  

Page 203

Item No.14



3.2 This is a Cumbria wide initiative which looks to bring local authorities, the NHS and 
other key partners from the leisure sector together to deliver shared leisure and health 
services that will free up much-needed space in hospitals. The proposal will also help 
the public to access physiotherapy services in centres at the heart of the community. 
This initiative and benefit has been driven as part of One Public Estate initiative. 

3.3 Greenwich Leisure Ltd (GLL) who operates the Leisure service on behalf of SLDC 
currently has 3 years left on the current partnership agreement.  If the partnership 
agreement is not extended, the agreement will expire on 31 March 2024. 
Consequences of termination include surrender of any underlease with GLL back to 
SLDC. There is an option to extend for a further 10 years but the Council must 
benchmark the leisure service to ensure that the Council can prove best value as part 
of any partnership agreement extension. UHMBT have requested that GLL grant them 
a 5 year sub-underlease but GLL is unable to do so for the full 5 years, due to the 
potential expiry of their partnering agreement (and lease) in 2024. Therefore, UHMBT 
has requested that the shortfall in the 5 year term - approx. 2 years (in the event that 
the partnering agreement is not extended with GLL) is granted by SLDC on similar 
terms as agreed with GLL. SLDC is unable to extend the current agreement without a 
formal benchmarking process which will take place in 2023. If that benchmarking 
exercise is unsuccessful the contract for the provision of Leisure Services will be the 
subject of a Tender, with UHMBT as an occupier of part of Kendal Leisure Centre.  

3.4 Following GLL entering into a sub lease agreement for Years 1-3 with UHMBT, it is 
proposed to seek approval to allow SLDC to commit to enter into a sub lease 
agreement for Years 4-5 on similar terms with UHMBT. This will ensure that UHMBT 
are able to secure the 5 year lease agreement needed and ensures that the Council 
meets with its procurement policy.  

3.5 UHMBT propose to take up existing office space within the Leisure Centre to create 4 
treatment rooms and admin areas as shown in Appendix 1 & 2. GLL, as part of the 
Covid response have moved to digitise their service and the need for office space has 
reduced. Central office space can be shared between NHS and GLL colleagues and 
alternative space within the Leisure centre will be provided for staff room facilities. As 
part of the proposal, no studio, gym, changing room or sports hall space will be taken 
up by the proposal. This will not reduce the current offer given by GLL. The new staff 
room area will also double up as space for clubs to use at weekends such as Cycle 
clubs etc for meeting space. All investment in the centre will come from the UHMBT 
and will be agreed and monitored by the Asset and Commercial Manager in 
conjunction with our current property services provider.   

3.6 To ensure the Council have considered all viewpoints, the Council have appointed 
Knight Kavanagh and Page (KKP) to undertake a review of the proposals to highlight 
the benefits, review the proposed terms, and to consider the impact  of the occupation 
of UHMBT on the tender in 3 years’ time. The report can be seen in Appendix 3. The 
report confirms the benefits this brings to all stakeholders. 

3.7 In conclusion, officers are seeking authority to consent to the grant of a sub–under 
lease between GLL and UHMBT for approx. 3 years of part of Kendal Leisure Centre 
( 2021, 2022, 2023 ). Following the grant of that sub-underlease officers are seeking 
further authority to enter in to a 2 year sub-lease ( 2024 and 2025) agreement between 
SLDC and UHMBT for Years 4 & 5 on similar terms to ensure that the Council adheres 
to current contract and procurement policies and to allow SLDC to provide a 
commitment to UHMBT now that in the event that the partnering agreement is not 
extended, UHMBT will secure an additional 2 year sub-lease for its required 5 year 
term.  

Page 204



4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Proposed Ground Floor Plan of Kendal Leisure Centre. 

2 Proposed First Floor Plan of Kendal Leisure Centre. 

3 KKP Report.  

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 Consultation has taken place with Greenwich Leisure Ltd, the Portfolio holder, 
Corporate Management team, the procurement specialist, and One Public Estate 
board. All are in agreement of the benefits this provides both the NHS, the Leisure 
service and the public.  

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 To not agree to the occupation of the NHS within Kendal Leisure Centre. This is not 
considered an appropriate when taking into account all the benefits as set out in the 
report as seen in Appendix 3.  

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 The proposed agreement will provide an income of £24,000 per annum for the service.  
In 2020/21, the Council agreed to support GLL due to the deficit and disruption caused 
by Covid 19. As part of the open book process with GLL, the Council expected GLL to 
adapt, streamline services, become more efficient and look at income generating 
opportunities to minimise the support needed from the Council moving forward as well 
as ensure that the level of service be maintained. This is an example of GLL being 
proactive and adapting to improve the service. This agreement will also provide 
pathways from NHS treatment to gym and swim membership as well as GLL staff being 
trained and funded to deliver group exercise classes. All of which will support in 
generating income and therefore helping the service to re-bound strongly after Covid 
and look to help GLL re-invest back into the service.  

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no human resource implications with this report.  

Legal 

7.3  SLDC is the immediate Landlord to GLL. SLDC have the benefit of a long lease of the 
Kendal Leisure Centre from the County Council. The County Council is the freehold 
owner of the Kendal Leisure Centre and is SLDC’s landlord. Under the terms of SLDC’s 
lease with County Council, County Council’s consent is required to the grant of any 
subleases. Under the terms of the SLDC lease with GLL, SLDC’s consent is required 
to the grant of the sub-underlease by GLL to UHMBT. This is currently in progress. 

Our partnering agreement for leisure services with GLL commenced 01 April 2014 with 
initial term of 10 years. 

There are possible extensions by further period(s) of 5 years up to a max term of 20 
years, i.e. 2034. 

If not extended, the partnering agreement will expire on 31 March 2024. 
Consequences of termination include surrender of any underlease with GLL back to 
SLDC. UHMBT are requiring a minimum of 5 years sub-lease term as they will be 

Page 205



investing in their intended space and it is not viable to UHMBT to incur that expenditure 
for a lease term less than 5 years.  

As set out above GLL can only grant a sub-underlease for the remainder of the term 
of its lease, which expires upon termination of the partnering agreement. The 
partnering agreement can be extended, but only following a successful benchmarking 
exercise to be carried out in 2023. 

Due to the partnering agreement and lease potentially expiring on 31 March 2024, GLL 
cannot offer a 5 year lease to UHMBT. GLL can only grant a 3 year lease (approx.) 
(years 1-3) to UHMBT, with an additional potential 2 year lease (upon expiry of the 3 
year lease) if the partnering agreement is extended (subject to consents).  

In the event that the partnering agreement is not extended, SLDC has  been asked to 
commit to entering in to a new lease with UHMBT direct for years 4 and 5 upon the 
same terms.  

Without the County’s consent as head landlord to the proposals above, SLDC cannot 
provide the assurance or commitment that UHMBT require. Legal Services have 
contacted County Council and it has confirmed informally, that it will be ‘happy to grant 
Landlord’s consent’ to the grant of sublease between SLDC and UHMBT on similar 
terms as agreed with GLL for years 4 and 5 if required in 3 years’ time. That consent 
will need to be formalised with County Council once the terms of the proposed 
sublease have been agreed between GLL and UHMBT.  

These circumstances are unusual, in that SLDC is committing itself to the grant of a 
sub-lease direct to UHMBT in the event that GLL cannot secure an extension of the 
partnering agreement in three years’ time. 

  

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

7.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No   

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: Not 
felt that this analysis is required. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.6 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No   

7.7 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: Not felt 
that this analysis is required. 

 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

To provide UHMBT with  an 

additional 2 year sublease on 

similar terms following the expiry 

of the initial sublease between 

GLL and UHMBT for a period of 

three years in the event that the 

partnering agreement is not 

extended in 2024. 

Challenge by other leisure 

service providers as this 

may be seen to be pre-

determining the proposed 

tender and award for the 

leisure service contract.  

Lease agreement to be set 

out as noted above which 

means that the NHS are 

able to secure a 5 year 

agreement but that the 

Council meets with its 

current procurement policy 

and transparent in any 

lease agreement entered 

into.    

Page 206



Contact Officers 

Sion Thomas, Operational Lead for Delivery and Commercial Services, 01539 793192, 
sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Section 151 Officer 23/09/2021 04/10/2021 

Monitoring Officer 23/09/2021 05/10/2021 

CMT 23/09/2021 23/09/2021 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist N/A 

Human Resources Lead Specialist N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder 14.06.21 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

 

Page 207

mailto:sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 208



Appendix 1

P
age 209



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 210



Appendix 2

P
age 211



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 212



 

 

Quality assurance Name Date 

Report origination  Rachel Burke 17th June 2021 

Quality control David McHendry 17th June 2021 

Client comments   

Final approval   

 

 
Appendix 3 - Kendal Leisure Centre Sb lease to the NHS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 213



 

 

Quality assurance Name Date 

Report origination  Rachel Burke 17th June 2021 

Quality control David McHendry 17th June 2021 

Client comments   

Final approval   

 

 
 
SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
FINAL REPORT  
 
JUNE 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 214



SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

 

 

CONTENTS 
 

 
INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................. 1 

The context ................................................................................................................... 1 

The proposal ................................................................................................................. 1 

The challenge ............................................................................................................... 1 

The proposed solution ................................................................................................... 2 

Review of the proposal .................................................................................................. 2 

Impact on Council ......................................................................................................... 3 

Impact on the community .............................................................................................. 3 

Impact on NHS .............................................................................................................. 3 

Industry overview .......................................................................................................... 3 

Conclusion .................................................................................................................... 8 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 215



SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

 

June 2021 2-142-2021 Final report: Knight Kavanagh & Page 1 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This is the final report by Knight, Kavanagh & Page (KKP) to deliver a high-level assessment 
of the proposal by the NHS to lease facilities at Kendal Leisure Centre.  
 
The context 
 
South Lakeland District Council entered into a leisure management contract with North 
Country Leisure, novated to Greenwich Leisure Ltd to manage and operate the Council’s 
leisure centres; the current contract expires in March 2024. There is an option to extend 
the contract for further 10 years (2x5 years).  However, prior to this, the Council will go 
through a bench marking exercise to ensure best value before any decision to extend the 
contract with GLL.  
 
The University Hospitals Morecambe Bay Trust (UHMBT) proposal is to lease space within 
the leisure centre in order to deliver musculoskeletal physiotherapy services away from the 
hospital environment. To do this, it requires a minimum of a 5-year lease.  
 
The proposal 
 
The UHMBT has a desire to move away from a hospital environment and the relocation to 
a Leisure Centre is highly desirable as a way of enhancing the role of physical activity as a 
viable treatment option in NHS care. 
 
The UHMBT proposal is to modify the existing office space at Kendal Leisure Centre to 
create five treatment rooms.  
 
GLL, as part of its response to Covid has digitised much of its service and the need for 
office space has somewhat reduced. A central office space can be shared between NHS 
and GLL colleagues and alternative space within the Leisure centre will be provided for 
staff room facilities.  
 
As part of the proposal, no studio, gym, changing room or sports hall space will be taken 
up by the proposal. As such, no current income sources will be affected by the 
development. In addition, no income is currently generated by the current office space.  
 
Consultation with GLL reports that there will be no negative impact on the current offer as 
a result of the changes.  
 
 
The challenge 
 
GLL has 3 years remaining on the current leisure management contract: therefore, it cannot 
enter into the 5-year agreement required. SLDC is unable to extend the current agreement 
without a formal tender process. The Council appears nervous that if it allows GLL to enter 
into a 5 year lease with UHMBT this in some way assumes that GLL’s lease on the overall 
facility (and its leisure management contract) will be extended in line with this new 
arrangement. As such, the Council’s proposed solution seeks to guard against this. 
 

Page 216



SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

 

June 2021 2-142-2021 Final report: Knight Kavanagh & Page 2 

 

 
The proposed solution 
 
The proposed solution identified by the Council is for GLL to enter into a lease with the 
UHMBT for Years 1-3, and SLDC to enter into lease from Years 4-5 on same terms. This 
will ensure that the UHMBT is able to secure the 5-year lease agreement required but 
ensures that the Council meets with its procurement policy. 
 
Review of the proposal 
 
If GLL sub-leased for Years 1-3, then SLDC leases for years 4 and 5, the Council will not 
fall foul of any procurement rules and regulations. When the re-tendering process takes 
place prior to the end of the contract if it is deemed that GLL is offering best value, the 
contract with UHMBT could be extended alongside the GLL contract. Following consultation 
with GLL, the company agrees and understands that the lease with the NHS does not 
constitute an extension to the existing contract. 
 
The proposed agreement will provide an income of £24,000 per annum to GLL.  In 2020/21, 
the Council agreed to support GLL up to a maximum of £240k due to the deficit and 
disruption caused by Covid-19. As part of the open book process with GLL, the Council 
expected GLL to adapt, streamline services, become more efficient and look at income 
generating opportunities to minimise the support needed from the Council moving forward 
as well as ensure that the level of service be maintained. This is an example of GLL being 
proactive and adapting to respond to these challenges and also to improving the service for 
residents.  
 
Currently the office space is not an income generating area, this proposal changes this and 
provides a stable income to be generated over the next 5 years.  
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has created a need for digitisation of many aspects of the leisure 
management operation (e.g. bookings and reception). There has been a need to become 
more digitised in how the world operates, which has resulted in a reduced need for office 
space. This is certainly the case for GLL, and specifically at Kendal Leisure Centre.  
 
Impact on Kendal Leisure centre 
 
This agreement has the opportunity to provide a pathway from NHS treatment to regular 
exercise on a clinical pathway programme. Musculoskeletal physiotherapy service has 
indicated the potential for c.700 annual referrals to GLL from this arrangement which could 
increase health and fitness and swimming membership. 
 
There will be opportunities for GLL staff to be upskilled and funded to deliver group exercise 
classes to patients, which will increase the number of off-peak classes delivered.  All of which 
will support generating additional income and therefore helping the service to re-bound 
strongly after Covid and look to help GLL re-invest back into the service. 
 
 
 
  

Page 217



SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

 

June 2021 2-142-2021 Final report: Knight Kavanagh & Page 3 

 

Impact on Council 
 
This proposal fits with the SLDC current Council Plan (2021-2026) which aims to make South 
Lakeland the ‘best place to live, work and explore’. 
 
This proposal provides an opportunity to deliver local services embedded in the community.  
 
This initiative has been driven as part of One Public Estate (OPE) a national programme 
jointly run by the Cabinet Office Government Property Unit and the Local Government 
Association (LGA). It supports joint working across central and local government to release 
land and property and boost economic growth, regeneration and integrated public services. 
It encourages public sector partners to share buildings, transform services, reduce running 
costs, and release surplus and under-used land for development. 
 
It is clear that the proposal delivers against these aspirations. 
 
Impact on the community 
 
The proposal is a Cumbria wide initiative which looks to bring local authorities, the NHS 
and other key partners from the leisure sector together to deliver shared leisure and health 
services that will free up much-needed space in hospitals. The proposal will also help the 
public to access physiotherapy services in centres at the heart of the local community.  
 
Impact on NHS 
 
Patients are seen locally and are triaged, assessed and treated locally. It takes pressure off 
the orthopaedic teams which results in shorter waiting times for those patients that need 
surgery. The service improvements expected for the patients include: 
 
 Patients are seen closer to home.  
 Reduced travel times and costs for patients to access treatment and therefore 

improved attendance rates and fewer missed appointments. 
 Treatment and management plans are implemented closer to home. 

 
Industry overview 
 
In 2016, World Health Organisation (WHO) developed a framework and a call to action to 
integrate healthcare services, which has the potential to improve health outcomes, tackle 
inequality and increase cost effectiveness.  
 
The co-location of health and leisure is consistent with the principles of integration 
outlined by WHO and involves bringing together community health and leisure facilities 
into a single venue to facilitate behaviour change. 
 
Recent developments of new community leisure facilities throughout the UK tend to 
evidence three key characteristics: 
 
 Core facilities which meet local need and demand for sport and physical activity and 

enable the operator to deliver a cost effective service with minimal subsidy. 
 Additional activity areas which provide a financial return by addressing a gap in the 

market or enhancing the core offer. 

Page 218



SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

 

June 2021 2-142-2021 Final report: Knight Kavanagh & Page 4 

 

 Co-location with other services/service providers to enhance working relationships 
across ‘civic’ partners and improve delivery to the community. 

 
The following table identifies the types of facilities and activity areas included within each 
and the wider benefits that this delivers for the community. 
 
Table 1: Modern leisure facility considerations 
 

Core facilities Additional activity areas  Co-located services 

 6 lane 25 metre pool 

 Teaching pool 

 Sports hall (size based on 
demand and programming) 

 80-150 station fitness suite 

 1 large group fitness studio  

 1 small group fitness studio 

 Catering hub 

 Floodlit 3G pitch 

 5-a-side pitches. 

 Soft play 

 Spa facilities 

 Youth play (e.g. clip n’ 
climb, interactive 
activity zones). 

 High ropes 

 Part of a school campus 

 Library 

 Health centre / GP surgery 

 Pharmacy 

 Police office 

 Council contact point 

 Meeting rooms 

Benefits Benefits Benefits 

Enables operators to provide 
services at minimal subsidy by: 

 Maximising income from 
health and fitness. 

 Maximising income from 
learn to swim. 

 Offering a range of 
community-based activity.  

Enables operators to contribute 
to the wider physical activity 
and wellbeing agenda by: 

 Offering health-based 
programmes within fitness 
suites & swimming pools 

 Being a meeting point and 
social venue for outdoor 
physical activities. 

Enables operators to 
maximise income to 
underpin the cost of the 
operation by: 

 Taking a more 
commercial approach 
to programming activity 
areas. 

 Capturing data on 
users (e.g. parents) 
and using this as a 
way of cross selling 
core services (e.g. 
learn to swim). 

 Providing a return on 
investment. 

Creation of a community 
leisure hub enabling operators 
to link with other services to 
contribute to wider physical 
activity and wellbeing agenda: 

 Offering a wider range of 
services under one roof. 

 Reaching residents who 
would not otherwise enter a 
sports facility. 

 Offering programmes and 
interventions for specific 
client groups with health 
and other partners. 

 Cross marketing and 
sharing of information to 
address local needs. 

 
This has continued to be a key theme and features in Sport England’s latest strategy and 
has continued to feature in Sport England’s Active Design toolkit. 
 
Sport England Strategy – Uniting the Movement 2021 
 
Sport and physical activity has a key role in improving the physical and mental health of the 
nation, supporting the economy, reconnecting communities and rebuilding a stronger society 
for all following the global pandemic. Reflecting this, Sport England’s 10-year strategy vision 
to transform lives and communities through sport and physical activity sets out to tackle the 
inequalities that it states are long seen and makes the point that ‘providing opportunities to 
people and communities that have traditionally been left behind, and helping to remove the 
barriers to activity, has never been more important’. The three key Strategy objectives are: 

Page 219



SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

 

June 2021 2-142-2021 Final report: Knight Kavanagh & Page 5 

 

 
As well as being an advocate for sport and physical activity, via the building of evidence and 
partnership development, the Strategy identifies five big issues which people and 
communities need to address by working together. Described as the major challenges to 
England being an active nation over the next decade and the greatest opportunities to make 
a lasting difference, each is designated as a building block that, on its own, would make a 
difference. However, the content is that delivered together they could change things 
profoundly. The issues are: 
 
 Recover and reinvent: Recovering from the biggest crisis in a generation and reinventing 

as a vibrant, relevant and sustainable network of organisations providing sport and 
physical activity opportunities that meet the needs of different people. 

 Connecting communities: Focusing on sport and physical activity’s ability to make better 
places to live and bring people together. 

 Positive experiences for children and young people: Unrelenting focus on positive 
experiences for all children and young people as the foundations for a long and healthy 
life. 

 Connecting with health and wellbeing: Strengthening the connections between sport, 
physical activity, health and wellbeing, so more people can feel the benefits of, and 
advocate for, an active life. 

 Active environments: Creating and protecting the places and spaces that make it easier 
for people to be active. 

 
To address these five issues, the right conditions for change need to be created: across 
people, organisations and partnerships to help convert plans and ideas. This will include a 
range of actions, including development of effective investment models and applying 
innovation and digital technology to ensure sport and physical activity are more accessible. 
 
There are many examples nationally of co-locating health and leisure and the benefits it 
brings. Here are a few case studies: 
  

Page 220



SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

 

June 2021 2-142-2021 Final report: Knight Kavanagh & Page 6 

 

1.Co-location of NHS MSK physiotherapy services in local authority leisure centres 
- Cumbria 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

This example featured in the 
‘Health on the High Street report 
 
https://www.nhsconfed.org/public
ations/health-high-street 
 
Potential benefits highlighted in 
the report include: 
 
 Healthy travel – high streets 

are more accessible. 
 Reducing health inequalities 

by improving access to 
services locally and at low 
travel cost. – reduced travel 
times. 

 Unused high street space 
could be used to provide 
leisure and cultural facilities 
and public green space, 
potentially including social 
prescribing. 

 Involving people in 
decisions about the future 
shape of their town centre 

 Introducing health on to 
high streets filled with 
unhealthy options. – locating 
next to a healthy place e.g 
health food shop/leisure centre 
is likely to help people to 
consider healthy choices. 

Page 221

https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/health-high-street
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/health-high-street


SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

 

June 2021 2-142-2021 Final report: Knight Kavanagh & Page 7 

 

2. Ordford Jubilee Park, Warrington 
 
Orford Jubilee Park is a flagship community, leisure, health and education centre for Warrington. 
Opened in 2012, it is the first example of a sustainable wellness hub. The project was developed 
through a unique partnership involving over twenty national, regional and local funding partners from 
the public, private and voluntary sectors and the 25-year lifecycle costs will be met from the 
Community Investment Fund. 
 
Situated on a former landfill site next to a Victorian park, this wellness hub co-locates a variety of 
high-quality indoor and outdoor leisure facilities with a range of additional community services. 
Outdoor leisure facilities include a full-size floodlit 3G pitch, an enclosed five-a-side centre, flat green 
bowls, a BMX and skateboard park and a campus-wide trim trail. 
Indoor leisure facilities include an 8 lane 25 m competition pool, a 15 x 9 m teaching pool with 
movable floor, two dance studios, a 4 court sports hall, an activity hall and a 90 station health and 
fitness gym. 
 
The community facilities comprise an education unit, a library, three GP surgeries, a Primary Care 
Trust lifestyles team and a central café area with views on to the rear sports fields.  The centre 
promotes inclusive and social regeneration on a single site in line with Warrington’s regeneration 
strategy. 
 
The project is delivering well against key performance targets. Visitor numbers for the wellness hub 
are three times higher than the leisure centre it has replaced. Compared to the previous year, there 
has been a sevenfold increase in the numbers joining the library. 

 

  

Page 222



SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

 

June 2021 2-142-2021 Final report: Knight Kavanagh & Page 8 

 

3. The Graves Health & Sports Centre, Sheffield 
 

The Graves Health and Sports Centre recently underwent a £16m transformation to become the 
headquarters of the National Centre for Sport and Exercise Medicine (NCSEM) combining fitness, 
swimming and sports facilities with on-site clinical facilities staffed by clinicians, allied health 
professionals and researchers. .  
 

The project has a strong neighbourhood focus, and is strategically located to ensure that it is 
accessible for all of Sheffield’s residents and families. It supports communities which have higher 
than average health inequalities in Sheffield– the life expectancy gap can be as high as 25 years. 
It also addresses the requirements of those people in Sheffield who are living with poor health and 
long-term conditions, including weight management and falls prevention.  
 
The Graves Health and Sports Centre has a large swimming and training pool, a 100+ station gym, 
strength gym, spin studio, indoor and outdoor tennis courts, and a gymnastics and trampolining 
hall. It is also the headquarters of the National Centre for Exercise Sports Medicine, and has 19 
consultation rooms, podiatry and biomechanics facilities. All areas of the centre are fully inclusive 
to disabled people. 
 
This wellness hub has had a significant impact on public health, with an 82 per cent increase in 
visitors to the site. This is partly driven by a significant jump in the number of people being 
prescribed tailored exercise programmes under the Fit4Health Exercise Referral Scheme. Over 
700 people attend exercise classes each month to manage the symptoms of conditions such as 
cancer, Parkinson's and heart disease. This wellness hub is also a dementia friendly centre. 
 
 

 
 
Conclusion 
 
In KKP’s opinion, the proposal provides benefits for all parties involved. It is a tried and 
tested approach that is favoured by WHO, Sport England and Government; all of which are 
promoting the co-location of health and wellbeing services and the benefits it brings in 
tacking health inequalities and improving the health of residents. It also provides revenue 
for areas of the leisure centre that are not currently income generating and provides 
opportunity for new income streams by introducing users to the facility who would otherwise 
not access a leisure centre. GLL therefore, has the opportunity to integrate these patients 
into its wider offer and increase income generation, which was a key expectation of the 
Council as part of the Covid-19 pandemic recovery.  

Page 223



SOUTH LAKELAND COUNCIL 
KENDAL LEISURE CENTRE – NHS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

 

June 2021 2-142-2021 Final report: Knight Kavanagh & Page 9 

 

 
This initiative meets the Council Plan objective on rising to the social challenge of ensuring 
that growth benefits everyone whilst tackling health and other equalities.  
 
GLL has no expectation that this arrangement will require the Council to extend its lease of 
the facilities and contract. There is, however, a commitment by the Council to retain the 
facility for 2 years after the GLL contract ends. If the Council enters into a new longer 
contract with GLL (or A N Other operator) following a re-tendering process the lease will 
novate to the new operator. 
 
Consideration needs to be given to what happens when the NHS lease expires in 5 years’ 
time. Ideally the UHMBT wants a longer-term contract, and all parties should consider how 
this might be delivered in the longer term once the benefits and outcome delivery from the 
project have been measured. 
 
The proposed approach of combining health with leisure is becoming more standard across 
the country and is one which is expected when new developments take place. As such, 
leisure operators are used to dealing with this approach and it is not seen as a negative 
issue when tendering for contract opportunities. In fact, operators are likely to challenge 
why such initiatives have not taken place. 
 
If the Council makes the decision to approve the lease in line with the proposal outlined in 
this paper, it will be important to measure the benefits and outcomes of the development to 
inform longer term strategy for Kendal LC as well as other centres in the Council’s portfolio. 
 
 

Page 224



South Lakeland District Council 

Cabinet 

Wednesday, 20 October 2021 

Microsoft Enterprise License Agreement 

 

Portfolio:   Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder 

Report from:  Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Report Author: Charles Jeffries  - Shared IT Infrastructure Lead  

Ben Wright   - Head of Shared ICT 

Wards:  N/A 

Forward Plan: Key Decision included in the Forward Plan as published on 21st 
September 2021 

Links to Council Plan Priorities:  

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

The approval of the award of contract for Microsoft Enterprise License Agreement.  The 
licenses included in this agreement cover all Microsoft software, running on all of SLDC’s ICT 
equipment, so are critical in supporting the operation of the council. 

 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet:- 

  

(1) Approves the award of contract to the preferred bidder identified in the 
Part II Appendix 1 to the report for a contract term of three years; and 

 
(2)  That the Director of Strategy Resources and Innovation be delegated 

authority in consultation with the Specialist Procurement officer and Lead 
Specialist Legal Governance and Democracy to enter into the appropriate 
contract on behalf of the Council with the successful bidder. 

 
3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 A tender process has been undertaken, for our Microsoft Enterprise licenses, using 
further competition under Crown Commercial Services Framework Agreement 
RM6068 Lot 3.   

3.2 Five tender responses were received as further detailed in the Part II Appendix to this 
report.   

3.3 The responses were evaluated using a comprehensive process. This involved 
evaluation against cost and Quality, covering details of how the suppliers would work 
with us to maximise the benefits through the term of the contract. The weighting used 
was 60% cost and 40% quality. 

Page 225

Item No.15



3.4 The preferred supplier for the new contract is identified in the Part II Appendix to the 
report. The contract needs to be in place by 15th November 2021 to ensure continuity 
of the proper provision of ICT services for the Council. 

3.5 A breakdown of the evaluation scores and pricing is included in the Part II Appendix 

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Part II report – tender evaluation 

 
Please note that in accordance with Section 100B(2) of the Local Government Act 1972, copies 
of the appendix to this report are excluded from inspection by members of the public as they 
contain information as described in Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, as follows:- 
- Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information). (Paragraph 3) 

5.0 Consultation 

Internal to SLDC officers 

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 Do nothing.  This would result in our current Microsoft software licenses expiring and 
as a result we would not be able to run any Microsoft software on our ICT equipment.  
Therefore all our current business application software would be unusable. 

6.2 Tender outside of Crown Commercial Services.  This is no longer viable due to time 
and resource constraints. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 The total (estimated) value of the contract can be found in the Part II Appendix to this 
report. It should be noted that the contract value across the three year term is 
estimated based on our current licence usage.  The Microsoft licenses we use as an 
organisation flex as our requirements change, this can cause the costs to increase or 
decrease during the life of the contract.  There is an annual process to review the 
licenses and set the costs for the next year of the contract based on the usage at that 
time.   

7.2 The procurement is included on the procurement schedule under the title Corporate 
Microsoft Licenses 

7.3 It is recommended that the contract be awarded for a term of 3 years 

7.4 No additional resources are required to administer the contract. 

 

Human Resources 

Not applicable 

 

Legal 

7.3  The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules provide that the Council may ‘call off’ from 
a suitable framework agreement.  Legal Governance and Democracy Specialists will review 
and advise on the ‘call off’ contract documentation for the purchase. 
 

Page 226



 
Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

7.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No   

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: Not 
applicable 

7.6 Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts 

 Positive Neutral Negative Unknown 

Environment 
and Health 

Greenhouse gases 
emissions 

   X 

 Air Quality    X 

 Biodiversity    X 

 Impacts of Climate 
Change 

   X 

 Reduced or zero 
requirement for energy, 
building space, materials 
or travel 

   X 

 Active Travel    X 

Economy and 
Culture 

Inclusive and sustainable 
development 

   X 

 Jobs and levels of pay    X 

 Healthier high streets    X 

 Culture, creativity and 
heritage 

   X 

Housing and 
Communities 

Standard of housing    X 

 Access to housing    X 

 Crime    X 

 Social connectedness    X 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No   

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: Not 
applicable 

7.9 Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts 

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X” 

Age P  0 X N  

Disability P  0 X N  

Gender reassignment (transgender) P  0 X N  

Marriage & civil partnership P  0 X N  

Pregnancy & maternity P  0 X N  

Page 227



Race/ethnicity P  0 X N  

Religion or belief P  0 X N  

Sex/gender P  0 X N  

Sexual orientation P  0 X N  

Armed forces families P  0 X N  

Rurality P  0 X N  

Socio-economic disadvantage P  0 X N  

 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

Contract not in place by 15th 

November. 

SLDC will not be licensed 

to use any Microsoft 

software and all ICT 

Equipment and software 

will become unusable  

 Approval and timely 

completion of contract 

documentation 

 

Contact Officers 

Ben Wright, Head of Shared ICT, 01768 212206, b.wright@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Charles Jeffries, Shared IT Infrastructure Lead, 01539 793122, 
c.jeffries@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Background Documents Available 

 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Section 151 Officer 
 

5/10/2021 

Monitoring Officer 
 

7/10/2021 

CMT 
 

23/09/2021 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist N/A 

Human Resources Lead Specialist N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder 7/10/2021 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 228

mailto:b.wright@southlakeland.gov.uk
mailto:c.jeffries@southlakeland.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 229

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Cabinet Executive Decisions
	3 Delegated Executive Decisions
	09-09-21 Delegated Executive Decisions

	7 Forward Plan
	10 Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 2 2021/22
	Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 2 2021/22  - Appendix 1 RISKS
	Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 2 2021/22  - Appendix 2

	11 Update to the Council's Constitution - Contract Procedure Rules and Procurement Schedule
	Update to the Council's Constitution - Appendix 1
	Update to the Council's Constitution - Appendix 2

	12 Customer Connect Five Years on, the outcomes, benefits and future
	Customer Connect Five Years on, the outcomes, benefits and future  - Appendix 1
	Customer Connect Five Years on EIA, Appendix 2

	13 A Fairer South Lakeland
	A Fairer South Lakeland  - Appendix 1
	A Fairer South Lakeland  - Appendix 2

	14 Kendal Leisure Centre Sub lease to the NHS
	Kendal Leisure Centre Sub lease to the NHS  - Appendix 1
	Kendal Leisure Centre Sub lease to the NHS  - Appendix 2
	Kendal Leisure Centre Sub lease to the NHS  - Appendix 3

	15 Microsoft Enterprise License Agreement
	Microsoft Enterprise License Agreement  - Appendix 1




